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PERFORMANCE REPORT 
Performance Overview 

The purpose of this overview is to provide sufficient information to understand the organisation, its 
purpose, the key risks to the achievement of its objectives and how it has performed during the year. 
There is further detail in the Performance Analysis, Accountability Report and Accounts sections. 

Chief Officer and Chairôs statement 

This was an incredibly significant year for so many reasons. It will be remembered for many years to 
come as a time of national crisis, when the Covid-19 (Coronavirus) pandemic swept around the 
world.  

Our system and our staff responded magnificently. CCG staff were redeployed to support frontline 
clinical services and our normal commissioning work was paused as we went into incident mode. It 
was truly awful to see so many excess deaths due to Covid-19 and so many people suffer with 
symptoms of varying degrees.   

We would like to express our admiration and deepest thanks to all NHS and care staff, in GP 
practices, hospitals, mental health and community teams, in our own CCG and in local pharmacies 
and care homes. Despite the most testing difficulties for us as professionals and members of the 
public, they showed outstanding dedication. Their hard work and sometimes bravery, by donning 
masks and gowns to care for those who were sick, will stand testament for many years to come. The 
nation was proud of the NHS and our care sector this year more than most others. 

We believe that our CCG has much to be proud of as well, as this report sets out, including more 
resources for mental health, working to expand and improve our hospital buildings, rolling out a new 
and improved way of delivering community services and working closely with our member GP 
practices to deliver more appointments and online consultations.  

This was also a landmark year; our CCG is merging with the four other NHS Clinical Commissioning 
Groups in Norfolk and Waveney to create one single strategic commissioner. The rationale for the 
merger remains as strong today as it was a year ago, when discussions were well underway within 
the five Governing Bodies. As one united CCG with one team pulling in the same direction we have 
the strength to address some of the biggest challenges in our local ósystemô, for example supporting 
our Trusts to improve quality of patient care and service performance. 

However we are mindful and proud of the six yearsô track record of our CCG. Since 2013 we have 
nurtured strong relationships with our member practices and partners that we value and we have 
commissioned services specifically for our area in direct response to patient need. This strong 
locality focus will be safeguarded in our new single CCG structure. We have a dedicated Locality 
Director with teams of people whose focus will remain on their local area. We also have strategic 
commissioning and quality teams whose task will be to co-ordinate work across the wider system. 

The launch of a new CCG for Norfolk and Waveney in April 2020, then, is an opportunity for us to 
build on the successes of the past six years and maintain our strong connections in North Norfolk. 

 

 

 

 
Dr Anoop Dhesi        Melanie Craig 
        Chair          Chief Officer 
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Purpose and activities of the organisation 

NHS North Norfolk Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) was responsible for planning safe, high 
quality health services and agreeing contracts with hospitals, community services, the mental health 
trust, GP practices and other organisations to provide care within budget. The CCG recognised that 
as a large rural area there was the need to provide services as close to home as possible. 

The CCG was given an annual allocation by NHS England, which it used to pay for local health 
services. The total amount allocated to the CCG in 2019/20 to pay for health services was £290.5 
million.   

The number of patients registered with a general practice in the North Norfolk CCG area was about 
174,474 people.  

The CCG was rated as "Good" by NHS England in the last available rating (2018/19) at the time of 
submitting this Annual Report. 

Structure of the CCG 

The CCG was made up of 19 Member Practices; each was entitled to be represented at the Council 
of Members (CoM), which holds the CCG to account for its business, strategy and policies and was 
responsible for the CCGôs Constitution.   

The Council of Members delegated oversight of the CCG to the Governing Body, which was 
comprised of elected local doctors, nurses and practice managers from member practices plus lay 
members and senior CCG management staff.   

Operationally, the CCG was led by the Accountable Officer (AO) and a team of directors who with 
other senior colleagues met weekly as an Executive Management Team.  

The CCGôs Local Delivery Group (LDG) brought together representatives from the CCG, GP 
practices and Primary Care Networks, voluntary sector, District Councils, mental health, community 
and acute providers, to lead a co-ordinated approach to commissioning and provide locally-based 
services.   

The CCG was fully authorised to merge with the other four CCGs in Norfolk and Waveney on 
10 March 2020.  This came in to effect on 1 April 2020. 

The Norfolk and Waveney CCGs have been working together since their inception in 2013 in 
commissioning services for the population of Norfolk and Waveney. In June 2018 the CCGs created 
a shared Joint Strategic Commissioning Committee (JSCC), a formal committee of each of the five 
CCGs with delegated functions including strategic decision making and decisions across the system 
on clinical policies. This was chaired by Dr Anoop Dhesi, the Chair of North Norfolk CCG.   

During 2019, the five CCGs in Norfolk and Waveney created a single team of staff: 

Phase 1 - Melanie Craig was appointed joint Accountable Officer (AO) and John Ingham was 
appointed joint Chief Finance Officer (CFO) from 29 April 2019.  

Phase 2 - the process to create a single Executive Management Team (EMT) and their direct 
reports commenced on 29 April 2019. Following an internal consultation, interview and external 
recruitment process for some posts, the EMT structure was confirmed: 
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Phase 3 - a staff consultation commenced on 9 September 2019 to create a new staff structure, to 
work across all five CCGs, which concluded on 12 November 2019. Internal recruitment where 
possible followed by external recruitment, for a small number of posts, where necessary was 
undertaken during December 2019 - February 2020. 

In August 2019 the Governing Bodies decided to ask partners and the public whether the five 
Norfolk and Waveney CCGs should merge as at 1 April 2020. The proposal was set out in an 
engagement document which was shared widely via the CCG websites, by direct mail out and 
publicised in the media and on social media.  The engagement process ran from 6 August 2019 to 6 
September 2019. 

Feedback was received by letter, and through an online survey (also made available in hard 
copy). The online survey was completed by 245 people from across Norfolk and 
Waveney. Feedback was also received from 18 stakeholders, including Norfolk County Council, 
Suffolk County Council, NHS Trusts, District Councils, MPs and Healthwatch.  Significant support 
was voiced for the proposal and meetings were held with member practices in each of the five CCG 
areas to discuss the proposals and respond to issues raised.  

Details of the engagement exercise can be found at www.norfolkandwaveneyccg.nhs.uk 

Each individual practice was asked to vote in a process overseen by the Local Medical Committee. 
Each individual CCG had to return a vote in accordance with its constitution in order for it to pass. 
The result of the vote in each CCG is as follows: 

CCG Number 
of 
practices 
in CCG 

Total 
number 
practices 
that cast 
a vote 

Total 
voting  
Yes 

Total 
voting 
 No 

Total  
Abstaining 

NHS Great Yarmouth and Waveney CCG 19 13 13 0 0 

NHS North Norfolk CCG 19 14 13 1 0 

NHS Norwich CCG 22 21 15 5 1 

NHS South Norfolk CCG  24 18 18 0 0 

NHS West Norfolk CCG 21 13 13 0 0 

Total across Norfolk and Waveney 105 79 72 6 1 

 
75% of member practices in the five CCGs voted, with 91% of those doing so supporting the merger. 

The rationale was set out as follows: 

http://www.norfolkandwaveneyccg.nhs.uk/
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For people: Working for the benefit of the whole system will place the patient at the centre of all 
decision making and previous blockages including workforce and organisational bias will be 
minimised: 

¶ We have worked hard to eliminate any ñpostcode lotteriesò across Norfolk & Waveney and a 
single CCG will ensure that consistency remains in the future; 

¶ Reducing unwarranted variation in pathways; 

¶ Reducing duplication, cost and management / staff time in running five Governing Bodies 
and five sets of committees will allow us to free up more resources to put into front line care; 

¶ Setting an example to our system; 

¶ Buying ourselves 12 months of evolution and óbedding inô before we formally evolve into an 
Integrated Care System; 

¶ Be able to have more management capacity to focus on our localities and LDGs over the 
course of 2020/21 which will help patients by integrating care at a local level. 

For better quality and performance: There are significant quality and performance issues 

which are better addressed by one unified strategic commissioning approach, for example: 

¶ Three major providers in special measures; 

¶ Some key standards not being met, i.e. A&E, ambulance, 18 weeks, cancer, psychological 
therapies, out of area placements; 

¶ Workforce - vacancies across all major service lines and providers, and a high use of agency 
and temporary staff; 

¶ Rising demand in some areas. 

For a stronger financial position: Key financial benefits of merging the 5 CCGs include: 

¶ In treating the CCGs as a single entity, this removes the need to repay historic debts from 
individual organisations;   

¶ Enabling the CCGs to meet the requirement to reduce running costs by having a single 
management team and reducing duplication, cost and time in running five Governing Bodies 
and five sets of committees. We spent £1.4m on practice representatives and lay members 
on Governing Bodies - meaning more NHS funds can be channelled into patient care; 

¶ Greater ability to roll out successful Quality, Innovation, Productivity and Prevention (ñQIPPò) 
and pathway improvements developed in one CCG area to all five. 

Public and staff feedback highlighted the importance of maintaining locality identities while enjoying 
the benefits of joint working and sharing best practice.    

The Norfolk and Waveney Health and Care Partnership 

The CCG was an active partner in the Norfolk and Waveney Health and Care Partnership, one of 44 
Sustainability and Transformation Partnerships (STP) in England.  

Our staff now spend much more time with colleagues from other NHS organisations, local councils 
and the voluntary sector, as we work together to tackle those big issues none of us can solve on our 
own. We have made great progress towards creating a health and care system based on 
collaboration, rather than competition. We now refer to ourselves as the Norfolk and Waveney 
Health and Care Partnership, rather than the STP, as we feel this is clearer for the public and better 
encapsulates our work.  

In 2019/20 our partnership developed a five year plan for health and care, which sets-out our local 
priorities, as well as how we will deliver the commitments in the national NHS Long Term Plan. Our 
plan was developed following significant engagement, including two surveys and a series of 
workshops run by Healthwatch, a crowdsourcing website, meetings with local groups and 
engagement with our workforce.  

Our goals  

We have set out our goals in our five year plan. The draft is available at 
https://www.norfolk.gov.uk/what-we-do-and-how-we-work/policy-performance-and-

https://www.norfolk.gov.uk/what-we-do-and-how-we-work/policy-performance-and-partnerships/partnerships/health-partnerships/health-and-wellbeing-board/stp-five-year-plan
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partnerships/partnerships/health-partnerships/health-and-wellbeing-board/stp-five-year-plan. Over 
and above everything else we want to achieve as a partnership, we have set ourselves three goals:  

1. To make sure that people can live as healthy a life as possible - This means preventing 
avoidable illness and tackling the root causes of poor health. We know the health and 
wellbeing of people living in some parts of Norfolk and Waveney is significantly poorer ï how 
healthy you are should not depend on where you live. This is something we must change.  

2. To make sure that you only have to tell your story once - Too often people have to 
explain to different health and care professionals what has happened in their lives, why they 
need help, the health conditions they have and which medication they are on. Services have 
to work better together. 

3. To make Norfolk and Waveney the best place to work in health and care - Having the 
best staff, and supporting them to work well together, will improve the working lives of our 
staff, and mean people get high quality, personalised and compassionate care. 
 

The five big changes we are making  

1. We will help people to make healthier choices to prevent them from getting ill and we will 
treat and manage illnesses early on.  

2. Our GPs, nurses, social workers, mental health workers and other professionals will work 
together in teams, in the community, to provide people with more coordinated care.   

3. Our hospitals will work more closely together so people get treated quicker in an emergency 
and donôt have to wait as long for surgery and other planned care.  

4. We will work together to recruit more staff and weôll invest more in the wellbeing and 
development of our workforce.  

5. New technology will modernise our health and care services, making it quicker and easier for 
people to get the care they need. 

Transformational work  

Although our partnership is not a formal entity, its impact is transformational. One of the greatest 
benefits, unseen by the public but felt across the NHS, social care and public health, is a 
collaboration and joint ownership of issues as never before. This is leading to transformational 
projects which we are delivering together in partnership, many of which are described elsewhere in 
this report.  

The system-wide work of our Norfolk & Waveney partnership in 2019/20 included:  

¶ Setting-up 17 Primary Care Networks, or PCNs - These are teams made-up of different 
health and care professionals to provide people with more coordinated care. They will 
include GPs, social workers, pharmacists, district nurses, mental health workers, 
physiotherapists and colleagues from the voluntary sector. £25m investment was awarded by 
NHS England and Improvement (NHSE/I) to expand or develop GP practices in Norfolk and 
Waveney, details of which were being finalised before the re-prioritisation of CCG work due 
to COVID-19 (see below). 

¶ Closer working between our three hospitals - For example there is investment of £70 
million to develop diagnostic and assessment centres at each of our hospitals as a result of a 
joint funding bid ï once built these will speed-up the diagnosis and assessment of cancer 
and other diseases; 

¶ Improving cancer care - For example by introducing a new test to help detect and diagnose 
bowel cancer earlier, so we can treat people more quickly and improve their health 
outcomes;   

¶ Enhancing support for people with diabetes - For example by rolling-out the use of new 
technology to help people with Type 2 diabetes to manage their condition;  

¶ Implementing our adult mental health strategy - For example we are developing a 
Wellbeing Hub in Norwich, which at night-time will be a safe place for people in significant 
distress, while during the day it will be a walk-in facility and community café;   

https://www.norfolk.gov.uk/what-we-do-and-how-we-work/policy-performance-and-partnerships/partnerships/health-partnerships/health-and-wellbeing-board/stp-five-year-plan
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¶ Working together to improve support for children and young peopleôs mental health 
and wellbeing - For example we are setting-up mental health support teams in schools to 
provide therapy and support to children at our primary, secondary and special schools; 

¶ Supporting our workforce - For example by creating new roles and recruiting new staff ï 
we now have over 280 nursing associates in training and by 2024/25 we aim to have 1,000 
working in Norfolk and Waveney.    

Our partnership aspires to become an Integrated Care System (ICS), in line with the NHS Long 
Term Plan, by April 2021. An ICS would build on and strengthen our partnership working, requiring 
collective responsibility for managing resources and risk, improving the health of our population and 
ensuring high quality services.  

You can read more about the work of our partnership and our five year plan here: 
www.norfolkandwaveneypartnership.org.uk  

The Joint Strategic Commissioning Committee (JSCC) was the forum through which the CCGs 
co-ordinated and agreed system-wide approaches to commissioning issues. JSCC was chaired by 
Dr Anoop Dhesi of Stalham Staithe surgery and Chair of North Norfolk CCG. The Chair, CO and 
CFO for Norwich CCG were members of JSCC.    

The CCG participated actively in the Norfolk Health and Wellbeing Board.  Please see page 36.   

 

Key issues and risks   

The CCG was pro-active in identifying and managing issues that might adversely affect its plans or 
business.  

Key risks were formally logged on the Governing Body Assurance Framework (GBAF) document, 
reviewed by the CCGôs committees and reported to Governing Body at each meeting. For each risk 
identified there were mitigating actions identified, and provided to the Governing Body with 
assurance that they were being managed.  

During the year the CCGs developed a joint strategic risk register. Key issues and risks included: 

¶ Non-delivery of Emergency Department constitutional standards; 

¶ Risk of poor service and lack of compliance with CQC standards at NSFT; 

¶ Risk of poor service and lack of compliance with CQC standards at QEH; 

¶ Lack of overall available workforce in the local Health and Care System to support system 
transformation and deliver appropriate levels of care; 

¶ Non-delivery of RTT and Cancer constitutional standards leading to a potential risk of poorer 
health outcomes for patients. 

Further information can be found in the Governance Statement. 

Coronavirus 

Coronavirus emerged as a significant, new risk to the CCGôs operations and to population health. In 
December 2019, the new strain of infection emerged in Wuhan, China and spread globally. It 
reached the UK in late January 2020. 

The CCG has a role to lead Emergency Preparedness, Resilience and Response and therefore 
instituted an Incident Control Centre at Lakeside 400 in Norwich on Wednesday 26 February to co-
ordinate our system response. A drive-through testing centre at Norfolk Community Health and 
Careôs premises in Bowthorpe Road, Norwich and community testing teams were established jointly 
by NCH&C and East Coast Community Healthcare. Testing PODs were placed close to the 
Emergency Department at the three acute hospitals, Norfolk and Norwich University Hospital 
(NNUH), James Paget University Hospital (JPUH) and the Queen Elizabeth Hospital, Kingôs Lynn 
(QEHKL). 

During March, CCG staff were instructed to work from home, and the key functions of the CCG were 

http://www.norfolkandwaveneypartnership.org.uk/
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paused whilst all resources were directed to supporting frontline clinical services and other critical 
functions.  

The CCGôs operations were directed by daily Executive Management Team meetings, led in the 
following areas: 

Cell Executive 

Lead 

Prescription Ordering Direct service Kathryn Ellis 

Pharmacy Kathryn Ellis 

ICC Co-ordinator and SCG representative Jocelyn Pike 

Digital John Ingham 

Finance John Ingham 

Discharge Planning / Community / Capacity 

Planning 

Cath Byford 

Strategic Primary Care Mark Burgis 

Risk Stratification Howard Martin 

Workforce Anna Morgan 

Recovery John Webster 

 

Most staff were redeployed, for example to work in the ICC, to work in a Primary Care Incident 
Response Unit, to provide additional capacity in the Prescription Ordering Direct team, supporting 
practices to install IT, rolling out rapidly GP Connect and Footfall and assisting acute trusts with 
discharge of patients. 

One of the key difficulties for GP practices, pharmacies and care homes was around shortages of 
Personal Protective Equipment (PPE). The CCG established a PPE workstream in April and made 
concerted efforts to source stock. Key successes of the CCG included: 

¶ Primary Care Incident Response Unit to ensure daily flow of information to GP practices, and 
questions answered in a timely fashion; 

¶ About 35,000 high-risk patients were written to in mid-April 2020, on behalf of practices, 
encouraging them to report their daily health into a web portal powered by ECLIPSE, the risk 
stratification platform developed by Prescribing Services Ltd in West Norfolk. A team of more 
than 80 CCG staff was mobilised to phone those people who did not report daily; 

¶ Primary Care Networks organised dedicated centres where people with Covid-19 symptoms 
who need an appointment with a GP or practice nurse could go, if invited for a face-to-face 
appointment; plus other designated centres where óhigh riskô patients could attend for 
appointments or GP practices ózonedô into óyellowô or ógreenô areas, mirroring the 
arrangements in acute hospitals to separate patient cohorts; 

¶ 100% of practices agreed data sharing to enable GP Connect (NHS111 access to primary 
care records and ability to book appointments); 

¶ Accelerated roll-out of Footfall websites enabling online consultations, laptops and webcams 
to enable digital triage in practices; 

¶ Testing centres to enable staff who were self-isolating to return to work more quickly; 
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¶ Identified around 150 additional community beds to assist with discharge from acute 
hospitals. 

NHS Trusts in Norfolk and Waveney responded in line with national guidance, creating additional 
acute care capacity, zoning hospitals to separate patient cohorts, introducing a 24/7 mental health 
helpline, redeploying staff to support frontline services and deploying former staff who returned to 
work. 

Performance summary 

This is a summary of the Performance Analysis, which is a more detailed look at local health service 
and CCG performance, to be found from page 12. 

Health services 

Demand for all NHS services rises year on year and recruitment/retention of clinicians remains a 
significant issue, as it is across the country. Introducing new roles such as clinical pharmacists and 
online consultation websites at GP surgeries is assisting, however we pay tribute to the dedication of 
our clinical colleagues who have worked incredibly hard throughout the year to look after patients in 
their care. 

Key milestones and achievements of the CCG and its partners include: 

¶ Primary care - supporting practices to form Primary Care Networks, introduced online 
consultations, and continuing to deliver additional evening and weekend appointments for 
patients. Investment of £25m was awarded by NHS England and Improvement (NHSE/I) to 
improve GP practice buildings. This was still being planned at the end of the year. 
 

¶ Community care - the CCGôs Network Escalation Avoidance Team built capacity over the 
year, handling about 3-4 referrals per day, preventing 1-2 admissions per day. We are using 
the NEAT model to develop a 2-hour response after being selected as one of seven new 
ñAgeing Wellò accelerator sites in England.  

The CCGs in Norfolk (excluding Great Yarmouth) reprocured their Non-Emergency Patient 
Transport Service, re-awarding the contract to ERS Medical.   

The CCG used winter resilience funding to expand and develop the Supported Care Service, 
by providing proactive support to patients before they experience a healthcare crisis. This 
approach was piloted with 5-10 patients in the Cromer practice and the additional resources 
enabled the concept to be tested across North Norfolk.  

¶ Acute care - In August the Government awarded the three hospitals in Norfolk and Waveney 
£70 million to develop diagnostic and assessment centres at each of our hospitals as a result 
of a joint funding bid. Once built these will speed-up the diagnosis and assessment of cancer 
and other diseases.  Work commenced on building a new ward block at NNUH, a £14m 
investment, to house an extension of the Acute Medical Unit (AMU) and a relocated Acute 
Stroke Unit. This will add 68 extra beds and will bring extra medical capacity and will help to 
aid patient flow from the NNUH Emergency Department (ED). NNUH opened one of the UKôs 
biggest renal dialysis units when it moved from the Jack Pryor Unit to Francis Way in 
Bowthorpe, in March. The new unit has 39 dialysis stations ï ten extra than at its former 
home on the NNUH site ï and has a dedicated home therapies unit. 

 
 

Mental Health - the CCG has continued to work with partners to deliver the Norfolk and Waveney 
adult and children/young people mental health strategies, working with services users to do so. 
National ambition and local strategic objectives have been translated into a new Adult Mental 
Health Transformation Programme, presented to the Mental Health Programme Board, 
established in November 2019. The CCGs in Norfolk and Waveney were successful in bidding for 
national funding to increase capacity in Crisis Resolution and Home Treatment (CRHT) teams, 
enabling an increase of 11 Whole Time Equivalent (WTE) staff across Norfolk and Waveney, in 
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addition to the 7.5 WTE additional staff funded by CCGs at the beginning of 2019/20.   
 
The wellbeing service (IAPT) has exceeded targets for waiting times and recovery rates.  The 
CCG did not meet the target to diagnose 66.7% of all people likely to have dementia. This is a 
challenging target as the time from assessment to diagnosis is variable depending on 
presentation.  The CCG undertook a full work programme supported by NHSE/I focusing on 
Dementia Diagnosis Rate improvement. The aim of the programme was to provide assurance that 
the system was working effectively, providing the right diagnosis at the right time and that 
recording was robust. A new programme of work is being developed to further develop dementia 
support services and diagnosis. Urgent and emergency care -  There remained a high volume of 
A&E attendances and ambulance arrivals at the Norfolk and Norwich University Hospital and, as 
a consequence, the 4-hour A&E standard has not been met.  Other than the increasing levels of 
attendance and pressure on inpatient bed capacity the main causative factors continued to centre 
around workforce limitations. This is the case across the country. A recovery plan was put in 
place with an emphasis on rolling out the GP streaming pilot to better manage demand and 
patient flow. For the same reasons, whilst most patients are seen within 18 weeks it has remained 
challenging to meet the standard (92% of patients).  
North Norfolkôs ambulance response times have again not met national standards, chiefly due to 
the rurality and dispersed geography, resulting in ambulance crews needing to drive longer 
distances over sometimes smaller roads to reach patients.    

Financial performance  

In 2019/20 the total amount of money allocated to the CCG was £290.5m (2018/19: £271.2m). Of 

this, £286.7m (2018/19: £267.4m) was for commissioning health care. The amount given to the CCG 

for its running costs was £3.9m (2018/19: £3.8m). The CCG also received £1.2m of Income from 

other sources.  

 

Acute Commissioning £138.3m 

Continuing Healthcare £13.2m 

Mental Health £27.7m 

Community Commissioning  £23.6m 

Delegated Primary Care £28.4m 

Primary Care & Prescribing £40.1m 

Other Commissioning £14.9m 

Running Costs £3.7m 

 

This is how the CCG 

spent its total budget 

during 2019/20. 98.7% 

related to ñprogrammeò 

costs ï the proportion 

of its budget devoted 

to commissioning 

healthcare for the 

patients of North 

Norfolk. Only 1.3% 

related to the costs of 

running the 

organisation. 
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The changes in annual financial allocation have been outstripped by increases in costs and demand. 
As a result, the CCG has continued to make efficiency savings. In 2019/20 the CCGôs savings target 
was £9.1m (2018/19: £9.0m), with the actual savings delivered being 81% (2018/19: 101%) of this 
target. Key areas of savings included more efficient prescribing of medicines, a review of Continuing 
Healthcare packages, enhanced care into care homes, reconfiguration and efficiency within a 
number of acute commissioning areas including focus on A&E frequent attenders, addressing 
variations in primary care referral patterns, reductions in unnecessary hospital admissions as a 
result of locally driven initiatives and reductions in the CCG running costs. 

At the end of the year, the CCG delivered an in-year surplus of £0.8m, against the target of £0.6m, 
as a result of these transformational and cost containment measures, alongside investment in a 
number of additional services ï in particular relating to mental health and primary care, together with 
support funding from the other Norfolk and Waveney CCGs of £2.7m which enabled each CCG to 
achieve their individual target and also achievement of the combined CCGs targets across the 
system. 

Performance of the CCG 

In 2019, the CCG was rated as ñGoodò by NHS England in its annual assessment.   

360 degree survey of the CCG 

NHS England also carries out an annual 360 degree stakeholder survey of CCGs each year.  

The survey results for 2019/20 are not directly comparable to the previous yearôs survey, but the 
following areas are those in which the CCG has performed well: 

¶ Working collaboratively; 

¶ Considering the whole system when making decisions; 

¶ Improving health outcomes; 

¶ Improving quality of local health services; 

¶ Delivering value for money; 

¶ Involving the right individuals/organisations in commissioning/decommissioning. 

Areas to improve: 

¶ Commissioning to improve health inequalities; 

¶ Engaging with, and demonstrating it has considered the views of people who experience 
poor health outcomes/barriers to accessing healthcare. 
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Performance analysis   

Risks and uncertainties around achievement of the CCGôs performance are managed by the CCG. 
There are numerous factors which create risk and uncertainty, such as workforce and demand. 
Risks and uncertainties to the delivery of the CCGôs performance are reported in the Governing 
Body Assurance Framework. The GBAF was a live document and was presented to the Governing 
Body regularly.  

Further information about the CCGôs risks can be found in the Governance Statement. 

The CCGôs planning for the year was guided by the NHS Long Term Plan 
https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/ and the NHS Outcomes Framework, a set of indicators developed by 
the Department of Health and Social Care to monitor the health outcomes of adults and children in 
England. 

CCGs were given annual assessments by NHS England and Improvement against the indicators in 
the CCG Improvement and Assessment Framework (CCG IAF).  
The assessment for 2018/19 was received by the CCG in July 2019, and was the last received by 
the CCG prior to completion of this Annual Report. The CCG was rated as good.  
 
Key areas of strength included: 
 
Å Strong financial management delivering a surplus and achieving good QIPP performance  
Å Achieving good patient and public engagement.  
Å Development of Primary Care Networks and GP Provider Organisations.  
Å Implementation of the Winter Room.  
 
Key Areas for improvement included 
 
Å Explore options to address the high over-the-counter prescribing rate.  
Å Achievement of Diabetes NICE recommended treatment targets and improving attendance at 

structured education.  
Å Supporting local providers to exit Special Measures.  
Å Eliminating the backlog in learning disability mortality reviews.  
Å Ensure that women booking into maternity services receive continuity of care.  
 
 
Performance of health services 

Performance of NHS services were significantly impacted by the effects of COVID-19 in February, 
March and early April, and should be expected to do so for a long time to come. Further information 
about the performance of health services is contained in the tables and narratives below. 

https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/
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Performance Indicator Target Apr-19 May-19 Jun-19 Jul-19 Aug-19 Sep-19 Oct-19 Nov-19 Dec-19 Jan-20 Feb-20 Mar-20

Wheelchairs - Adults : RTT 18 weeks 92% 93.8% 96.0% 94.2% 92.7% 90.6% 89.1% 86.0% 83.6% 82.2% 84.4% 85.9% 86.9%

Wheelchairs - Children : RTT 18 weeks 92% 87.1% 89.1% 81.8% 85.7% 82.8% 88.1% 87.4% 92.9% 84.3% 84.8% 85.0% 86.7%

Paediatric Consultants : RTT 18 weeks 92% 98.3% 99.0% 97.5% 100.0% 98.3% 98.6% 97.3% 96.1% 97.8% 98.7% 98.4% 98.9%

NNUH - 18 weeks RTT incomplete pathways 92% 82.6% 83.9% 83.5% 82.9% 81.8% 81.1% 79.9% 79.2% 78.0% 77.0% 76.6% 71.9%

NNUH - RTT incomplete pathways greater than 52 weeks 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 2 10 21 71 39 93

Diagnostics NNUH - 6 weeks diagnostic test 99% 97.5% 96.8% 98.2% 98.9% 96.9% 97.5% 97.3% 97.9% 98.3% 98.2% 99.3% 95.5%

A&E NNUH - 4 hours in A&E from arrival to transfer, admission or discharge 95% 72.7% 82.1% 80.1% 80.6% 78.1% 75.4% 74.0% 71.4% 69.6% 76.6% 77.1% 76.0%

NNUH - Ambulance handover delays of over 30 minutes 0 735 356 507 571 632 723 815 939 931 793 911 691

NNUH - Ambulance handover delays of over 1 hour 0 0 1 7 9 11 3 13 5 3 0 1 3

Clin Quality NNUH - Pressure ulcers - Grade 3 0 2 1 4 1 0 1 1 1 2 2 1 0

95% 93.2% 88.9% 93.5% 93.2% 92.2% 91.6% 91.4% 89.5% 85.3% 90.0% 90.0% 93.0%

Num 1803 1623 1584 1730 1862 1636 1599 1627 1865 1625 1465 1186

Den 1935 1826 1695 1856 2019 1786 1750 1818 2187 1806 1627 1275

95% 96.1% 95.3% 98.9% 98.4% 97.7% 98.2% 98.1% 97.7% 94.5% 97.5% 97.3% 95.0%

Num 3129 2974 2684 2780 2812 2454 2401 2667 3370 2610 2635 1733

Den 3255 3121 2715 2826 2877 2498 2447 2729 3568 2678 2707 1825

98% 85.8% 84.8% 82.1% 80.3% 86.7% 84.6% 85.0% 80.9% 84.6% 83.2% 78.4% 80.2%

Num 242 212 239 298 299 280 256 293 248 233 211 190

Den 282 250 291 371 345 331 301 362 293 280 269 237

98% 87.4% 88.5% 85.9% 90.7% 90.8% 87.6% 92.3% 86.2% 90.3% 88.7% 86.6% 87.2%

Num 791 849 799 653 728 679 625 613 738 680 638 431

Den 905 959 930 720 802 775 677 711 817 767 737 494

% of abandoned calls 5% 0.8% 1.0% 0.4% 0.8% 0.5% 0.4% 0.4% 0.8% 1.3% 0.3% 1.6% 33.8%

% of calls answered in 60 secs 95% 93.3% 92.6% 96.2% 94.0% 96.2% 96.5% 96.1% 93.8% 89.0% 93.7% 82.7% 32.7%

Performance Indicator Target Apr-19 May-19 Jun-19 Jul-19 Aug-19 Sep-19 Oct-19 Nov-19 Dec-19 Jan-20 Feb-20 Mar-20

Estimated diagnosis rate for people with dementia 66.7% 63.8% 64.0% 63.9% 64.3% 64.0% 63.4% 63.0% 62.3% 62.0% 61.7% 61.8% 61.5%

IAPT Access / Entering Treatment * Traj. 257 469 698 995 1201 1382 1626 1820 2024 2298 2531

IAPT Recovery Rate* 50% 60.8% 68.5% 66.7% 56.1% 57.6% 61.0% 64.3% 63.1% 52.2% 62.4% 61.7%

CPA service users receiving follow-up contact within seven days of discharge* 95% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 97.6% 97.4% 97.4% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 96.8% 97.1%

IAPT Waiting Times - 6 Weeks (entered treatment)* 75% 99.2% 99.1% 97.8% 97.0% 99.0% 94.9% 96.7% 96.8% 91.4% 88.0% 93.6%

IAPT Waiting Times - 18 Weeks (entered treatment)* 95% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 99.6% 100.0%

EIP - Psychosis treated within two weeks of referral* 56% 100.0% 100.0% 55.6% 80.0% 77.8% 77.8% 75.0% 50.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

% patients seen within 2 weeks of urgent GP referral 93% 93.9% 91.9% 79.5% 73.0% 73.0% 72.4% 76.9% 78.6% 82.6% 73.0% 76.6% 75.3%

% patients seen within 2 weeks of urgent GP referral (breast symptoms) 93% 94.4% 88.0% 89.3% 97.3% 97.0% 97.2% 94.3% 96.6% 93.1% 87.7% 98.0% 61.8%

% patients treated within 31 days of decision to treat 96% 99.1% 97.3% 95.8% 98.2% 97.3% 94.3% 96.0% 96.6% 95.5% 99.1% 97.5% 94.8%

% patients subsequent treatment within 31 days of decision to treat (surgery) 94% 85.7% 83.3% 94.4% 84.6% 87.9% 81.5% 85.2% 97.3% 88.5% 81.5% 65.5% 85.7%

% patients subsequent treatment within 31 days of decision to treat (drug) 98% 97.7% 100.0% 97.2% 100.0% 97.2% 90.0% 94.3% 100.0% 100.0% 94.4% 100.0% 95.6%

% patients subsequent treatment within 31 days of decision to treat (radiotherapy) 94% 100.0% 100.0% 96.9% 100.0% 96.0% 90.7% 93.8% 97.1% 100.0% 91.4% 97.4% 93.9%

% patients treated within 62 days of urgent GP referral 85% 74.6% 79.6% 75.0% 77.6% 67.9% 77.8% 62.7% 75.0% 65.5% 73.2% 61.1% 71.2%

Category 1 purple 7 minutes mean response time 7 9.6 10.5 10.1 10.0 10.8 10.1 11.4 11.2 10.4 9.4 10.6 10.1

Category 1 purple 15 minutes 90th centile response time 15 17.2 17.1 17.4 18.0 18.4 17.5 20.3 21.0 18.0 18.4 17.3 18.6

Category 2 yellow 18 minutes mean response time 18 26.4 26.3 27.4 29.5 25.3 29.4 32.6 35.0 32.4 25.5 31.5 29.1

Category 2 yellow 40 minutes 90th centile response time 40 49.4 49.5 52.5 58.2 46.3 56.6 64.2 67.2 63.6 49.2 60.0 58.1

Category 3 amber 120 minutes 90th centile response time 120 159.3 149.4 186.1 209.2 153.4 182.5 225.6 242.3 168.3 156.0 192.6 158.2

Category 4 green 180 minutes 90th centile reponse time 180 205.1 146.5 148.2 188.2 141.5 222.2 251.2 257.3 185.1 215.6 206.0 218.1

18 weeks RTT incomplete pathways 92% 82.4% 84.0% 83.4% 82.7% 81.7% 81.6% 80.7% 80.0% 78.8% 77.4% 76.4% 71.9%

RTT incomplete pathways greater than 52 weeks 0 0 0 1 0 1 1 1 3 8 20 12 22

Diagnostics 6 weeks diagnostic test 99% 97.5% 97.3% 98.0% 98.9% 98.1% 97.8% 97.8% 98.3% 98.1% 98.2% 99.5% 96.1%

* Please note this data was not available at time of reporting

111

Mental Health

Cancer 

Waiting Times

Ambulance

Referral to 

treatment

PCC consultation (urgent) seen 2 hours or less

PCC consultation (less urgent) seen 6 hours or less

Home visits consultation (urgent) seen 2 hours or less

Home visits consultations (less urgent) seen 6 hours or less

Community 

Referral to 

treatment

Referral to 

treatment

Ambulance 

Handovers

Out of Hours 

Primary Care
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Primary care 

The Primary Care teams at North Norfolk CCG and South Norfolk CCG worked closely 
together to look after practices in both CCG localities. Our GP practices serve a wide 
demography in both rural and urban environments all general practices have signed up to 
be an active member of a Primary Care Network (PCN), of which there are four in North 
Norfolk, organised as such to enable multidisciplinary team working to deliver the new 
service model for primary and community care set out in the NHS Long Term Plan.  

A Primary Care Network (PCN) is made up of groups of GP practices working together with 
a range of local providers, including across primary care, community services, social care 
and the voluntary sector, to offer more personalised, coordinated health and social care to 
their local populations. Local delivery of health and care will be through the developing 
PCNs, which were established on 1 July 2019. 

The refreshed NHS plan set out the ambition for CCGs to actively encourage every practice 
to be part of a local Primary Care Network (PCN) so that these cover the whole country. 
Primary Care Networks are based on GP registered lists, typically serving natural 
communities of around 30,000 to 50,000. They are small enough to provide the personal 
care valued by both patients and GPs, but large enough to have impact and economies of 
scale through better collaboration between practices and others in the local health and 
social care system. Each PCN has a Clinical Director to provide leadership to the PCN and 
also to work and liaise with other PCN Clinical Directors. 

In developing PCNs, we will improve the resilience of general practice and deliver the 
General Practice Forward View (GPFV) and will shift our focus to prevention and proactive 
care as an enabler to improve outcomes for our populations and ensure the resilience and 
sustainability of services for the future.  

The primary care team has been supporting its member practices to establish PCNs, four in 
each area and appoint to a clinical director for 1 day per week.   

Each PCN has undertaken to deliver:  

¶ Maturity matrix 
PCNs have self-assessed against the PCN maturity matrix and have developed 
plans to progress in maturity to meet required outcomes. 
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¶ Additional roles 
Funding has been made available through NHS England to fund additional roles 
within PCNs in order to improve outcomes for patients and support primary care 
resilience, in year 1 (19/20) the following roles were available: 

¶ Social prescribers 

¶ Clinical Pharmacists 
 

¶ Improved access and extended hours 
Practices have been providing additional appointments and availability of 
appointments outside core hours. These appointments continue to be provided by a 
range of clinicians. 
 

¶ Workforce 
In partnership with the STP workforce team and training hub we continue to strive to 
bolster GP and nurse numbers and support a wider range of other professionals to 
be part of the primary care team. GP Fellowships continue to be offered alongside 
opportunities for support to GPs wishing to return to work after maternity leave or 
sickness. We continue the work with GP Provider Organisations to deliver GP 
careers start scheme to attract new GPs to the area with the option for portfolio 
careers. We have also been actively promoting and coordinating nurse. 

¶ Estates 
The team have continued to be proactive within the STP Estates programme and 
also support practices to develop business cases for premises improvements. Each 
PCN has started to develop an estates strategy for their population which will 
continue into 20/21 with the support of the newly established strategic estates team 

¶ Winter pressures 
Additional support was put in place by practices for more vulnerable respiratory 
patients over the winter period.  

Both localities have admission avoidance schemes to support patients in the 
community and provide timely interventions to avoid admissions to hospital.  

¶ Quality improvement 
Practice visits have continued to support practices in reducing unwarranted clinical 
variation. The quality team have also supported primary care with issues of concern. 

Local delivery Groups have continued to evolve in both localities and have an 
emerging programme of work at óplaceô level. 

Planned care 

As the data table, at the beginning of this section of the annual report demonstrates, 
hospital services remained under pressure through the year, with the number of people on 
18-week referral to treatment lists rising  

In response, this year has seen the start of significant transformational changes in the way 
in which Norfolk and Waveney manages patients who potentially might need hospital 
appointments or scheduled surgery. This follows a capacity review carried out for the 
Norfolk and Waveney Health and Care Partnership in 2018. 

Making use of the fact that referrals recently became completely paperless, all three 
hospitals and their local GPs are now piloting schemes where patient information is 
discussed with hospital consultants who are sometimes then able to help GPs to manage 
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the patients without the need or wait for a hospital appointment. Examples include 
dermatology at the Norfolk and Norwich, gastroenterology and haematology at the James 
Paget University Hospital. In other cases using this system, patients are now being booked 
by consultants into the most relevant tests (such as endoscopies) directly, rather than 
attending clinic and going for their investigation later.  

Our three hospitals in Norfolk and Waveney have continued to work together as closely as 
possible. As a result the Ear, Nose and Throat service is now a joint service between 
NNUH and JPUH, Urology is now a joint service between NNUH, JPUH and QEHKL at the 
time of writing and NNUH and JPUH were working on creating a joint staff team for 
Haematology and Oncology by May 2020. Patients still choose which hospital they wish to 
be treated at, but having a single pool of clinicians enables them to provide local services 
with greater peer support, broader expertise and closer collaboration. 

There have also been significant changes to the way in which community services support 
patients with the potential need for hospital appointments or surgery. There have been 
significant changes to the way in which patients with muscular, bone, joint or tendon 
problems have been treated, with physiotherapists in extended roles based in primary care 
being boosted or introduced across the area. Waiting times across many specialties still 
remain a significant challenge however, so further schemes have been developed for 
implementation in 2020 which will help patients be seen faster. 

Stroke services 

Norfolk and Waveney CCGs have come together with the Stroke Association, the three 
hospitals, two community service providers, East Coast Community Healthcare and Norfolk 
Community Health and Care, East of England Ambulance Service, and other partners to 
form a Norfolk and Waveney Stroke Network which now meets monthly. Local 
organisations have therefore collaborated, exchanged ideas and implemented projects in a 
range of areas such as improving care processes, digital records, use of specialist nurses 
and physician associates, changing care for patients with mini-strokes, and improving the 
timeliness of clot-busting drugs for patients. 

This year, the Norfolk and Norwich University Hospital has moved forward with plans to 
establish a thrombectomy centre. This means that the option of removing clots directly from 
blood vessels, via a catheter, might be available locally to Norfolk and Waveney patients in 
the future. Potentially over a hundred patients a year would have the sort of stroke where 
this treatment will significantly boost their chances of surviving and reducing disability.  

Cancer  

Our priorities for cancer care in Norfolk and Waveney are in line with national NHS cancer 
objectives. We aim to prevent as many people as possible from developing cancer, but for 
those that do, to deliver the improvements outlined in the NHS Long Term Plan around 
increasing cancer survival and increasing the number of cancers diagnosed at an earlier 
stage. We also aim to improve supportive care for people with cancer and to ensure it is 
more personalised.  

Aspects of our work this year included: 

¶ Continued work with local hospitals to improve the diagnostic pathways for lung, 
prostate, colorectal and upper GI cancer pathways; 

¶ Nurse led personalised follow up for people affected by breast cancer; 

¶ Engagement work with local communities including the Gypsy, Roma Traveller 
Community to understand how we can better meet their screening needs; 
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¶ Development of cancer data packs and visits for GP practices (in partnership with 
Macmillan and Cancer Research UK) to help them to improve earlier diagnosis and 
cancer screening uptake; 

¶ Delivery of training for nurses working in Primary Care to provide improved 
supportive care for cancer patients at the end of their treatment in partnership with 
the local regional cancer network; 

¶ Digitisation of histopathology services (which analyse cancer specimens) at the 
NNUH. 

During this year, the Norfolk and Waveney Health and Care Partnership secured national 
funding to help transform cancer services including £1,673,210 revenue funds in 2019/20. 
The funding has been used to employ additional staff, additional education and training for 
clinicians and nurses.   

Cardiovascular disease  

The prevention and early treatment of cardiovascular diseases is one of the key aims of the 
NHS Long term plan. We established a CVD Programme Board to oversee a suite of 
projects that are aimed at improving cardiovascular outcomes for our population. The board 
meets monthly and is supported by clinicians from acute hospitals, and primary care. This 
has representation from our Norfolk and Waveney system partners.   

Our work is in line with the national priorities we must deliver:  

¶ Prevention;    

¶ Detect 85% of expected number of people with Atrial Fibrillation (AF);  

¶ Treat 90% of patients with AF who are already known to have high risk of stroke; 

¶ Detect 80% of the expected number of people with high blood pressure;  

¶ Treat 80% of the total number of people already diagnosed with high blood 
pressure; 

¶ Deliver NHS long term ambitions for cholesterol, in terms of risk assessment and 
treatment.  

In January 2020 we launched a Get Checked campaign across Norfolk and Waveney. This 
encourages everyone to have their blood pressure checked. Nearly 130,000 people in 
Norfolk and Waveney are expected to have high blood pressure that has not been 
diagnosed.  

We are working with selected community pharmacies to diagnose more people who have 
high blood pressure and follow this up with appropriate treatment from local GPs. This 
initiative is a great example of partnership working and has been developed by the NHS in 
Norfolk and Waveney, community pharmacies and Public Health. 

We have improved the management of patients with a higher risk of CVD not currently on a 
register ï an incentive scheme for general practices for identifying high risk patients and 
following up on patients not optimised has been implemented. The selection criterion is 
based on the undiagnosed risk factors for CVD ï BMI, age, alcohol consumption. This 
initiative is intended to diagnose additional people with high blood pressure and improve 
treatment post diagnosis.   

We have increased the identification and management of patients with AF, securing 169 
handheld mobile ECG devices for detecting AF as part of the national Academic Health 
Science Network (AHSN) roll-out. These have been distributed to GP practices, community 
services and hospitals across Norfolk and Waveney. This programme will contribute to the 
national AHSN evaluation.   
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The CVD programme was highly commended at the NHS Clinical Commissioners 
Healthcare Transformation Awards for Improving Outcomes and Reducing Variation. 

Diabetes 

Improving care for people with diabetes has been a major focus this year across our five 
CCG areas and the STP. The STP has a Norfolk and Waveney Diabetes Strategy (2018- 
2023) which was devised with input from people living with diabetes, voluntary sector 
organisations and a wide range of health service organisations and professionals. Over 
2019/2020 significant progress has been made across a number of pathways and the 
National Diabetes Audit data reports improved diabetes metrics.  

Key achievements include:  

¶ NHS Diabetes Prevention Programme (NDPP) - Work to promote NHS National 
Diabetes Prevention Programme (NDPP) and drive referrals has been ongoing, with 
a focus on engaging primary care practices. A revised primary care incentive 
scheme for the NDPP was agreed by the Diabetes Programme Board and will be 
rolled out in 2020. A directory of local services has been put together to support 
people with pre-diabetes access relevant support; 

¶ From April 2019, Freestyle Libre® technology was commissioned across Norfolk 
and Waveney in line with NHSE guidance. For people who meet the clinical criteria, 
the technology will allow automatic monitoring of glucose levels without the need for 
painful finger prick testing; 

¶ MapMyDiabetes was commissioned in August 2019 to provide access to digital 
structured education for all adults diagnosed with Type 2 diabetes with an aim for 
5000 licences to be activated within year 1; 

¶ We have worked to support implementation of IAPT (Improving Access to 
Psychological Therapies) for people with diabetes. We have also engaged with 
Clinical Psychiatry and the NSFT Physical Health Nursing team to better support 
people with severe mental illness at risk of or living with diabetes; 

¶ We have developed relationships with the LD clinical teams, improving record 
sharing and ensured access to the NHS DPP and structured education 
programmes, where clinically appropriate; 

¶ We have established pilot buddy/ ambassador schemes with Norfolk Football 
Association and the Rugby Football Union to support people who have not 
participated in physical activity to engage with sport; 

¶ There has been a 71% uptake amongst central Norfolk GP Practices to identify and 
train diabetes clinical champions; 

¶ In comparison to 18/19, there was 160% more capacity in structured education 
courses for patients with Type 1 diabetes; 

¶ A new type 2 Diabetes Management Structured Education programme is running in 
Central Norfolk CCGs. At present the programme sees 15 to 20 patients per week; 

¶ A Norfolk Practice Nurse Diabetes group has been established with more than 100 
practice nurses able to share learning via face to face meetings and virtual diabetes 
discussions; 

¶ A range of workforce education initiatives have been provided to ensure staff feel 
confident managing people at risk of or with a diagnosis of diabetes. Health 
Education England funded places on the University of Essex Advanced 
Management of Diabetes Programme;  

¶ The Norfolk Diabetes Trust (NDT) has funded fifty places on the Warwick University 
Post Graduate Certificate in Diabetes which will support our Primary Care Networks 
to ensure they have local diabetes expertise;  
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¶ Health Education England funded 250 Cambridge Diabetes Education Programme 
(CDEP) digital licences to allow our workforce to access high quality training which 
can be completed around existing workloads;  

¶ The NDT funded NCH&C to deliver diabetic foot screening training for primary care 
staff;  

¶ Two STP-wide primary care engagement and education events were held to ensure 
our local clinicians are involved in the wider diabetes transformation agenda;  

¶ The Norfolk & Waveney Diabetic Footcare Partnership meets regularly to discuss, 
organise and deliver footcare projects across the STP.   

Respiratory  

The aim of the STP for Norfolk and Waveney Respiratory Working Group is to implement 
and refine robust pathways for Asthma and COPD across Norfolk and Waveney, with 
supporting policies and operating procedures. There are two intended outcomes: 

¶ Reduction in non-elective admissions where Asthma or COPD is the primary 
diagnosis 

¶ More people with Asthma and COPD feel supported to manage their condition 

The Respiratory Working Group continues to meet every other month, acting as the 
programmeôs steering group. It is comprised of respiratory clinicians from across the acute 
trusts, community health care providers and primary care, public health, pharmacy, Active 
Norfolk and others. The following has been achieved in 2019/20: 

Discharge Bundles - The British Thoracic Society discharge bundles will now be used at all 
3 acute hospitals in Norfolk and Waveney. This bundle will support colleagues at our acute 
hospitals to improve discharge from hospital for our patients and reduce re-admissions.  

The Eastern Academic Health Science Network (EAHSN) are supporting acute hospitals to 
monitor the use and impact of the discharge bundles. The aim of this project is to reduce 
health inequalities and integrate services at the point of discharge. 

MYCOPD - MyCOPD app is a self-management tool which supports patients to monitor 
their illness, remain independent and prevent illness. Norfolk and Waveney was successful 
in a bid to distribute licenses to patients. The app is available to patients who are currently 
engaged in a pulmonary rehabilitation programme in Norfolk and Waveney.   

Pulmonary Rehabilitation ï We have been working with our Pulmonary Rehabilitation 
providers across Norfolk and Waveney. Rehabilitation is vital in supporting patients to 
manage their COPD.   

Training ï The STP in Norfolk and Waveney successfully secured funding for 100 clinicians 
to access Association for Respiratory Technology & Physiology (ARTP) spirometry training 
programme which is being delivered by the National Institute for Clinical Science. A 
comprehensive review and update was undertaken of the COPD guidelines for primary 
care resulting in a suite of information being made available to support GPôs and other 
clinicians including diagnosis, management and reducing risk of exacerbation, 
pharmacological management, Rescue packs, inhaler types and devices. 

Urgent and emergency care     

System Operations and Resilience Groups (SOARs) are now well established in Norfolk 
and Waveney, locality focussed to help to manage system pressures, including ambulance 
handover delays and waiting times for admission or in the Emergency Departments of 
hospitals. 
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There remained a high volume of A&E attendances and ambulance arrivals at the Norfolk 
and Norwich University Hospital and, as a consequence, the 4-hour A&E standard has not 
been met.  Other than the increasing levels of attendance and pressure on inpatient bed 
capacity the main causative factors continued to centre around workforce limitations. This 
is the case across the country. A recovery plan was put in place with an emphasis on 
rolling out the GP streaming pilot to better manage demand and patient flow. Most patients 
are seen within 18 weeks, however it has remained challenging to meet the standard (92% 
of patients). 

North Norfolkôs ambulance response times have again not met national standards, chiefly 
due to the rurality and dispersed geography, resulting in ambulance crews needing to drive 
longer distances over sometimes smaller roads to reach patients.    

Our NHS 111 service has been under considerable pressure throughout the year however 
the number of abandoned calls was within target of 5%. NHS 111 online is live across the 
STP and patients are continuing to use the live service. National advertising campaigns 
have assisted with increases in 111 online patient communications. 

The out of hours primary care service did not achieve targets for 2-hour or 6 hour home 
visits. It is recognised that there was limited capacity for clinical review of serious cases as 
they arose, this resulted in high numbers of urgent requests that may not always have been 
necessary. Clinicians staffing out of hours bases are also responsible for carrying out home 
visits and have had to prioritise accordingly. The target to see 95% of patients at an out of 
hours base within six hours was met for the majority of the year. Where this was not met, 
winter pressures was a major factor. 

Community pharmacy consultation service (CPCS) has launched across Norfolk and 
Waveney, with the vast majority of Pharmacies signed up to offer this national directed 
service, which connects patients who have a minor illness or need an urgent supply of a 
medicine with a community pharmacy. 

Winter resilience - in 2019/20 we built on the ówinter directorô model from the previous 
year, with a systematic approach to planning and allocating resources both across the 
system and in localities.  

Day to day pressures were managed with daily calls between October and March involving 
senior staff from hospitals, community providers, social care, ambulance and the CCG, 
acting together to manage resources cross system. For example, during moments of 
severe pressure, a hospital would volunteer to accept incoming patients from other parts of 
Norfolk and Waveney to ensure patients were seen more quickly.  

Further winter resilience initiatives included: 

¶ Teams of staff to manage cases of flu in care homes; 

¶ An additional six ambulance rapid response vehicles staffed with paramedics who 
can treat people at the scene and save them a trip to hospital; 

¶ Social care Trusted Assessor Facilitators working with residential homes to help 
people return from hospital; 

¶ More Advanced Nurse Practitioner posts in Paediatrics; 

¶ Hospital Ambulance Liaison Officers to work closely with ED staff to help speed up 
handovers in the NNUH Emergency Department, releasing crews as soon as 
possible; 

¶ Promotion of the minor injuries unit at Cromer Hospital as an appropriate option for 
urgent care. 
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Falls intervention - the ambulance service operates dedicated vehicles staffed by a 
paramedic and Occupational Therapist that respond to suspected falls. The crews work to 
help the patient recover in the short term if an admission can be avoided. 

Supporting people who attend emergency departments frequently - NNUH is able to 
identify people who are high intensity users of their emergency department and refer them 
to community-based support teams who are able to identify the underlying causes of the 
individualôs health crises and put in longer term support. This service was run as a pilot but 
procured as a substantive service in 2019/20.    

GP streaming - A new model to assist patients self-presenting at the NNUH Emergency 
Department was introduced shortly before Christmas. Local GPs staff a unit providing 
primary care to patients who do not need to see a specialist, ensuring people receive the 
most appropriate care and reducing pressure on the ED. During the test phase, about 20 
patients were óstreamedô to primary care GPs per day. We are reviewing the criteria to test 
whether more categories of patients can be streamed to GPs.   

Mental health and learning disabilities 
 
Strategic transformation 

The CCG has continued to work with partners to deliver the Norfolk and Waveney adult and 
children/young people mental health strategies, working with services users to do so. 
National ambition and local strategic objectives have been translated into a new Adult 
Mental Health Transformation Programme, presented to the Mental Health Programme 
Board, established in November 2019. 

A key element of this has been developing the alignment of community mental health 
teams to Primary Care Networks so that GPs and mental health specialists work even more 
closely to support patients. The óPhase Oneô roll-out has been carried out five ótestô area 
PCNs, (The NN4 area of North Norfolk, Lowestoft, Breckland Alliance, Central Norwich 
Neighbourhood, Fens & Brecks). 

NSFT has also restructured its teams into care groups which cover North Norfolk and 
Norwich, West Norfolk and South, and Great Yarmouth and Waveney, bringing an 
additional locality focus to delivery of community services. 

Out of area placements 

The reduction of the number of individuals placed in mental health beds outside Norfolk 
and Waveney has been a system wide focus. From a high of 1742 out of area bed days in 
April 2019, this reduced to 336 in December but rose again to 883 in March 2020.  This 
reduction was aided by the commissioning of 16 more beds on the Hellesdon Hospital site 
at Yare Ward. There has also been development of a new approach to Specialist Mental 
Health Placements and the design of a new service to focus on providing enhanced 
support to individuals in Specialist Mental Health Placements and new approaches to 
community support. The enhanced focus has resulted in significant reductions in the 
number of people in Specialist placements.  

Community and crisis response 

The CCGs in Norfolk and Waveney were successful in bidding for national funding to 
increase capacity in Crisis Resolution and Home Treatment (CRHT) teams, enabling an 
increase of 11 Whole Time Equivalent (WTE) staff across Norfolk and Waveney, in addition 
to the 7.5 WTE additional staff funded by CCGs at the beginning of 2019/20. These 
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resources are key to meeting óCore Fidelity Standardsô, which include enabling self-
referrals and capacity to provide face to face support in responding to crises 

The CCGs were also successful in winning funding to ensure that all of Norfolkôs Acute 
Hospitals are able to provide Mental Health Liaison services to óCore 24ô standards, 
including access to mental health assessment within 1 hour in A&E.  

The CCG has commissioned Mind to use a house in Norwich as a short-stay respite unit for 
people who have had a mental health crisis. Itôs based on a model from Northampton 
where it has successfully enabled people with an acute episode of mental ill health to 
recover sufficiently to return home, with additional community support if required. 

LeDeR programme 

We supported people with learning disabilities in being involved in the Norfolk and 
Waveney Learning Disabilities Mortality Review (LeDeR) Programme. The Norfolk and 
Waveney LeDeR steering group is co-chaired by a person with learning disabilities, and in 
2019 produced an Easy Read Annual Report of the work it has done. 

Eating disorders 

Children and Young Peopleôs Eating Disorders services received additional funding in 
2019/20 in order to support the nationally recommended staffing levels required in Norfolk 
and Waveney. Providers and commissioners are working collaboratively to meet and 
maintain the rapid access to assessment and treatment for children and young people with 
a suspected eating disorder. 

Adult Eating Disorder services have experienced significant demand during 2019/20 plus 
staffing and recruitment challenges. This is not only the picture for Norfolk & Waveney area 
but also regionally and nationally. During 2019/20 the CCGs, working together, have 
significantly increased our support for Voluntary Community Services-focussed Eating 
Disorder service and introduced a new specialist treatment pathway with the support of our 
specialist service provider. In 2020/21 we will be working with our regional partners to 
introduce new models of care for Adults with an Eating Disorder 

Prevention 

During 2019/20 the CCG implemented targeted health checks for people with serious 
mental health conditions, resulting in increasing numbers of health checks being 
completed. 

It is important that patients with dementia receive a clinical diagnosis in good time. We are 
working with GP practices and partners of the local system to ensure that people can 
access a timely diagnosis, by ensuring that services are streamlined as much as possible 
and ensuring there is a shared understanding of the importance of identifying dementia at 
the earliest opportunity.   

The CCG ended the year with a dementia diagnosis rate of 61.5% compared to an ambition 
of 66.7%. 

We are also working to further develop our IAPT offer jointly with physical health care 
services to support peopleôs mental wellbeing in a number of long term conditions.  

Two Mental Health Support Teams providing enhanced targeted support to children and 
young people in schools and colleges, were launched in January 2020, based in Kings 
Lynn and North Norfolk and the STP will be bidding for more national funding to put in 
place similar teams in other parts of Norfolk and Waveney. 
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The UEA submitted a successful bid to deliver accredited training for eight new Emotional 
Mental Health Practitioners who will be recruited to the two Mental Health Support Teams. 
This enables specialist training to be delivered locally and build local training capacity.   

Community services 

The CCGôs Network Escalation Avoidance Team was established over the winter of 
2018/19. It comprises staff from different community-based health and care organisations 
working together who take calls from frontline doctors, nurses, social care staff or other 
professionals when a patient aged 18+ is facing a health or care crisis and might otherwise 
need to go to hospital. The teams quickly put together a co-ordinated package of care and 
look at how the person can be supported in the future to avoid a similar crisis.  

The NEAT is building capacity, and during the year received about 3-4 referrals per day, 
preventing 1-2 admissions per day. The NEAT currently operates óin-hoursô Monday to 
Friday; we hope to develop óout of hoursô operations in 2020. 

The CCG provided additional clinical capacity to support admission avoidance by 
introducing Advanced Nurse Practitioner resources into NEATs to increase system 
resilience including case finding with locality GP practices. The scheme focuses on working 
closely with Primary Care to identify patients that would benefit from rapid access to 
diagnosis & prescribing alongside the current clinical assessment and care available within 
Supported Care.  

The CCGs in central Norfolk co-located more community staff in the ambulance control 
centre to help reduce conveyances and help people remain safe and well at home. It 
involved community clinicians working alongside EEAST Clinical Co-ordinators in the 
Dispatch Centre at Hellesdon to enable a transfer of care to community services via NEAT 
to prevent inappropriate conveyances and support admission avoidances.  

Ageing Well - Norfolk and Waveney has been selected as one of seven new ñAgeing Wellò 
accelerator sites in England to develop a 2-hour community response to help older people 
remain safely at home when their heath deteriorates, and avoid hospital admissions. We 
shall use the NEAT model as the basis for this development work. 

Non-emergency patient transport service - the CCGs in Norfolk (excluding Great 
Yarmouth) reprocured their Non-Emergency Patient Transport Service, re-awarding the 
contract to ERS Medical. The new service specification includes most mental health 
journeys, to ensure a consistent approach for patients and provider organisations. 

Supported care service - the CCG used winter resilience funding to expand and develop 
this service, by providing proactive support to patients before they experience a healthcare 
crisis. A significant proportion of patients referred to the Supported Care Service do not 
have existing community services involved and have experienced a healthcare crisis which 
could have been prevented with earlier intervention. This approach was piloted with 5-10 
patients in the Cromer practice and the additional resources enabled the concept to be 
tested across North Norfolk.  

Better Care Fund 

Use of the Better Care Fund (BCF) and Improved Better Care Fund (iBCF) in Norfolk is 
supporting transformation and integration. 

The BCF Plan looks at four key metrics: non-elective admissions; delayed transfers of care; 
residential admissions and reablement.  We are making good progress towards meeting 
targets for preventing non-elective admissions and permanent admissions to residential 
care homes. Support to help people to remain at home 91 days after a reablement 
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intervention is short of target, though more recently performance has been at or above 
target, showing good progress. Delayed transfers of care remain the most significant 
challenge in Norfolk. A series of ongoing actions to address this are in place including: 
implementation of discharge-to-assess pathways; the District Direct initiative with local 
councils to overcome barriers to discharge related to lack of or inadequate housing; and 
increased capacity in reablement services.  

Key successes of the BCF this year include: 

¶ The implementation of a Norfolk wide EBrokerage care system which provides an 
electronic capability to engage with providers, advertises care requirements to 
providers capable of delivering the Service Package and provides real-time bed 
capacity information. The impact has included a reduction in processing time and 
improved provider response rates; 

¶ Sign-off in October 2019 from the STP A&E Delivery Board to accept and adopt 
Minimum Discharge Standards to care homes across the system. These include a 
commitment for hospitals to support homes by providing a dedicated number to be 
contacted in case of medication queries and other questions related to discharge 
seven days a week; 

¶ A local project on óOccupational Therapy - Joint Triage, Allocation and Recording 
with Community Healthô rolling out after evaluation of the pilot identified significant 
benefits in working in this integrated way.  The project was originally established for 
four months, to determine if a single triage and allocation process, with recording on 
a single system, was a more efficient and effective way for occupational therapists 
to work; 

¶ Continuing support for a range of Voluntary and Community Sector organisations to 
use their strengths and play invaluable roles in supporting to people tackle the 
pressures which exacerbate poor health.  This includes new opportunities such as 
social prescribing across the whole of Norfolk and Waveney. 

 
Children, young people and maternity (CYPM) 

The Norfolk and Waveney Children, Young People and Maternity team worked across the 
five Clinical Commissioning Groups since 2017. Challenges were consistent with the 
previous year, such as working within a tight financial climate and redesigning services to 
reduce gaps in provision and improve quality of patient experience. 

Successes during 2019/20 include:  

¶ Establishing stronger links with colleagues working across educational 
establishments and agencies; this included attended locality meetings and raising 
awareness of service developments with head teachers and Special Educational 
Needs Coordinators (SENCOs); 

¶ Increased investment in paediatric services. This includes the recruitment of a 
specialist Paediatric Tracheostomy Nurse to support children in the community and 
building resilience across the wider workforce; 

¶ Increase funding for incontinence services;  

¶ Establishment of mental health workers in schools within North Norfolk and Kingôs 
Lynn. The two teams of four practitioners will work to support schools and children 
in education settings with mild to moderate mental health difficulties. This extra 
capacity will provide evidence based psychological interventions in schools and will 
create better links with wider services; 
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¶ Where possible joining continuing care and education health and care plan reviews 
being undertaken with families, ensuring greater understanding of partner agencies 
and most importantly families only telling their story once; 

¶ LD health checks with a focus on the 14+ age group - work is currently in place to 
promote further understanding on the JustOneNorfolk website; 

¶ Increasing the number of personal health budgets (PHBs) for families, allowing 
them greater control; 

¶ Child sexual abuse (CSA) therapy for 0-11 years as a pilot across Norfolk. 

Further opportunities for development in 2020/21: 

¶ Development of a sustainable palliative and end of life strategy for children and 
families including a rapid response service across Norfolk and Waveney; 

¶ Working collaboratively with partners to meet the requirements of the SEND 
reforms, ensuring that health need is consistently captured reflecting the needs of 
the CYP. 

Maternity services 

Continuity of carer in maternity services has been rolled out throughout England since 
2018. Local maternity systems and maternity providers are considering ways of 
implementing continuity of carer over the next three years. This raises significant workforce 
and financial challenges, which partners in our system have been addressing together, 
such as workforce planning sessions.   

In addition there has been: 

¶ Recruitment of specialist, dedicated Midwives to deliver improvement targets on 
smoking in pregnancy; 

¶ Dedicated senior Midwives to fully implement and embed the ñSaving Babies Lives 
Care Bundle v2ò; 

¶ Standardised and improved joint Consultant Obstetrician / Psychiatrist clinics across 
the local maternity system (LMS) with standardised training for all clinicians; 

¶ Employment of a Maternity Voice Partnership (MVP) link to work across the 3 MVP 
groups enabling service user feedback on all transformation activities; 

¶ Recruiting a Chair and Co-Chair for the Norwich MVP; 

¶ Aligned all transformation work to include provision for fathers / partners. 

 
Prescribing and medicines optimisation 

Medicines optimisation is defined as 'a person-centred approach to safe and effective 
medicines use, to ensure people obtain the best possible outcomes from their medicinesô. 
The CCG delivers medicines optimisation through managing the entry of new drugs into the 
health economy; ensuring formularies and local guidance are aligned to national guidance 
and engaging with both clinicians and patients. The Therapeutic Advisory Group 
considered 250 NICE, regional and local guidelines on therapies and devices providing 
guidance to CCGôs and clinicians on appropriate use and the setting where prescribing 
should take place. 

Cost pressures on the primary care prescribing budgets as a result of price concessions 
and drug shortages remain challenging, amounting to approximately £1 million per CCG. 
The Medicines Optimisation (MO) Team produced additional supporting materials to enable 
practices to implement the NHS England recommendations on conditions that patients 
should be encouraged to self-manage. 
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Systems were put in place to enable patients with Type 1 diabetes who fulfilled the 
commissioned criteria to access Freestyle Libre (a device that enables monitoring of 
glucose levels while reducing the number of finger prick tests). 

There has been a focus on ódeprescribingô in frail patients and drug holidays are being 
encouraged in patients receiving a class of drugs that are associated with cognitive 
impairment and falls. 

Local acute trusts have successfully worked with the MO High Cost Drugs Team to ensure 
rapid early adoption of biologic biosimilars, being amongst the first in the country to achieve 
the significant resultant savings of c£5million in 2019-20 for the local health economy.  
Trusts have also collaboratively worked through the TAG to develop specialist cost-
effective treatment pathways to implement NICE guidance, increasing patient access to 
specialist therapies 

The Medicines Optimisation in Care Home Pharmacist and Technicians continue to provide 
a programme of medication reviews for care/nursing home residents through engagement 
with GP practices and the wider multidisciplinary health and social care system in Norfolk & 
Waveney. This improves patient safety and residentsô health outcomes and reduces waste 
through delivery of person-centred medication reviews and medicines management advice.  

 

Norfolk and Waveney palliative and end of life care 

A key development is the adoption of the Palliative and End of Life Care Strategy. The 
strategyôs work streams deliver a standardised, integrated clinical model for the delivery of 
care, which includes clinical notes, documents and tools. One of these is ReSPECT, a 
Recommended Summary Plan of Emergency Care and Treatment which will be 
implemented from March 2020 amongst Norfolk and Waveneyôs health and social care 
providers. ReSPECT is one of the tools of Advance Care Planning and we will be 
measuring the take up of ReSPECT and we have been working closely with organisations 
to support their readiness in implementation.  

A key indicator is the Place of Death ï Norfolk and Waveney, compared to the England 
average (in 2016), have a similar proportion of deaths in hospitals across all age groups, 
except for the 65-84 years age group. We are above the English average for deaths in care 
homes and significantly below for deaths in hospices, but this reflects the larger number of 
care homes where people live (and die). 

Each CCG has been asked to apply to the national funding allocation, which is additional 
monies for palliative care for adults and children and young people. We have received 
proposals from all areas of Norfolk and Waveney which will be considered by a panel for 
schemes to maintain or improve a CQC rating, develop personalised care and support, 
specialist palliative MDT services, improve access to support and advice, support 
education and training and support families and carers.  

 
Digital   

The Long Term Plan made a commitment that every patient will have the right to be offered 
digital first primary care by 2023/24. The GP Contract and planning guidance set some 
digital targets for primary care. In 2019, the 5 Norfolk and Waveney CCGs worked jointly to 
procure an Online Consultations System ï the GP contract sets out a requirement for all 
practices to offer online consultations by April 2020, and implementation of the system 
began in September 2019. The system we have deployed is called Footfall, and in many 
practices has led to a significant reduction in waiting times for advice/support. This new 



Page 27 of 109 

 

access method is proving popular with patients and brings benefits to practices in the 
management of workload, as many consultations can be completed without the need for a 
visit to the practice.  

IT system interoperability across Norfolk and Waveney has moved forward in the last year, 
with the development of GP Connect. IC24, the NHS 111 provider, can now see the GP 
patient records for over half the practices in Norfolk and Waveney. Practices can see 
records and book appointments between EMIS and SystmOne, the two GP practice clinical 
systems in use. Shortly, this technology will also be used by Ambulance Paramedics and 
will enable remote booking of Improved Access slots.  

Our CCGs have also been awarded £1.1m to digitise older patient records currently held in 
paper format. This work will be undertaken with 21 practices across the area and will 
digitise a quarter of a million notes. As well as making the notes available for patients to 
view online, and reducing the work involved in requests for records, this will create valuable 
space within GP practices that can be put to use in creating rooms for social prescribers or 
additional consulting rooms. 

The Norfolk and Waveney CCG Digital Team have been successful in securing a Digital 
First Primary Care Accelerator award from NHS England. This is a revenue investment of 
£228,000 for this year (19/20), with a recurrent element in future years for up to 5 years. A 
programme to replace the outgoing NHS network, N3, with the new Health and Social Care 
network (HSCN) is coming to completion and all GP practices have had their PCs updated 
to Windows 10 in line with national requirements.  The upgrade to Windows 10 for CCG 
staff will shortly commence.   

CCG staff have successfully adopted WebEx this year as a means of video-conferencing 
between the various CCG bases across Norfolk & Waveney, and this has now been 
extended to all CCG staff and GP practices.   

The CCGs have also worked with partners across the Norfolk and Waveney system to 
remove fax machines in line with national strategy, providing support for care homes and 
nursing homes to complete IG toolkit requirements and register for an NHS.net email 
address. 

Research  

In 19/20, 63 general practices teams across Norfolk and Waveney recruited over 2300 
participants into 25 national research studies. These studies came in from universities 
across the UK and examined a diverse range of health areas including prevention of 
cardiovascular disease, medicines management in care homes, treatment of urinary tract 
infections, modelling disease risk and progression in primary care, and patient views on 
sharing of health data. The local impact of research on patient care, clinician experience 
and service delivery is assessed at the end of studies using a survey tool and this 
information is available on our website:  http://nspccro.nihr.ac.uk. 

Our GP practices have an established track record of running nationally important studies 
for their patients.  As a result of high patient recruitment across Norfolk and Waveney, the 
Department of Health and Social Care awarded North Norfolk, West Norfolk, Norwich and 
Great Yarmouth and Waveney CCGs 20K each of Research Capability Funding in April 
2019 to support high quality research development, with South Norfolk CCG receiving RCF 
on the back of research grant related income. CCGs joined forces, pooling these monies to 
support the following developments with UEA:  

¶ A self-assessment tool for improving disclosures and help seeking 

¶ Person centred care for patients and carers living with multimorbidity 

http://nspccro.nihr.ac.uk/
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¶ The role of community pharmacies in point of care testing 

¶ Supporting smoking cessation  

¶ Dementia, frailty and medicines optimisation 

These active research delivery and development programmes are helping the NHS to fulfil 
its long term vision of basing treatments and care on well tested evidence.   

Sustainable development  

As an NHS organisation, and as a spender of public funds, we have an obligation to work in 
a way that has a positive effect on the communities we serve. Sustainability means 
spending public money well, the smart and efficient use of natural resources and building 
healthy, resilient communities. By making the most of social, environmental and economic 
assets we can improve health both in the immediate and long term even in the context of 
rising cost of natural resources. Spending money well and considering the social and 
environmental impacts is enshrined in the Public Services (Social Value) Act (2012). 

As an individual CCG we acknowledged this responsibility to our patients, local 
communities and the environment by working hard to minimise our footprint. The work 
detailed in this section continues in the newly formed Norfolk & Waveney CCG. This 
includes: 

¶ The introduction of a staff Green Group whose aim is to inform staff to make the 
right choices in recycling, reducing waste and re-using resources at work. Over time 
this group will provide support and information to help staff interested in making 
ógreenerô choices outside of work too; 

¶ N&W CCG building on and sharing the good examples of staff making green 
choices in the individual CCGs so that all of our staff have access to the highest 
standard of green choices regardless of where they are based;  

¶ Reducing paper wastage as employees are encouraged to dispose of all paper 
waste in recycling bins. All secure bin waste is recycled; 

¶ Recycling printer and toner cartridges through our printer supplier; 

¶ Recycle bins for plastic waste, used batteries and plastic bottle tops; 

¶ CCG sites aiming to be free of single use plastics i.e. commissioning of catering 
suppliers who can supply services using recycled and reusable crockery and cutlery 
for events. 

¶ All staff being encouraged to use reusable cups and water bottles including 
reusable takeaway cups for beverages 

As a commissioning and contracting organisation, Norfolk & Waveney CCG will need 
effective contract mechanisms to deliver its ambitions for sustainable healthcare delivery. 
The NHS policy framework already sets the scene for commissioners and providers to 
operate in a sustainable manner. Crucially for Norfolk and Waveney CCG, evidence of this 
commitment will need to be provided in part through contracting mechanisms. We will:  

¶ Ensure that sustainability is included in our approach to procurement and the 
development of business cases and new services 

¶ Further embed sustainability through the use of a Sustainable Development 
Management Plan (SDMP).  Norfolk & Waveney CCG is forming a Sustainable 
Development Work Group, which will input into our SDMP and will include as 
attendees, members of the CCGôs Staff Green Group.  

¶ Form links between the CCGôs Sustainable Development Workgroup and the 
excellent work currently being undertaken by local provider organisations to 
facilitate a more joined up approach to making an impact across the local health 
system.  
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As a part of the NHS, public health and social care system, it is our duty to contribute 
towards the level of ambition set in 2014 of reducing the carbon footprint of the NHS, public 
health and social care system by 34% (from a 1990 baseline) equivalent to a 28% 
reduction from a 2013 baseline by 2020. The health and care system in England is 
responsible for an estimated 4-5% of the countryôs carbon footprint. 

The causes of air pollution and climate change are often the same, so the óFor a greener 
NHSô campaign will help address both.  

The use of digital technology is a major element within the NHS Service Model and was an 
organisation driver for the CCG during 2019-20, this continues to be a focus for Norfolk & 
Waveney CCG and has had a significant impact on the way we work. Our focus is to 
continue to develop a digitally enabled workforce and to transform our ways of working. 
The increased use of digital technologies and social media including WebEx has greatly 
impacted the need for staff travel.   

The COVID-19 incident has created a natural reduction in mileage until the CCG ceased to 
exist on 31 March 2020. This continues in the in 2020-21 for Norfolk & Waveney CCG.  

The CCG is based in a building shared with other organisations and using many of the 
same facilities. This means that the energy, water and waste used by the organisation 
cannot be specifically attributed to it. The CCG is therefore unable to accurately report 
against the Sustainable Development Assessment Tool.   

Improve quality  

During 2019/20 all five Norfolk and Waveney CCGs worked in collaboration to support and 
deliver quality improvement and patient safety initiatives across the local health and social 
care system. Alignment of the Nursing and Quality teams across CCG localities has 
increased resilience within the teams and has resulted in the development of a number of 
quality improvement programmes across our local acute, community, mental health and 
primary care partner organisations. This is reflective of the new approach being built with 
our commissioned service providers to enable continuous improvement through service 
redesign, integrated care pathways and collective leadership. This has enabled improved 
patient experience and patient outcomes in the following areas: 

The North and South Norfolk CCG Quality Team has worked collaboratively with the 
Norfolk and Norwich University Hospital NHS Foundation Trust (NNUH) to support them 
while they have been in special measures. This has included attendance at internal 
evidence groups and participation in quality assurance visits.  

Over the last 12 months, a number of quality improvement initiatives have been undertaken 
in collaboration with Trust, this includes:  

ω A review of 12 hour breaches from a decision to admit for mental health patients 
presenting to the emergency department requiring an acute mental health bed. This 
has led to a number of proactive actions, including environmental and process 
changes. There are also ongoing discussions across health and social care 
partners as to how patient experience of this patient cohort can be improved   

ω Inception of a weekly Quality and Patient Safety meeting for the emergency 
department where recent patient cases are discussed to identify learning and 
quality improvement actions. This is open to all levels of staff and students within 
the department to reflect on the care given 

ω A member of the CCG Quality Team is currently undertaking the Quality, Service 
Improvement and Redesign Practitioner Programme in collaboration with the Trust, 
exploring a number of quality improvement projects with the team as part of this  

https://www.england.nhs.uk/greenernhs/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/greenernhs/
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ω Working with primary care and the emergency department to improve the 
communications out to GPôs following patient attendance  

ω A GP ófront doorô service has recently been implemented and is currently being 
reviewed to evaluate the impact this has had on reducing the demand and flow 
through the emergency department. This is collaborative project with Central 
Norfolk primary care partners, the Acute Trust and the CCG.  

The introduction and implementation of national patient safety systems that have been co-
developed within primary care, has resulted in system wide learning and pathway redesign 
within the North and South Norfolk localities. Operational examples of such service 
transformation include the following: 

ω A review of the local sign-posting guidance used to direct patients to the most 
appropriate health care professional for Improved Access services 

ω The co-production of general practice policy manuals that incorporates Serious 
Incident recognition and reporting to complement the existing Significant Event 
process 

ω The monitoring of workforce compliance, including induction and refresher training 
for all primary care team members on an annual basis, by key practice leads.  

The above innovations were identified through the learning of Root Cause Analysis (RCA) 
review panels, established across the North and South Localities. This process enables 
patient safety partners to identify both best practice and areas for quality improvement. By 
working in collaboration with both multi-agency and multi-professional stakeholders, system 
wide changes can be implemented to improve consistent patient safety outcomes. The 
development of the RCA panels permits for national initiatives to be led locally, such as the 
National Patient Safety Strategy and the NHS Long Term Plan. The current review model 
compliments the evolution and subsequent development of the Primary Care Networks, 
ensuring that clinical governance are in place, system wide. 

Friends and family test 

Norfolk Community Health & Care (NCH&C) - The Trust achieved an overall positive 
FFT score of 98% at the end of December 2019.  

Norfolk & Norwich University Hospital (NNUH)  
The Trust achieved an overall positive FFT score of 94% at the end of December 2019. 

Norfolk & Suffolk Foundation Trust (NSFT)  
The Trust received an overall positive FFT score of 90% at the end of December 2019. 

Infection control data  

Clostridium difficile 
 

CCG 2018-19 
Trajectory 

2018-19 
Actual 

2019-20 
Trajectory 

2019-20 
Actual 

West Norfolk 99 62 71 56 

South Norfolk 64 44 45 50 

Norwich 51 43 49 50 

North Norfolk 57 42 43 45 

Great Yarmouth 
and Waveney 

69 49 57 53 

N&W CCG total 340 240 265 254 
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For 2019-20 Clostridium difficile data, national classifications changed which means it is not 
possible to compare 2018-19 data with 2019-20 data. The data that can be compared is the 
Norfolk and Waveney total. There were 14 more cases in 2019-20 than in 2018-19. 
 
MRSA 
 

CCG 2018-19 Actual 2019-20 Actual 

West Norfolk 2 3 

South Norfolk 0 1 

Norwich 2 0 

North Norfolk 1 2 

Great Yarmouth and 
Waveney 

2 3 

N&W CCG total 7 10 

 
There is a zero tolerance of avoidable MRSA blood stream infections.  
 
E.coli 
 

CCG 2018-19 Actual 2019-20 Actual 

West Norfolk 173 160 

South Norfolk 134 141 

Norwich 112 103 

North Norfolk 132 117 

Great Yarmouth and 
Waveney 

204 193 

N&W CCG total 755 714 

 
E.coli bacteraemia cases have reduced by 36 cases in 2019-20 compared to last year 
2018-19.  

Engaging people and communities 

The CCG has a duty to ensure it works closely with others to help plan and influence local 
NHS services and one of our key values that sits at the very core of our work, is that of 
working together for and with patients. We work with and through a wide variety of partner 
agencies in the voluntary and statutory sectors, including Healthwatch, with patient 
organisations, individual users of local services and members of the public to make sure we 
are commissioning services that meet local needs. 

We hold meetings in public, encourage questions and feedback throughout the year, work 
alongside our GP practices and carry out specific involvement and engagement exercises 
on the overall direction of local NHS healthcare and specific service proposals. 

Merger of the five Norfolk and Waveney CCGs 

Between August and September 2019 North Norfolk CCG led on the engagement around 
the proposed merger of the five CCGs in Norfolk and Waveney. The proposal document 
óMoving Forward Togetherô, described how the CCGs would form one strong health 
commissioning organisation across Norfolk and Waveney with a single governing body.  It 
was felt this will would help to address pressing issues and offer greater clarity to patients 
and professionals. It also supported the NHS Long Term Plan which states that there 
should ñtypicallyò be one strategic commissioner (CCG) in any emerging Integrated Care 
System (ICS). 
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The CCGs were interested to know: 

1. What local people thought overall on the proposal to merge the five CCGs in Norfolk 
and Waveney? 

2. How the CCGs can make sure they best include the views of local people towards 
the local NHS and ensure commissioning has a local focus? 

3. How can the CCGs make sure local doctors and clinical staff remain involved in the 
work of a single CCG? 

245 people from across Norfolk and Waveney took part in an online survey. The merger 
was also discussed at patient panels and forums across the area. Partner organisations, 
and key stakeholders such as MPs, were also contacted and invited to feedback. 

Several key themes emerged from the feedback received: 

ω The merger was largely seen as a positive move to improve streamlining, efficiency 
and consistency 

ω Concerns were raised about keeping a strong locality focus 
ω There was support for centralisation for specialist services 
ω Robust engagement with staff and local people was considered to be vital in the 

new organisation 

The Governing Bodies of the five CCGs discussed the feedback in public and each agreed 
to submit an application to NHS England and Improvement to merge by April 2020. The 
concerns and issues raised by the engagement were given consideration, and a full óYou 
Said, We Willô document was produced in response. 

Patient Participation Group (PPG) Support for Dementia Friendly Practices   

The Chair of a PPG in North Norfolk, has worked with North and South Norfolk CCGs to 
help practices become more dementia friendly.  Having been involved in helping her local 
town become dementia friendly, she worked with Healthwatch Norfolk, and North and 
South Norfolk CCGs to help produce a guide for practices to help them support people 
living with dementia and their carers.   

She also presented at a PPG Learn and Share event to inspire other PPGs to get involved.  
Following this several practices asked for her help in becoming more dementia friendly 
environments.  Working as a PPG volunteer, with the support of North and South Norfolk 
CCGs, she has now visited 13 practices in North and South Norfolk and undertaken 
environmental audits, including offering advice about issues such as dementia friendly 
signage for doors and corridors.  She also undertook 10 dementia friendsô sessions to 
practice staff. 

This project will be evaluated and will continue to be promoted to practices.  The possibility 
of recruiting and training another volunteer to support this work is also being explored. 

Patient Participation Groups (PPGs) working together  

PPGs based around GP surgeries are formed from groups of patients interested in getting 
more involved with and supporting their local practices.  A group of PPG members from six 
practices in North Norfolk have started meeting as a wider group to share ideas and 
resources. The six practices make up one of the four North Norfolk Primary Care Networks 
(PCNs), and the PPG group has been forging links with its PCN and learning about all the 
changes happening around primary care. 
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The CCG will use this model as an example for other PPGs who are interested in working 
with neighbouring areas. This will be part of a wider programme of support that the CCG is 
working on designing in partnership with local PPGs. 

PPG toolkits ï carers and flu 

Many PPGs are keen to offer practical help and support to their practices but may often 
lack the right support to do so. As a result North Norfolk CCG led on the production of 
toolkits aimed at giving patients and the public, especially those in PPGs, the tools they 
need to help spread important messages. 

This year we have designed toolkits to help PPGs support messaging around carers 
awareness for Carers Week. We have also produced toolkits to help spread messages that 
are so important during winter, such as the use of Over the Counter Medicines, and how to 
avoid flu. 

There is further information about the way all five CCGs in Norfolk and Waveney engaged 
local people, working together, in a joint engagement annual report. This is published on 
the new NHS Norfolk and Waveney CCG website. 

South and North Norfolk joint learning event 

In April 2019, NHS North and South Norfolk CCGs used the methods outlined in NHS 
Englandôs development of Always EventsÈ to frame our engagement around Norfolk and 
Waveneyôs Five Year Plan for Health and Care. We focused on what people and 
stakeholders would always want to see in thematic areas of health and care, such as 
enabling everyone to get the best start in life and helping communities to live well. We used 
open discussions and template documents to capture this feedback. This feedback was 
collated with the views that were gathered using other mechanisms, such as surveys and 
workshops conducted by system partners Healthwatch Norfolk. This information 
fundamentally shaped our five-year plan. 

Mental Health Co-Production Advisory and Assurance Group 

Following the publication of Norfolk and Waveneyôs Adult Mental Health Strategy in March 
2019, which was developed following the involvement of over 2500 people locally, further 
engagement and involvement of people and stakeholders with a lived experience of mental 
health conditions was guided by the Mental Health Co-production Advisory and Assurance 
Group. 

The Group is formed of people who have an experience of mental health conditions and 
using local mental health services, carers, voluntary sector representatives, mental health 
clinicians and practitioners, social care leads and commissioners. It advises on how to most 
effectively engage with the people who need to be involved in the development of mental 
health projects running in Norfolk and Waveney. 

In 2019-20, the group advised on the following projects: 

ω Supporting the management of mental health issues in Primary Care: 
The group told us we needed to co-produce our qualitative outcomes of a new 
model for supporting people with mental health needs more effectively in Primary 
Care. 

We held a stakeholder event and dedicated workshops with the Co-Production 
Advisory and Assurance Group to prioritise and define qualitative outcomes that 
underpin the new model. This included important outcomes focused on the needs of 
carers of people with mental health conditions. 
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ω Improving services and support for people experiencing crisis: 
People with experience of mental health crisis and carers are part of the crisis 
workstream, focused on a range of projects aimed at improving support and care for 
people in crisis with a mental health need. 

The group told us we needed to focus on the wider determinants of mental health 
crisis, and prioritised housing as a key point of development.   

Supporting engagement towards the Norfolk and Waveney Health and Care 
Partnership five year plan  

The NHS Clinical Commissioning Groups in Norfolk and Waveney are a part of the Norfolk 
and Waveney Health and Care Partnership, and we are working together to develop a five 
year plan for health and care in Norfolk and Waveney.  

Weôve heard from and spoken to lots of local people, organisations and health and care 
professionals about what they would like to see in our plan. Over the summer of 2019, we 
used the Dialogue application to hold real-time discussions about the ideas that local 
people and patients had regarding improving health and care.  

Throughout the plan, we have provided evidence of how what people have told us has 
shaped our thinking - this is summarised on pages 25-26 of the plan. Throughout each 
thematic section, we have also asked the question óHow will we engage going forward?ô, 
which contains analysis of how people have told us they wish to be involved and the wider 
delivery of the plan.  

The plan also focuses on our approach to tackling health inequalities across Norfolk and 
Waveney, utilising Public Health Englandôs óPlace-based approaches to reducing health 
inequalitiesô (2019). We outline our commitment to this approach ï and the forums and 
networks we will work with ï on pages 37-40 of our plan.  

You can view the latest version of Norfolk and Waveney's five year plan via Norfolk and 
Waveney's Health and Wellbeing Board's website: https://www.norfolk.gov.uk/what-we-do-
and-how-we-work/policy-performance-and-partnerships/partnerships/health-
partnerships/health-and-wellbeing-board/stp-five-year-plan 

Cancer workstream ï engaging with minority ethnic communities  

The CCGs also worked with the Norfolk branch of the National Federation of Women's 
Institutes on the óDonôt Fear the Smearô campaign, aimed at discussing screening with 
women across rural communities in Norfolk and Waveney. This engagement targeted 
working with existing community networks across primarily rural areas, where there is less 
access to digital technology. 

Work has been underway during 2019 to ensure that there are robust structures in place to 
monitor and promote engagement and consultation processes within the single CCG after 1 
April 2020.  

  

Reducing health inequality 

The health of our population 

The practices within North Norfolk serve a registered list size of approximately 175,000 
patients. This is relatively high when compared to the rest of the country. 

https://www.norfolk.gov.uk/what-we-do-and-how-we-work/policy-performance-and-partnerships/partnerships/health-partnerships/health-and-wellbeing-board/stp-five-year-plan
https://www.norfolk.gov.uk/what-we-do-and-how-we-work/policy-performance-and-partnerships/partnerships/health-partnerships/health-and-wellbeing-board/stp-five-year-plan
https://www.norfolk.gov.uk/what-we-do-and-how-we-work/policy-performance-and-partnerships/partnerships/health-partnerships/health-and-wellbeing-board/stp-five-year-plan
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People in North Norfolk and rural parts of Broadland generally enjoy better health outcomes 
and access to health and care services than many other places in England. When 
benchmarked against measures of deprivation, the area is shown to be affluent. The 
population served by NHS North Norfolk CCG has the highest median age of all CCGs in 
England and a disproportionately high percentage of older people.  

 
  
There is further information at https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomes-
framework from where the above data table has been extracted. 

The CCG has robust systems in place to ensure its duties in respect of equalities are fully 
carried out. This can be from the use and monitoring of Equality Impact Assessments and 
Quality Impact Assessments to the planning and delivery of projects when commissioning 
or monitoring the effectiveness of services. The CCG has implemented EDS2 to help meet 
the Public Sector Equality Duty and to improve their performance for people with 
characteristics protected by the Equality Act 2010. 

The CCG drew on multiple sources of evidence, such as NHS England Right Care 
Equalities Data, Norfolk Insight data and local population data provided by district councils. 
Public Health Outcomes Framework data is also used to inform CCG work: 
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomes-
framework/data#page/1/gid/1000049/pat/6/par/E12000006/ati/202/are/E10000020 

We also worked with and through a wide variety of partner agencies in the voluntary and 
statutory sectors, including Healthwatch, with patient organisations, individual users of local 
services and members of the public to make sure we are commissioning services that meet 
local needs.  

The five year plan for Norfolk and Waveney was developed in-year, and demonstrates how 
demographic data relating to inequalities and life expectancy is used to plan future 
services. It can be read at https://www.norfolk.gov.uk/what-we-do-and-how-we-work/policy-

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomes-framework
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomes-framework
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomes-framework/data#page/1/gid/1000049/pat/6/par/E12000006/ati/202/are/E10000020
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomes-framework/data#page/1/gid/1000049/pat/6/par/E12000006/ati/202/are/E10000020
https://www.norfolk.gov.uk/what-we-do-and-how-we-work/policy-performance-and-partnerships/partnerships/health-partnerships/health-and-wellbeing-board/stp-five-year-plan
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performance-and-partnerships/partnerships/health-partnerships/health-and-wellbeing-
board/stp-five-year-plan 

The CCG has worked to reduce health inequalities and this is reported throughout this 
Annual Report and in the section below. Examples include: 

ω Delivering aspects of the Health and Wellbeing Strategy   
ω The CCG has used the RightCare approach to identify and target opportunities to 

improve health and reduce inequalities.  
ω Delivery of the National Diabetes Prevention Programme   
ω Practices and pharmacies have carried NHS health checks commissioned by Public 

Health. 
 

Health and Wellbeing Strategy  

NHS North Norfolk CCG is an active member of the Health and Wellbeing Board. The 
Health and Wellbeing Strategy has four key priorities which the CCG has worked to 
support: 

Health and Wellbeing 
Board vision/ priority 

 

How the CCG is supporting the HWB priorities 

 

A single sustainable 
system 

The five CCGs created a single management team, and merged on 1 April 
2020. 

The CCG is a partner in the Norfolk and Waveney Health and Care 
Partnership (STP). 

The Partnership and CCG aspire for Norfolk and Waveney to achieve 
ñIntegrated Care Systemò status in 2020/21. 

Prioritising prevention  The CCG supports Public Health prevention priorities such as smoking 
cessation; it has also helped to promote the Every Mind Matters campaign 
which encourages people to take simple steps to improve mental wellbeing 
and prevent low mood. 

The MyCOPD app is available to patients who are currently engaged in a 
pulmonary rehabilitation programme in Norfolk and Waveney. 

GP Practices have been supported to identify and train diabetes clinical 
champions and undertake further clinical training. The CCG has also 
commissioned structured education for people with Type 2 diabetes to 
prevent further ill health. 

The CCGôs Cancer Team has undertaken engagement work with the Gypsy, 
Roma Traveller Community to understand how we can better meet their 
cancer screening needs. 

Our partnershipôs commitment is to reduce suicide rates in Norfolk and 
Waveney by 10% in 2020/21.  We have received national funding to support 
this. 

In January 2020 we launched a Get Checked campaign across Norfolk and 
Waveney. This encourages everyone to have their blood pressure checked. 
Nearly 130,000 people in Norfolk and Waveney are expected to have high 
blood pressure that has not been diagnosed.  

https://www.norfolk.gov.uk/what-we-do-and-how-we-work/policy-performance-and-partnerships/partnerships/health-partnerships/health-and-wellbeing-board/stp-five-year-plan
https://www.norfolk.gov.uk/what-we-do-and-how-we-work/policy-performance-and-partnerships/partnerships/health-partnerships/health-and-wellbeing-board/stp-five-year-plan
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Tackling inequalities in 
communities  

 

Providing support for those 
who are most vulnerable in 
localities using resources 
and assets to address wider 
factors that impact on 
health and wellbeing. 

Social prescribing has been introduced at many practices, whereby patients 
are signposted to the right community support services to tackle the root 
cause of their ill health. 

The CCG co-commissioned a substantive service to identify people who 
frequently attended the Norfolk and Norwich University Hospital Emergency 
Department due to mental, physical or social problems which did not require 
acute hospital treatment. They are offered more appropriate support to 
address the underlying causes of their problems. 

Integrating ways of 
working  

 

Collaborating in the delivery 
of people centred care to 
make sure services are 
joined up, consistent and 
makes sense to those who 
use them. 

The CCG has expanded and developed its Network Escalation Avoidance 
Team (NEAT), a multi-disciplinary team that puts an integrated package of 
care in place for people who develop a health crisis. 

The CCG has invested in óHospice at Homeô an enhanced palliative care 
service working in partnership with community staff, GP Practices and 
palliative care specialists.  

The CCGs led development of the Norfolk and Waveney Health and Care 
Partnership five year plan which sets out its ambitions to integrate services. 
The plan was presented to the Board at its January meeting. 

 

The Norfolk Health and Wellbeing Board has been consulted over the contents of this 
section of the report. It was sent to the March 2020 meeting of the Board for information 
and comment. 

 

 

 

Melanie Craig 
Accountable Officer  
23 June 2020  
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ACCOUNTABILITY REPORT 
 

Corporate Governance Report 

This is the last Accountability Report for NHS North Norfolk Clinical Commissioning Group 
(the CCG) as the CCG ceased to exist on 31 March 2020.   

The five former Norfolk and Waveney CCGs (NHS North Norfolk CCG, NHS South Norfolk 
CCG, NHS West Norfolk CCG, NHS Great Yarmouth & Waveney CCG and NHS Norwich 
CCG) ceased to exist on 31 March 2020. These were replaced by NHS Norfolk and 
Waveney CCG which came in to existence on 1 April 2020. 

Membersô report 

The CCG was a clinically-led membership organisation made up of 19 general practices 
that provided primary care in North Norfolk and rural Broadland. The Chair was Dr Anoop 
Dhesi from the Staithe Surgery, Stalham.  

Practice representatives provided clinical strategic direction to the commissioning work of 
the CCG and were responsible for determining the organisationôs governance 
arrangements. Clinical representatives from the following member practices met on a 
monthly basis as the Council of Members 

Member profiles and Practices 

Practice Name Member Representative 

Acle Medical Practice Dr Mike Noble 
Aldborough Surgery Dr Mark Fleming 
The Market Surgery, Aylsham Dr Peter Lawson 
Birchwood Surgery Dr James Gair 
Blofield Surgery Dr Mark Gaskin 
Brundall Medical Centre Dr Anna Sternberg 
Coltishall Medical Practice Dr Tim Mansfield 
Cromer Group Practice Dr Simon May 
Drayton & St Faiths Medical Practice Dr Alan Lee 
Fakenham Medical Practice Dr Andrew Smith 
Holt Medical Practice Dr Deborah Clark 
Hoveton & Wroxham Medical Practice Dr Carsten Dernedde  
Ludham Surgery Dr Elizabeth Christie 
Mundesley Medical Centre Dr Kemp 
Paston Surgery Dr Anna Malpas-Sands  
The Surgery, Reepham Dr Penny Ayling 
Sheringham Medical Practice Dr Ian Smith 
The Staithe Surgery, Stalham Dr Anoop Dhesi 
Wells Health Centre  Dr Gordon Mcansh 

 
 

  



Page 39 of 109 

 

Composition of Governing Body 

Members of the Governing Body are as follows: 

   
 

Dr Anoop Dhesi Melanie Craig John Ingham Doris Jamieson 

Chair Chief Officer from 29 
April 2019 

Chief Finance Officer 
from 29 April 2019 

Lay Member 

 
   

Dr James Gair Clive Gardner Kathy Branson Dr Robert Mallinson 

GP Member Lay Member Registered Nurse           Secondary Care 
Doctor 

 
   

Dr Penny Ayling Antony Belham Peter Franzen Stephen Burke 

GP Member Practice Manager Lay Member Lay Member 

 

  

 

 Frank Sims Helen Stratton  

 Chief Officer until 28 
April 2019  

Chief Finance Officer 
until 28 April 2019 

 

 

There have been changes to the membership of the Governing Body in 2019/20 and these 
are set out at page 45 of the Annual Governance Statement. 
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Committees of the Governing Body - Audit Committee  

The Audit Committee provided financial scrutiny and assurance of good governance. 
Members of the committee were Doris Jamieson, Clive Gardner, Peter Franzen, Stephen 
Burke and Tony Belham.  The CCGôs Chief Finance Officer, Chief Corporate Affairs Officer, 
Deputy Chief Corporate Affairs Officer and Head of Corporate Governance and 
representatives from internal auditors, external auditors and Counter Fraud also attended 
these meetings. 

The Chair of the Audit Committee was Doris Jamieson. 

The Remuneration Report contains details of the membership of the Remuneration and 

Terms of Service Committee. 

The Annual Governance Statement provides details of all other Governing Body 
Committees. 

Register of Interests 

An archived version of the Governing Body member declarations of interest can be found at 
http://tnaqa.mirrorweb.com/20200325121903tf_/https://www.northnorfolkccg.nhs.uk/ 

Personal data related incidents 

During the year 2019 to 2020 and up to 31 March 2020 there were no data security breaches 
that had been reported to the Information Commissioner. 

Statement of Disclosure to Auditors 

Each individual who is a member of the CCG at the time the Membersô Report is approved 
confirms:  

ω so far as the member is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the 
CCGôs auditor is unaware that would be relevant for the purposes of their audit 
report; 

ω the member has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken in order to make 
him or herself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the 
CCGôs auditor is aware of it.  

The CCGôs external auditors are BDO LLP.  

Modern Slavery Act  

The CCG fully supports the Governmentôs objectives to eradicate modern slavery and 
human trafficking but does not meet the requirements for producing an annual Slavery and 
Human Trafficking Statement as set out in the Modern Slavery Act 2015.  

 

 

Melanie Craig  
Accountable Officer 
23 June 2020  

http://tnaqa.mirrorweb.com/20200325121903tf_/https:/www.northnorfolkccg.nhs.uk/
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Statement of Accountable Officerôs responsibilities  

The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) states that each Clinical 
Commissioning Group shall have an Accountable Officer and that Officer shall be 
appointed by the NHS Commissioning Board (NHS England).  NHS England has appointed 
the Chief Officer to be the Accountable Officer of NHS North Norfolk CCG. 

The responsibilities of an Accountable Officer are set out under the National Health Service 
Act 2006 (as amended), Managing Public Money and in the Clinical Commissioning Group 
Accountable Officer Appointment Letter.  They include responsibilities for:  

ω The propriety and regularity of the public finances for which the Accountable Officer 
is answerable; 

ω For keeping proper accounting records (which disclose with reasonable accuracy at 
any time the financial position of the Clinical Commissioning Group and enable 
them to ensure that the accounts comply with the requirements of the Accounts 
Direction); 

ω For safeguarding the Clinical Commissioning Groupôs assets (and hence for taking 
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities); 

ω The relevant responsibilities of accounting officers under Managing Public Money; 
ω Ensuring the CCG exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and economically (in 

accordance with Section 14Q of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as 
amended)) and with a view to securing continuous improvement in the quality of 
services (in accordance with Section14R of the National Health Service Act 2006 
(as amended)); 

ω Ensuring that the CCG complies with its financial duties under Sections 223H to 
223J of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended). 

Under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), NHS England has directed 
each Clinical Commissioning Group to prepare for each financial year a statement of 
accounts in the form and on the basis set out in the Accounts Direction. The accounts are 
prepared on an accruals basis and must give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of 
the Clinical Commissioning Group and of its income and expenditure, Statement of 
Financial Position and cash flows for the financial year. 

In preparing the accounts, the Accountable Officer is required to comply with the 
requirements of the Government Financial Reporting Manual and in particular to: 

ω Observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England, including the relevant 
accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies on 
a consistent basis; 

ω Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis; 
ω State whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Government 

Financial Reporting Manual have been followed, and disclose and explain any 
material departures in the accounts; and; 

ω Prepare the accounts on a going concern basis; and 
ω Confirm that the Annual Report and Accounts as a whole is fair, balanced and 

understandable and take personal responsibility for the Annual Report and 
Accounts and the judgements required for determining that it is fair, balanced and 
understandable. 

As the Accountable Officer, I have taken all the steps that I ought to have taken to make 
myself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that BDO auditors are 
aware of that information. So far as I am aware, there is no relevant audit information of 
which the auditors are unaware. 
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I also confirm that:  

ω as far as I am aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the CCGôs 
auditors are unaware, and that as Accountable Officer, I have taken all the steps 
that I ought to have taken to make myself aware of any relevant audit information 
and to establish that the CCGôs auditors are aware of that information.  
 

 

 

Melanie Craig  
Accountable Officer 
23 June 2020  
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Governance statement 

Introduction and context 

NHS North Norfolk CCG was a body corporate established by NHS England on 1 April 
2013 under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended). 

The clinical commissioning groupôs statutory functions are set out under the National Health 
Service Act 2006 (as amended). The CCGôs general function is arranging the provision of 
services for persons for the purposes of the health service in England. The CCG is, in 
particular, required to arrange for the provision of certain health services to such extent as 
it considers necessary to meet the reasonable requirements of its local population.   

As at 1 April 2019, the clinical commissioning group was not subject to any directions from 
NHS England issued under Section 14Z21 of the National Health Service Act 2006. 

Scope of responsibility 

As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal 
control that supports the achievement of the clinical commissioning groupôs policies, aims 
and objectives, whilst safeguarding the public funds and assets for which I am personally 
responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me in Managing Public 
Money. I also acknowledge my responsibilities as set out under the National Health Service 
Act 2006 (as amended) and in my Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable Officer 
Appointment Letter. 

I am responsible for ensuring that the clinical commissioning group is administered 
prudently and economically and that resources are applied efficiently and effectively, 
safeguarding financial propriety and regularity. I also have responsibility for reviewing the 
effectiveness of the system of internal control within the clinical commissioning group as set 
out in this governance statement. 

Governance arrangements and effectiveness 

The main function of the governing body was to ensure that the group had made 
appropriate arrangements for ensuring that it exercises its functions effectively, efficiently 
and economically and complies with such generally accepted principles of good 
governance as are relevant to it.  For further information on the membership and delegated 
responsibilities of the CCGôs committees, please see Membersô Report (page 40). 

 

The CCG Governance Framework 

The CCGôs Constitution 

The CCGôs Constitution was based on the model Constitution Framework which was 
produced by the NHS Commissioning Board (known as NHS England) in October 2012 and 
was agreed by member practices. 

The Constitution set out the way in which the CCG observed the principles of good 
governance in the way it conducted its business including the highest standards of 
propriety, good governance standards for public services, the Nolan Principles, the 
principles set out in the NHS Constitution, the Equality Act and the standards for Members 
of NHS Governing Bodies in England. 

The CCGôs standing orders, together with the CCGôs scheme of reservation and delegation 
and the prime financial policies are contained within the Constitution and provided a 
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procedural framework within which the CCG discharged its business. The CCGôs 
Constitution also set out how the CCG discharged its statutory functions via its Governing 
structure. 

Together with the CCGôs Standards of Business Conduct, the Constitution set out how the 
CCG managed conflicts of interest.  It put in place processes to follow if a conflict of interest 
means that a meeting was not quorate to make a decision and ensures that key principles 
of selflessness, honesty and integrity were upheld.   

The Council of Members 

The CCG was a clinically-led membership organisation made up of 19 general practices 
that provided primary care in North Norfolk and rural Broadland. Practice representatives 
provided clinical strategic direction to the commissioning work of the CCG. They met 
monthly at meetings of the Council of Members, where the Chair of the Governing Body 
provided updates on the work being undertaken.   

The Council of Members had reserved to itself decisions concerning: 

ω The agreement of the CCGôs vision, values and overall strategic direction;  
ω Approval of the overarching Scheme of Reservation and Delegation; 
ω Approval of the arrangements for discharging the groupôs statutory financial duties; 

and 

ω Approval of the appointment, process for recruiting and removing non-elected 
members to the governing body, succession planning and disciplinary 
arrangements for the Governing Body. 

The Council of Members delegated to the Governing Body decisions and activity 
concerning such matters as: 

ω Approval of the arrangements to minimise clinical risk, maximise patient safety and 
secure continuous improvement in quality and patient outcomes; 

ω Approval of the groupôs operating structure, commissioning plan and corporate 
budgets; 

ω Approval of the Terms of Reference and reporting arrangements of all committees 
and sub-committees established by the Membership; and  

ω Receipt of the Annual Management Letter from the External Auditor. 

Attendance at meetings of the Council of Members during 2019/20 was good.  

The following key matters were discussed and taken forward: 

ω Primary Care and System Development ï Primary Care Networks, Integrated care 
System, Norfolk and Waveney joint management; 

ω Primary Care ï Locally Commissioned Services review, unfunded work review, first 
contact physiotherapist pilot, practice secretaries events, over the counter 
medication prescribing not supported, promotion of self-care, improved access, 
workforce, North Norfolk Primary Care retainer scheme; 

ω Whole System Pressures and System Resilience ï NEAT launch, winter pressures 
schemes joint development with primary care, opportunity to shape the winter plan; 

ω Clinical and Pathways Projects ï diabetes incentive scheme, atrial fibrillation 
detection devices, faecal occult testing kits in primary care, hospice at home, risk 
stratification tool, keratosis treatment in the community; 

ω Quality and Safety ï safeguarding information; 
ω Mental Health ï Norfolk and Waveney mental health review and Child and 

Adolescent Mental Health Service review. 
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Joint Strategic Commissioning Committee 

The group established a Joint Strategic Commissioning Committee with the other Norfolk 
and Waveney CCGs; NHS North Norfolk CCG, NHS Norwich CCG, NHS South Norfolk 
CCG, NHS West Norfolk CCG and NHS Great Yarmouth and Waveney CCG. The 
Committee had delegated decision making authority for the strategic commissioning and 
de-commissioning of health care for the populations of the Norfolk and Waveney CCGs 
where there was clear benefit in commissioning at this scale. Membership of this 
Committee comprised the five clinical chairs and Accountable Officers of each of the 
CCGs, a lead Chief Finance Officer, Secondary Care Doctor, Registered Nurse and three 
Lay Members. As the CCG ceased to exist on 31 March 2020 the Committee held its last 
meeting on 18th February 2020.   

The Governing Body and its committees 

The Governing Body was supported by the Executive Management Team, which guided 
the delivery and monitored the performance of day to day business. The Governing Body 
comprised of 12 members including four positions elected by the Membership. This was 
made up of GPs, one of whom is the Chair, a practice manager, four Lay Members, a 
Secondary Care Specialist Doctor, a Registered Nurse, the Accountable Officer and the 
Chief Finance Officer. 

There were changes to the membership of the Governing Body from 1 April 2019 up to 31 
March 2020 when the CCG ceased to exist as follows: 

ω As part of the move to a single management team Melanie Craig was appointed 
Chief Officer on 29 April 2019.  Frank Sims stepped down as Chief Officer on 28 
April 2019. 

ω Helen Stratton stepped down as Chief Finance Officer on 28 April 2019.  John 
Ingham was appointed to the role of Chief Finance Officer on 29 April 2019.   

All Governing Body members finished their roles on 31 March 2020 as the CCG 
ceased to be a legal entity on this date.   

The CCG held five public Governing Body meetings up to 31 March 2020.  A sixth meeting 
due to take place in March 2020 was cancelled due to the outbreak of Covid-19.   

Meetings were held in public to ensure that good governance principles of openness were 
adhered to, with each meeting being well attended.   

Member Name Attendance 

GP Member (Chair)  Dr Anoop Dhesi 5 out of 5 meetings (100%) 

Accountable Officer or nominated 
deputy* 

Melanie Craig 5 out of 5 meetings (100%) 

Chief Finance Officer John Ingham 5 out of 5 meetings (100%) 

Secondary Care Doctor Dr Robert Mallinson 0 out of 5 meetings (0%) 

Registered Nurse Kathy Branson 4 out of 5 meetings (60%) 

GP Member Dr Penny Ayling 5 out of 5 meetings (100%) 

GP Member Dr James Gair 4 out of 5 meetings (80%) 

Lay Member Ms Doris Jamieson 5 out of 5 meetings (100%) 

Lay Member Mr Peter Franzen 5 out of 5 meetings (100%) 

Lay Member Mr Clive Gardner 5 out of 5 meetings (100%) 

Lay Member Mr Stephen Burke 5 out of 5 meetings (100%) 

Practice Manager Member Mr Tony Belham 5 out of 5 meetings (100%) 
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* Note: with the establishment of a new single management team across the Norfolk & 
Waveney CCGs it was not possible for all Executive Directors to attend all meetings in 
each CCG.  However, quoracy was maintained and key functions were covered via 
deputisation where appropriate. 

Additional private meetings were held throughout the year to discuss matters where the 
wider public interest or commercial confidentiality clearly required it. 

As a clinically led organisation the CCGôs Constitution provided that to be quorate a 
minimum of seven members were required to be present with at least three clinical 
members, one member who is an officer and one member who is a lay member. 

The minutes of the Governing Body held in public are available at 
http://tnaqa.mirrorweb.com/20200325121903tf_/https://www.northnorfolkccg.nhs.uk/ 

The Governing Body frequently discussed the following topics at its meetings: 

ω The quality and safety of patient care; 
ω Strategic / operational service redesign plans; 
ω Performance against the national priorities set out in the NHS Outcomes 

Framework 2019/20;  
ω Financial management; 
ω The delivery of QIPP schemes;  
ω The review and approval of undertakings concerning the CCGôs compliance with 

EPRR Core Standards; and  
ω Governance and the discharge of statutory functions. 

The Governing Body last completed a self-assessment of its own performance and 
effectiveness during 2018/19. The findings from the self-assessment were that the 
Governing Body was effective during 2018/19.  It was noted that more time for strategic 
matters would be helpful as would a more targeted agenda to ensure prioritisation for key 
matters.   

This was discussed at a Governing Body meeting on 23 April 2019.  As the CCG ceased to 
exist on 31 March 2020 a further self-assessment was not undertaken. 

Committees of the Governing Body  

The following committees were established by the Governing Body: 

ω Audit Committee;  
ω Remuneration and Terms of Service Committee;  
ω Quality and Patient Safety Assurance Committee (formerly the Patient Experience, 

Safety and Quality Committee);  
ω Finance and Performance Committee;  
ω Conflict of Interests Governance Committee; and   
ω Primary Care Commissioning Committee.  

The Audit Committee 

The Audit Committee was comprised of: 

ω All four lay members of the Governing Body; and  
ω One of the Governing Bodyôs elected practice managers. 

The members of the Audit Committee are set out below and in the Members Report at 
page 40. 

http://tnaqa.mirrorweb.com/20200325121903tf_/https:/www.northnorfolkccg.nhs.uk/
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During the period 1 April 2019 to 31 March 2020 there were six Audit Committee meetings.  
Attendance at meetings of the Audit Committee during 2019/20 was good. The Chief 
Finance Officer was required to attend, but is not a member.   

Membership of the Audit Committee together with their attendance record is provided in the 
table below: 

Member Name Attendance 

Lay Member Audit (Chair)  Ms Doris Jamieson  6 out of 6 meetings (100%) 

Lay Member Mr Peter Franzen  6 out of 6 meetings (100%) 

Lay Member Mr Clive Gardner 4 out of 6 meetings (66%) 

Lay Member Mr Stephen Burke 4 out of 6 meetings (66%) 

Practice Manager Mr Tony Belham 1 out of 6 meetings (17%) 
 

A report following each meeting was made to the next meeting of the Governing Body in 
public.   

During 2019/20 members reviewed areas of high strategic risk within the overall Assurance 
Framework at every meeting and considered reports into the outcomes of internal and 
service auditor work, from external audit and the Local Counter Fraud Service. The 
Committee explored the value and principles of óDeep Divesô relating to key areas of risk.  
Key areas of work of the Audit Committee in 2019/20 included: 

ω Monitoring the work of Internal Audit, External Audit and Counter Fraud; 
ω Reviewing the Governing Body Assurance Framework and providing assurance to 

the Governing Body; 
ω Approval of the LCFS Annual Work-Plan; 
ω Review and approval of arrangements for GDPR compliance; 
ω Reviewing the Committeeôs terms of reference;  
ω Review of Standing Order, Scheme of Reservation and Delegation, Prime Financial 

Polices and Compliance with Statutory Regulations; and 
ω Scrutiny of the Annual Report and Accounts. 

The Committee also undertook the routine scrutiny of the registers of: 

ω Losses and Special Payments; 
ω Fraud Alerts; 
ω Procurement Decisions; 
ω Tender Waivers; 
ω Policy Approval; and 
ω Gifts and Hospitality.  

The Committee undertook a self-assessment to review the processes of the Committee as 
well as its effectiveness in April 2019. The findings from this self-assessment were that the 
committee was effective.  In July 2019 the Committee began meeting in common with NHS 
South Norfolk CCG Audit Committee in preparation of bringing together the functions of 
Norfolkôs five CCGs.  

The Finance and Performance Committee 

The Governing Body delegated to the Finance and Performance Committee the 
responsibility for: 

ω Monitoring delivery of the Medium-Term Financial Plan;  
ω Monitoring service procurement, ensuring that robust financial evaluation is 

undertaken and attendant problems identified and reported;  
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ω Receiving a detailed report at each meeting concerning the CCGôs financial 
performance, to incorporate: 
- the underlying position; 
- variance from plan; 
- action to address variance;  
- year to date performance against, and forecast outturn for, budgets, contracts, 

the Quality, Innovation, Productivity and Prevention Programme (QIPP) and 
other key financial and activity performance indicators; and 

- risks to financial delivery; 
ω Approving all budget movements actioned subsequent to formal approval of the 

financial plan; 
ω Reviewing the CCGôs financial statements and any formal announcements relating 
to the CCGôs financial performance; 

ω Scrutinising the financial plan for 2019/20 and making recommendations on 
adoption to the Governing Body; 

ω Understanding the drivers behind any variances against QIPP plans and ensure 
that the relevant Project Managers have identified possible risks and have 
mitigating actions in place to address these;  

ω Scrutinising the Operational Risk Register in relation to finance and activity 
performance, including QIPP;  

ω Oversight of the CCGôs activity performance in all other areas, including against key 
contracts and key providers, to ensure that where plans are in place to improve 
performance activity or reduce financial risk to the CCG, the committee monitors 
progress and performance against these plans; and 

ω Scrutinising activity in relation to recommendations arising from the internal audit of 
finance functions. 

Since 1 April 2018 NHS North Norfolk CCG and NHS South Norfolk CCG have had a 
Finance and Performance Committee in Common. This recognises that many finance and 
performance related issues are shared by the two CCGs. The working relationship provided 
joint benefits, examples being the QIPP programme, finance policies, cost saving initiatives 
etc. It was also a more efficient use of time for the joint management team in terms of 
preparation and engagement.  Meeting in common also allowed members of the respective 
Finance and Performance Committees to compare notes on matters which affected both 
their CCGs, whilst handling reserved matters in their own Finance and Performance 
Committee.   

The Finance and Performance Committee met 10 times from April 2019 up to 31 March 
2020.  Each meeting was well attended.  Note that the Committee did not meet in April 
2019 and the March 2020 meeting was cancelled due to the outbreak of the Covid-19.   

Member Name Attendance 

Lay Member (Chair)  Mr Stephen Burke 9 out of 10 meetings (90%) 

Lay Member  Mr Peter Franzen 9 out of 10 meetings (90%) 

Lay Member Ms Doris Jamieson 10 out of 10 meetings (100%) 
 

Key pieces of work undertaken to secure assurance included: 

ω Review of the membership, terms of reference, remit and relationship with the 
CCGôs Governing Body;  

ω Identification, review and mitigation of the financial risks;  
ω Focussed particularly on the challenges, issues and progress in addressing 

increases in acute services demand and costs;  
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ω Reviewing all significant under and overspends each month ï when appropriate the 
relevant service managers have been asked to attend meetings to provide detailed 
explanations of variances;  

ω Progress of the QIPP Programme in relation to the realisation of savings to support 
the financial plan; and 

ω The early development and approval of Financial Plans.  

The Quality and Patient Safety Assurance Committee 

The Quality and Patient Safety Assurance Committee was accountable to the Governing 
Body. The Committee provided the Governing Body with assurance in relation to the quality 
and safety of its commissioned services and the internal process to support safe, effective, 
and continuous improvement in services. 

The membership of the Committee was as follows: 

ω The Governing Body Nurse from NHS North Norfolk CCG;  
ω The Secondary Care Specialist Doctor from NHS North Norfolk CCG;  
ω One GP Governing body member; and 
ω One Lay member.  

The Committee had met as Committees in Common with NHS South Norfolk CCG Quality 
Committee since 2017 and with NHS Norwich CCG Quality Committee since September 
2019.  Committees in Common share identical agendas and papers and allow for a single 
discussion of each agenda item.  The committees remain separate and must make their 
own decisions.  

The work of this committee provided a structure by which to review the safety and quality of 
both the CCGôs commissioned services and its own processes. It provided assurance to 
the Governing Body concerning the quality and safety performance relating to all of the 
CCGôs providers which included NHS providers, private providers, care homes and 
domiciliary providers who work on behalf of the CCG or within its locality delivering health 
and social care services to patients.  The Committee did this formally via a report from the 
Chair to each meeting of the Governing Body in public.   

The Quality and Patient Safety Assurance Committee reviewed quality and patient safety 
reports, and comments and agreed actions on clinical risk. The Committee ensured such 
risks were documented, monitored, and mitigated where possible. The Committee identified 
learning and improvement opportunities and communicated them appropriately.  Where 
appropriate it provided reports to external bodies. 

The Committee had oversight of the quality and governance of various areas of work in 
2019/20 including: 

ω Successful integration of three Quality Committees into a single ómeeting in 
commonô across North and South Norfolk CCGôs; 

ω Development and Implementation of a new Serious Incident Reporting Framework 
for Primary Care;  

ω Collaboration with Norwich CCG to develop a new provider framework for Mental 
Health Transport; 

ω Secured additional investment into revised and enhanced Adult Safeguarding 
Structure across the STP; and 

ω Continued quality assurance and improvement of providers to better understand 
gaps in clinical pathways in relation to quality and patient safety. 

The committee also reviewed the number and type of referrals made for Adult and 
Childrenôs safeguarding and focussed on identifying gaps in reporting by health providers. 
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In total the Quality and Patient Safety Assurance Committee met nine times during 2019/20 
and was well attended. The March 2020 meeting was cancelled due to the Covid-19 
outbreak.   

Member Name Attendance 

Registered Nurse (Chair)  Ms Kathy Branson 7 out of 9 meetings (77%) 

GP Member Dr James Gair 4 out of 9 meetings (44%) 

Lay Member Mr Clive Gardner 8 out of 9 meetings (88%) 

Secondary Care Doctor Dr Robert Mallinson 6 out of 9 meetings (66%) 

The Remuneration and Terms of Service Committee 

The Remuneration and Terms of Service Committee was accountable to the Governing 
Body. The Committee made recommendations to the Governing Body about the pay and 
remuneration for employees of the CCG and others who provided services to the CCG. 

From 1 April 2019 the Committee membership comprised of: 

ω Three lay members, one of whom chairs the committee;   
ω One elected practice manager member of the Governing Body; and 
ω Secondary care doctor or registered nurse on the Governing Body. 

Since 1 April 2019 and up to the 31 March 2020 the Remuneration and Terms of Service 
Committee met five times. One of these meetings was the Committee meeting on its own 
and four meetings as Committees in Common with the other Norfolk and Waveney CCGsô 
Remuneration Committees.   

Each meeting has been well attended. 

Member Name Attendance 

Lay Member Audit Ms Doris Jamieson 4 out of 5 meetings (80%) 

Lay Member Mr Peter Franzen 5 out of 5 meetings (100%) 

Lay Member Mr Clive Gardner 1 out of 5 meetings (20%) 

Registered Nurse Ms Kathy Branson 4 out of 5 meetings (80%) 

Lay Member Mr Stephen Burke 1 out of 5 meetings (20%) 

Practice Manager Mr Tony Belham 4 out of 5 meetings (80%) 
 

Highlights of the Committeeôs work in 2019/20 included: 

ω Reviewing the remuneration for the healthcare professional member of the 
Governing Body ; and 

ω Reviewing and agreeing recommendations to Governing Body on executive level 
pay. 

The Conflicts of Interest Committee 

The committee was established to ensure that all proposals to provide locally 
commissioned services in primary care were commissioned in a consistent and transparent 
way, avoiding conflict of interest. 

Membership of this committee consisted of the following: 

ω Chief Finance Officer; 
ω Accountable Officer (provided this is a management post and not clinical); 
ω Lay member with a lead role in overseeing financial management and audit; 
ω Lay member with a lead role in championing patient and public involvement; 
ω Additional lay members; 
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ω Secondary Care Doctor; and 
ω Registered Nurse. 

The Committeeôs last meeting was in March 2019.  This is because no decisions were 
needed that could not be made by either the Governing Body or Primary Care 
Commissioning Committee.   

Primary Care Commissioning Committee  

The Primary Care Commissioning Committee was formally established on 1 April 2017. 
The role of this committee was to carry out the functions relating to the commissioning of 
primary medical services except those that relate to individual GP performance 
management which have been reserved to NHS England.   

The voting members of the Committee are as follows: 

ω Two Lay Members from NHS North Norfolk CCG; 
ω Two Executive Members from NHS North Norfolk CCG; 
ω The Registered nurse or Secondary Care Doctor from NHS North Norfolk CCG. 

Since 1 April 2019 and up to 31 March 2020 the committee five times as Committees in 
Common with NHS South Norfolk CCG.  

Member Name Attendance 

Lay Member (Chair)  Mr Peter Franzen 5 out of 5 meetings (100%) 

Lay Member  Mr Stephen Burke 1 out of 5 meetings (20%) 

Lay Member Mr Clive Gardner 3 out of 5 meetings (60% 

Registered nurse Ms Kathy Branson 2 out of 5 meetings (0%) 

Accountable Officer* Ms Melanie Craig 0 out of 5 meetings (0%) 

Secondary Care Doctor Dr Robert Mallinson 0 out of 5 meetings (0%) 

Chief Finance Officer* Mr John Ingham 0 out of 5 meetings (0%) 
 

* Note: with the establishment of a new single management team across the Norfolk & 
Waveney CCGs it was not possible for all Executive Directors to attend all meetings in 
each CCG.  However, quoracy was maintained and key functions were covered via 
deputisation where appropriate. 
 

Some of the highlights of the work of the committee in 2019/20 included: 

ω Establishment of a primary care dashboard which assists in the monitoring of our 
contracts with the 19 GP practices; 

ω Reviewed practice list closure applications; 
ω Reviewed NHS England primary care budgets; 
ω Sought assurance from NHS England as to the actions being taken to support and 

improve the newly awarded Primary Care Services England contract; 

ω Approved support programmes, e.g. GP Resilience funding and support for 
practices 

ω Monitored CQC outcomes; 
ω Offered practices support, if required; and 
ω Supported the development and offering of a new Locally Commissioned Services 

(LCS) Shared Care Agreement to primary care. 

Executive Management Team Meeting  

With the development of the single management team across the five Norfolk and 
Waveney CCGS, an Executive Management Team (EMT) was created comprising the 
Accountable Officer, Chief Finance Officer and the six Executive Directors. It is the 
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operational forum for exercising the Accountable Officer and Chief Finance Officerôs 
authority under the CCGôs Scheme of Reservation and Delegation. It is not, however, a 
formal sub-committee of the Governing Body. Meeting weekly, the EMT monitored the 
operational discharge of statutory duties, approved corporate contracts and policies, 
oversaw HR and organisational development and establishment control and monitored 
budgets. The EMT reported relevant items to the Governing Body via the Accountable 
Officerôs report.  

UK Corporate Governance Code 

NHS Bodies are not required to comply with the UK Code of Corporate Governance.  

 

Discharge of statutory functions 

In light of recommendations of the 1983 Harris Review, the clinical commissioning group 
has reviewed all of the statutory duties and powers conferred on it by the National Health 
Service Act 2006 (as amended) and other associated legislative and regulations. As a 
result, I can confirm that the clinical commissioning group is clear about the legislative 
requirements associated with each of the statutory functions for which it is responsible, 
including any restrictions on delegation of those functions. 

Responsibility for each duty and power has been clearly allocated to a lead Director. 
Directorates have confirmed that their structures provide the necessary capability and 
capacity to undertake all of the clinical commissioning groupôs statutory duties. 

 

Risk management arrangements and effectiveness  

The CCG Risk Management Framework 

As Accountable Officer I have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the system of 
internal control within the CCG. 

The CCGôs Assurance Framework for the Management of Risk was a comprehensive 
structure for the effective and focused management of the principal risks to the delivery of 
the organisationôs strategic objectives. The Framework supported staff to ensure that all 
major projects are risk assessed and mitigated against to ensure delivery.   

Risks were identified and assigned owners who manage and quantify the risk in terms of 
likelihood and consequence. In this way risks are identified and mitigated in a structured, 
consistent way with an acceptable level of exposure to risk.   

By managing risks in this way the CCG managed the escalation of risks as well as 
preventing risks from occurring. The CCGôs appetite is to minimise risks to the delivery of 
quality services. 

The Framework ensured risks have clear ownership and that managers and staff 
understood their personal accountability, authority and responsibilities for risk management 
through appraisal and induction. All major projects, tasks, partnerships and new business 
initiatives were risk-assessed with the steps taken to mitigate against the risk detailed to 
ensure delivery.  

The CCG developed a risk management process to ensure that risk is managed and 
understood at all levels of the organisation. This meant that the CCGôs Executive 
Management Team meeting reviewed the organisationôs risks on a monthly basis. In this 
way the risks remained under regular consideration and review. When changes were 
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proposed they are discussed and agreed so that risk assessment is part of a moderated 
process.   

The CCGôs Audit Committee also reviewed the Governing Body Assurance Framework 
(GBAF) in its meetings including deep dive assessments of high priority risks on a sample 
basis. The Governing Body also reviewed the GBAF at each public meeting.  Members of 
the public were able to see the GBAF and raise questions or queries via the ócontact usô 
section of the website. 

The CCGôs committee report template included a section asking the writer to consider and 
identify key risks that the information in the paper raises and this was used for Governing 
Body and Council of Member meetings as well as committee meetings. In this way, risk 
was considered throughout the CCGôs governance structure and made clear to the reader. 
These were then discussed as part of the paper presentation. 

The CCG had both formal and informal mechanisms for identifying risks to achieving its 
objectives.  One element of pro-active risk management is prevention. Prevention was 
embedded within the operation of the CCG through: 

ω Incident reporting which recognised that the vast majority of NHS patients receive 
high standards of care but acknowledges that incidents do occur and encourages 
prompt reporting as a key part of risk management; 

ω The risk evaluation of every decision the Governing Body and its committees are 
asked to make; and 

ω The impact assessment of all policies, practices, procedures and decisions to 
ensure equality and diversity compliance. 

The CCG derives assurance concerning the degree to which preventative measures are 
working from the following wide range of sources: 

ω Audit Committee; 
ω Finance and Performance Committee; 
ω Quality and Patient Safety Assurance Committee; 
ω Internal audit; 
ω External audit; 
ω Local counter-fraud intelligence; 
ω NHS England; 
ω Health and Social Care Information Centre; 
ω Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee; 
ω HealthWatch Norfolk; 
ω Care Quality Commission; and  
ω Monitor.   

The table below sets out how some of the CCGôs control mechanisms protected the CCG: 

Prevention of risk 

 

Through the processes mentioned above the CCG regularly horizon 
scanned to identify potential areas of risk. In addition, the CCG uses 
its experience of and learning from adverse events to ensure that 
lessons were learnt.  Preventative measures included: 

ω Policy development; 
ω Identifying and ensuring that staff complied with mandatory 

training requirements; 
ω Establishing risk-sharing agreements; 
ω Root cause analysis of incidents 
ω Mandating limits to decision making authority; and 
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ω Ensuring secure access to IT systems. 

Deterrent to risks 

 

The CCGôs reliance on external organisations exposed the CCG to 
some risk of fraud and bribery.  Internal controls were in place and 
the CCG has a robust programme of counter fraud and anti-bribery 
activity to mitigate against these risks. The CCG was supported by a 
Local Counter Fraud specialist who is a regular attendee at Audit 
Committee meetings and produced an annual work plan which 
further mitigated against these risks.   

Management of current 
risks 

Current risks were managed through a number of systems and 
include: 

ω Review by committee and governing body meetings as well as 
Executive Management Team meetings; 

ω Finance and Performance reports to the Governing Body; and 
ω Robust programme of counter fraud and anti-bribery supported 

by the Local Counter Fraud Specialist. 

 

In addition to the above, and as part of the assurance process, the CCG met with NHS 
England to discuss risks to the organisation that could impact on it achieving its objectives. 

The CCG supported a positive risk management culture which promoted safety, fosters 
learning and empowers all staff to make sound judgements and decisions concerning the 
management of risk.   

Capacity to handle risk  

The CCGôs Risk Management Strategy and Policy Framework supported a positive staff 
attitude to risk management, encouraging staff to identify, assess and report risks.  Staff 
were clear about their personal accountability and responsibilities through appraisal, 
induction and on-going training. Support was given to risk owners by the Corporate Affairs 
Team to share good practice.  

Each team held its own risk register escalating areas of risk to the CCGôs directors via 
executive management team meetings. At these meetings risks are discussed and 
escalated as appropriate on to the Governing Body Assurance Framework. This ensured 
that changes to risk registers were debated and agreed at the executive management team 
before being put on to the register.   

To provide further assurance the Audit Committee reviewed the Governing Body 
Assurance Framework. The Governing Body received the Governing Body Assurance 
Framework at each pubic meeting. 

The CCG continued to learn and develop its approach to risk management, drawing on 
best practice from neighbouring CCGs and recommendations from the internal auditors.  

Risk assessment  

A risk assessment, review and reporting process is described in the CCGôs Constitution 
and Assurance Framework for the Management of Risk.  Risks were evaluated in terms of 
the likelihood and consequence of their occurring using a classification matrix system.   

In order to assess the risk it is first necessary to determine the likelihood of the risk 
occurring. This may be rare, unlikely, possible, likely or almost certain with each one 
graded on a scale of 1 (rare) to 5 (almost certain).   
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Once this is assessed, a domain is selected that relates to the type of risk. The domain 
options include: safety of patients, staff and the public, statutory duty, adverse 
publicity/reputation etc.  Against each domain will be a consequence descriptor (negligible, 
minor, moderate, major, and catastrophic) again with a rating of 1 (negligible) to 5 
(catastrophic).  By multiplying the scores for the likelihood against the consequence score 
the risk is given a rating. 

All risks were maintained on a central register, the GBAF, and discussed by the Executive 
Management Team to ensure that the appropriate mitigations, controls and ratings were 
given. The GBAF was then reviewed by the Audit Committee with regular deep dives into 
particular risk areas. The Governing Body received the GBAF at each public meeting. 

The major risks for the CCG were as follows: 

Risk Area Risk Management of risk Outcome assessed by 

Finance Risk of not 
achieving 
financial balance 

Project Management 
Office function in place to 
support the achievement 
of QIPP with robust 
monitoring through weekly 
management meetings. 
Ensuring sufficient staff 
capacity in the 
organisation. 

Regular reports and robust 
monitoring to finance and 
performance committee and 
GB. 

QIPP targets monitoring. 

Commissioning Risk of failure to 
achieve 
constitutional 
standards 

Remedial Action plans in 
place and under constant 
review of provider 
capacity. Winter Room 
team established to 
support urgent and 
emergency care 
performance. 

Monitoring and evaluation 
through Service Performance 
Review Group and Clinical 
Quality Review Meeting 
(CQRM). Reports are 
received by the executive 
team and also Governing 
Body. 

Quality and 
Safety 

Risk of failure of 
local providers 
due to poor 
quality services 

Quality Improvement 
Plans. Contractual levers 
in place including robust 
Quality Schedules 

Monitored by CCG with 
providers through the CQRM 
and Oversight and Assurance 
Group.  External assurance 
NHS Improvement/ England 
and CQC. CCG assurance 
through Quality and Patient 
Safety Assurance committee 
and GB.  

Commissioning Risk of failure to 
manage demand 
and the 
consequential 
impact on 
finance and 
constitutional 
standard delivery 

Demand management 
plan developed and being 
reported to NHS England. 
Demand management 
principles incorporated 
into QIPP programme and 
the consequential scrutiny 
of it. 

Regular reports to NHS 
England, QIPP programme 
board and Finance and 
Performance Committee. 

 

A newly identified risk during 2019/20 was the risk of failure to manage business as usual 
due to capacity and workload as part of the closure of all five Norfolk & Waveney CCGs 
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and the establishment of a single new organisation covering Norfolk and Waveney with 
effect from 1 April 2020. 

 

The emergence of Covid-19 outbreak during the final quarter of the CCGôs existence 
created new and unprecedented challenges.  The NHS declared a major incident in March 
2020 and the CCG was required to establish an Emergency Incident Control Centre (ICC) 
as part of our obligations under the Civil Contingencies Act.  The ICC is a key function to 
support the command, control and communication arrangements which resulted in staff 
being redeployed as necessary to support key services. 

 

Other sources of assurance  

Internal control framework 

A system of internal control is the set of processes and procedures in place in the clinical 
commissioning group to ensure it delivers its policies, aims and objectives. It is designed to 
identify and prioritise the risks, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and 
the impact should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and 
economically. 

The system of internal control allows risk to be managed to a reasonable level rather than 
eliminating all risk; it can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of 
effectiveness. 

The Governing Body assured itself that the organisation had effective control via regular 
reporting of the highest red rated risks to the Governing Body and delegating to its Audit 
Committee the review of the full assurance framework at each meeting.  In addition, the 
Audit Committee was delegated the role of reviewing the establishment and maintenance 
of an effective system of integrated governance, risk management and internal control 
across the whole of the CCGôs activities. 

The CCG established the Quality and Patient Safety Assurance Committee to seek 
assurance that robust clinical quality is in place. This Committee regularly reported to the 
Governing Body. 

Internal Audit provided regular reports to the Audit Committee on key areas as set out in its 
audit plan. This plan was agreed by the Audit Committee at the beginning of the year and 
updated throughout. 

The CCGôs external auditors, BDO, were appointed to examine its financial statements and 
accounting records. Members of the External Audit team attended meetings of the CCGôs 
Audit Committee routinely to ensure they developed a robust overview of daily business, 
including risk management. 

Other control mechanisms included: 

¶ Financial Plan and Reporting; 

¶ Performance Reporting; 

¶ The Serious Incident (SI) process for reporting and investigating serious incidents; 

¶ Adoption and review of various policies; 

¶ Regular assurance reviews with NHS England; 

¶ Quality and Patent Safety team in carrying out unannounced visits, inspections, 
monitoring provider serious incidents and risks and reviewing governance trends 
reports and reporting findings back to the Quality Committee; 
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¶ The Information Governance lead, Senior Information Risk Officer and Caldicott 
Guardian who review data security, IT security, the CCGôs obligations under the 
Data Protection Act 2018, implementation of the General Data Protection 
Regulations and progress with the Data Security Protection Toolkit; and 

¶ The work of the Local Counter Fraud Specialist. 

 

Annual audit of conflicts of interest management  

The revised statutory guidance on managing conflicts of interest for CCGs (published June 
2016) requires CCGs to undertake an annual internal audit of conflicts of interest 
management. To support CCGs to undertake this task, NHS England has published a 
template audit framework.  

The CCGôs Internal Auditors completed the conflicts of interest audit in March 2020. The 
finding from this audit was that reasonable assurance could be provided on the CCGs 
management of Conflicts of Interest. The CCG also ensured that staff and Governing Body 
members complete conflicts of interest training.  At the time of submission of this report 
95.32% of relevant people have completed conflicts of interest training.  

As part of conflicts of interest management the CCG maintains a Register of Interests. The 
registers are updated throughout the year, however as part of the move to a single CCG 
and due to the impact of Covid-19 with staff being redeployed, it was not possible to update 
the register and confirm the number of outstanding submissions prior to the CCG ceasing 
to exist on 31 March 2020.  

The CCGôs Conflicts of Interest Guardian was Doris Jamieson, the Lay Member for 
governance and audit and the Audit Committee chair. 

Data quality 

The CCG recognised the need to provide accurate, timely and clear information to both the 
Governing Body and the Membership Body (Council of Members).  Papers for the 
Governing Body were provided one week in advance of the meeting with papers for the 
Council of Members meetings circulated two weeks in advance where possible and 
emailed to each Member. This gave Members time to read and adequately prepare in 
advance of the meeting so that they could fully contribute to it. Papers were also reviewed 
by senior management prior to distribution to ensure that they were clear and complete. 

Governing Body members also considered the following statements in relation to the quality 
of data as part of their annual self-assessment in April 2019 as follows: 

¶ óThe information presented to the Governing body is fit for purpose in terms of 
scope, quality, relevance, reliability, timeliness and presentationô.  Governing Body 
members concluded that quality of information was adequate but that timing of 
papers could be improved; and    

¶ óThe Governing body receives sufficient, high quality information about the services 
the CCG commissionsô.  Governing Body members concluded that this is also 
adequate, but that more information is needed for reporting on primary care. 

Information governance 

The NHS Information Governance Framework sets the processes and procedures by which 
the NHS handles information about patients and employees, in particular personal 
identifiable information. The NHS Information Governance Framework is supported by an 
information governance toolkit and the annual submission process provides assurances to 
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the clinical commissioning group, other organisations and to individuals that personal 
information is dealt with legally, securely, efficiently and effectively. The IG toolkit was 
updated for 2019 and named the Data Security and Protection Toolkit. This online self-
assessment tool allows organisations to measure their performance against the National 
Data Guardianôs 10 data security standards, but does not allocate a level as in previous 
years.  The CCG met the required standards and is compliant with requirements. 

The CCG placed high importance on ensuring there were robust information governance 
systems and processes in place to help protect patient and corporate information. The 
CCG had established an information governance management framework and have 
developed information governance processes and procedures in line with the information 
governance toolkit.  The CCG ensured all staff undertook annual information governance 
training and had implemented a staff information governance handbook to ensure staff 
were aware of their information governance roles and responsibilities. 

There were processes in place for incident reporting and investigation of serious incidents. 
The CCG had developed information risk assessment and management procedures and a 
programme to fully embed an information risk culture throughout the organisation against 
identified risks.  

The CCGôs management of risks to data security was informed by the Serious Incident and 
Never Event Policy (SI&NE) and the Information Governance and Data Protection Policy. 
These policies reinforced the role of the Senior Information Risk Owner (SIRO) who was 
responsible for: 

¶ Ownership of the CCGôs information risks;  

¶ Advocacy for information risk and accountable to the CCGôs Governing Body; and 

¶ Ensuring the effective management and identification of the CCGôs information 
assets, associated risks and mitigating action.  

The SI &NE policy also set out the CCGôs obligation to report incidents which met the 
criteria for a Level 2 IG SIRI. 

An audit of Data Security Management Toolkit in February 2020 found that there was 
substantial assurance. 

Business critical models 

The CCG reviewed the Macpherson Report and has concluded that it did not operate 
business critical models. The CCGôs approach to quality assurance was to ensure there 
was transparency, periodic review and staff competency to ensure processes and 
information that feed into decision-making were of suitable quality. Processes and systems 
to ensure good version control, testing and scrutiny of systems, as well as internal and 
external audits, as appropriate, were in place.  Where possible, the CCG used standard 
NHS approaches to ensure that every process can be audited. 

Third party assurances 

Provider and 
Services Delivered 

Comment 

NHS Shared Business 
Services:  
Finance and 
Accounting 

Basis for Qualified Opinion 
As stated in managementôs statement, for the period 16 March 2020 to 31 
March 2020, access to the Service Organisationôs India sites was restricted as 
a result of Covid-19 and the Indian Governmentôs lock-down requirements and 
we were prevented access, which meant we were unable to obtain evidence in 
respect of certain controls for the months of February 2020 and/or March 2020.  
It was not possible to obtain such evidence by alternative means, to complete 
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SAR for the period 1 
April 2019 to 31 March 
2020 

our sample testing of the operation of specified controls for the months of 
February 2020 and/or March 2020. 
 
Qualified Opinion 
In PWCôs opinion, in all material respects, except for the possible effect of the 
matters described in the óBasis for qualified opinionô paragraph above, based 
on the criteria described in the Service Organisationôs statement, 
Å the description in Sections III and IV fairly presents the Service 
Organisationôs Finance and Accounting controls as designed and 
implemented throughout the period 1 April 2019 to 31 March 2020;  
Å the controls related to the control objectives stated in the description were 

suitably designed to provide reasonable assurance that the specified control 
objectives would be achieved if the described controls operated effectively 
throughout the period 1 April 2019 to 31 March 2020 and customers applied 
the complementary controls referred to in the scope paragraph of this 
assurance report; and  
Å the controls tested, which, together with the complementary user entity 

controls referred to in the scope paragraph of this assurance report, if 
operating effectively, were those necessary to provide reasonable assurance 
that the control objectives stated in the description were achieved, operated 
effectively throughout the period from 1 April 2019 to 31 March 2020.  

 

NHS Shared Business 
Services:  
Prescription Payments  
SAR for the period 1 
April 2019 to 31 March 
2020 

Opinion 
In PWCôs opinion, in all material respects, based on the criteria described in 
the Service Organisationôs statement in section I: 
Å the description in sections III and IV fairly presents the Service 
Organisationôs prescription payments services as designed and implemented 
throughout the period 1 April 2019 to 31 March 2020;  
Å the controls related to the control objectives stated in the description were 

suitably designed to provide reasonable assurance that the specified control 
objectives would be achieved if the described controls operated effectively 
throughout the period 1 April 2019 to 31 March 2020 and customers applied 
the complementary controls referred to in the scope paragraph of this 
assurance report; and  
Å the controls tested, which, together with the complementary user entity 

controls referred to in the scope paragraph of this assurance report, if 
operating effectively, were those necessary to provide reasonable assurance 
that the control objectives stated in the description were achieved, operated 
effectively throughout the period from 1 April 2019 to 31 March 2020.  

 

NHS Digital:  
GP Payments to 
providers of General 
Practice services in 
England 

Basis for qualified opinion 
As stated in Managementôs Statement, instances have been identified where 
Control 10 (under Control Objective 4) was not operated as designed. As 
stated in the control description within Section IV of the Report, we identified 
that: 
Å Under Control Objective 4, for Control 10, for two out of our sample of nine, 

there was no evidence that approval had been sought and / or received from 
the Technical Architecture Team prior to implementation of a system change. 
As a result, Control 10 did not operate as designed. 

As a consequence, we have not been able to obtain sufficient appropriate 
evidence that controls were operating effectively to achieve the following 
control objective for the period 1 April 2019 to 31 March 2020: 
Å Control Objective 4: Controls are in place to provide reasonable assurance 

that system change cannot be undertaken unless valid, authorised and 
tested. 

 
Qualified Opinion 
In PWCôs opinion, in all material respects, except for the matter described in 
the óBasis for qualified opinionô paragraph above, based on the criteria 
described in the Service Organisationôs statement on pages 5 ï 7: 
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Å the description in Sections III and IV fairly presents the Service 
Organisationôs General Practitioners Payments as designed and 
implemented throughout the period 1 April 2019 to 31 March 2020; 

 
Å the controls related to the control objectives stated in the description were 

suitably designed to provide reasonable assurance that the specified control 
objectives would be achieved if the described controls operated effectively 
throughout the period 1 April 2019 to 31 March 2020 and customers applied 
the complementary controls referred to in the scope paragraph of this 
assurance report; and 

 

Å the controls tested, which, together with the complementary user entity 
controls referred to in the scope paragraph of this assurance report, if 
operating effectively, were those necessary to provide reasonable assurance 
that the control objectives stated in the description were achieved, operated 

effectively throughout the period from 1 April 2019 to 31 March 2020. 
 

AGEM CSU Financial 
Ledger 

¶ Accounts Payable 

¶ Accounts 
Receivable 

¶ Financial Reporting 

¶ Treasury & Cash 
Management 

¶ Payroll 
 
Final Service Auditor 
Report Type II 
01.04.19 ï 31.03.20 
 

In Delotteôs opinion, in all material respects, based on the criteria including 
specified control objectives described in the directorsô statement on pages 7 
and 8:  
(i) the description in Sections 3 and 4 fairly presents the service organisation 

activities that were designed and implemented throughout the period from 
1 April 2019 to 31 March 2020;  

(ii) the controls related to the control objectives stated in the description on 
pages 13 to 22 and pages 28 to 70 were suitably designed to provide 
reasonable assurance that the specified control objectives would be 
achieved if the described controls operated effectively throughout the 
period from 1 April 2019 to 31 March 2020; and  

(iii) the controls that we tested were operating with sufficient effectiveness to 
provide reasonable assurance that the related control objectives stated in 
the description were achieved throughout the period from 1 April 2019 to 
31 March 2020. 

Capita Services Ltd  
Primary care support 
services to NHS 
England and 
delegated CCGs. 

Basis for Qualified Opinion  
Capita provide a range of payment and pensions administration services under 
the PCSE contract.  Mazars have reviewed the control objectives within the 
services provided by Capita and have concluded that:  
 

With respect to control objective 4, Capita state in their Description that they 
have controls in place to verify that requests for retirement submitted using 
AW8 forms are approved by the NHS Service Management Team (SMT) or 
CCG for the respective region and applications must be approved with certain 
defined identification. However, during the period 1 April 2019 to 31 March 
2020, as noted on page 35 of the Description, the above-mentioned approvals 
and accompanying IDs could not be evidenced.  
 

Furthermore, Capita state in their Description that they have controls in place 
to verify that retirement applications are recorded completely and accurately in 
the Pensions Online and National Health and Infrastructure Services (NHAIS) 
systems based on the AW8 forms. However, during the months of April to 
September 2019 and the month of March 2020, Capita recognise this control 
was not operating. These issues have resulted in the non-achievement of the 
control objective óControls provide reasonable assurance that GPs and Other 
Medical Practitioners (OMPs) pensions are calculated and deducted/paid 
completely and accurately based on a signed request formó. 
 

Qualified Opinion  
In Mazars opinion, in all material respects, except for the matters discussed 
above:  
(a) The Description fairly presents the control systems as designed and 
implemented throughout the period from 1 April 2019 to 31 March 2020;  
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(b) The controls related to the control objectives stated in the Description were 
suitably designed throughout the period from 1 April 2019 to 31 March 2020; 
and  

(c) The controls tested, which were those necessary to provide reasonable 
assurance that the control objectives stated in the Description were achieved, 
operated effectively throughout the period from 1 April 2019 to 31 March 2020. 

Whittington Hospital 
NHS Trust  
Payroll and pension 
services to the CCG. 

From a report dated 29 April 2019 the findings were that overall the Trustôs 
controls are appropriately designed and are operating effectively for the period 
under review, however, one or more areas have been identified where control 
design and operating effectiveness could be improved.  There were 2 Low 
priority weakness in the design and operating effectiveness of controls in place 
to ensure business objectives are achieved.   

Based on the work performed, the Trustôs system of internal control for Payroll 
Processing achieved significant assurance with improvement required. 

NHS Electronic Staff 
Record Programme  
Provides NHS 
organisations with 
integrated payroll and 
HR service system  

Our opinion 
In PWCôs opinion, in all material respects, based on the criteria described in 
the Service Organisation and included Subservice Organisationôs management 
statement: 
(a) The description in sections 5 and 6 fairly presents the Service 
Organisationôs and subservice organisationôs provision of IT activities and 
systems for the ESR Service as designed and implemented throughout the 
period from 1 April 2019 to 31 March 2020. 
(b) The controls related to the control objectives stated in the description in 
sections 5 and 6 were suitably designed to provide reasonable assurance that 
the specified control objectives would be achieved if the described controls 
operated effectively throughout the period from 1 April 2019 to 31 March 2020 
and customers applied the complementary user entity controls referred to in 
the Scope paragraph of this assurance report; and 

(c) The controls tested, which together with the complementary user entity 
controls referred to in the scope paragraph of this assurance report, if operating 
effectively, were those necessary to provide reasonable assurance that the 
control objectives stated in the description were achieved, operated effectively 
throughout the period from 1 April 2019 to 31 March 2020. 

 

The CCG relied on third party providers for a number of services. Assurances are provided 
in the form of Service Auditor Reports (SARs). The following SARs have been provided to 
the CCG: 

Control issues 

The control issues identified by the CCG and the mitigating actions were: 

Risk of poor service and lack of compliance with CQC standards at provider 
organisations - impact on quality and safety of patient care and failure to deliver 
targets 
Monthly clinical review meetings were in place which included NHSE/I and Commissioners. 
There was close monitoring of relevant data.  Quality staff attended internal Trust meetings 
and supported with Quality Improvement initiatives. Further inspections by the CQC were 
expected 
 
Risk of failure to provide a safe ambulance service - impact of clinical quality and 
patient safety 
Ambulance performance was reviewed at System, Operations, Resilience and 
Transformation meeting and ratified at A&E Delivery Board meetings.  Ambulance handover 
performance was reviewed at the A&E Delivery Board. An improvement programme was 
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incorporated in the System Transformation Plan.  East of England Ambulance Service Trust 
(EEAST) recruited more trainee paramedics to improve workforce and to support gaps in 
staffing.  A programme of education around epilepsy is being rolled out to help demands on 
ambulance services.  EEAST are now embedded at STP executive and system meetings to 
ensure better integration and a collaborative approach. 

Non-delivery of constitutional standards leading to a potential risk of poorer health 
outcomes for patients ï Referral to Treatment, Emergency Department, Cancer, Out 
of Area Placements, A&E and Child and Adolescent Mental Health Service waiting 
times 
Daily monitoring of operational performance is taking place where appropriate, with 
escalation to senior officers where performance was below expected levels. There was 
review of performance at monthly contractual and quality meetings where appropriate 
action was taken e.g. requesting of remedial action plans and management support from 
commissioners. External operational and contract performance meetings took place with a 
range of stakeholders whose services will support the delivery of the constitutional targets 
within the system. Transformation work took place through QIPP to improve outcomes and 
provide the CCG with the ability to support the delivery of targets. Planning guidance was 
met on reducing waiting list actions through capacity alerts.  

There was clinical oversight of providers in special measures, supporting with Quality 
Improvement.  A new Executive Leadership Teams is in place at QEH, NNUH and NSFT. 
The Infection Prevention and Resilience group embedded to support and manage seasonal 
outbreaks, including influenza and norovirus within care homes. 

Failure to deliver the collective financial control total and meet all other NHS England 
Business Rules for 2019/20 
The CCGôs constitution included an overarching scheme of delegation and prime financial 
policies and operational scheme of delegation and budgetary control measures are in place.  
The CCG reported to NHS England on a regular basis on the financial position and the 
2019/20 plan was signed-off. Contracts were in place for internal and external audit to 
assure the organisation that robust processes were maintained. The Financial Recovery 
Plan which included system support between CCGs was approved by the Governing Body 
in July 2019. There was regular oversight of financial recovery plan by financial recovery 
group and lay led financial recovery oversight group.  Further inter CCG financial support 
was agreed by all five Governing Bodies in January 2020. 

Risk of failure to manage business as usual due to capacity and workload as part 
merging all 5 Norfolk & Waveney CCGs into a single organisation with effect from 1 
April 2020. 
The merger was completed successfully, having received the support of the Member 
practices and Governing Bodies. Regular reports were received at Governing Bodies and 
relevant Committees to keep members appraised on the merger process. Staff were 
recruited to their substantive posts within the new structure for the Norfolk and Waveney 
CCG with most posts filled and final external recruitment taking place 

Lack of overall available workforce in the local health and care system to support 
system transformation and deliver appropriate levels of care 
Key workforce gaps are being monitored within the system via the STP work stream and 
there is an STP Workforce Director in post leading on multidisciplinary workforce strategy.  
Provider staffing levels are reviewed by commissioners as part of the system resilience 
planning and operations.   There are dedicated work streams across Norfolk & Waveney 
CCGs for primary care workforce and other NHS providers as well as international 
recruitment drives in place for GPs and nurses within acute trusts. 
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There were two internal audits during 2019/20 with only limited assurance, however this is 
recognised as being an indication of a mature audit programme rather than a sign of 
inherent weaknesses i.e. the internal audit resource was directed at particular areas of 
management concern.  Further information on the two limited assurance reports is given 
below: 
 
The CCG has received a ólimited assuranceô opinion for the Delivery of Strategies 
internal audit. The areas of weakness are listed below. 

¶ The strategies and associated structures review took place against a backdrop of 
restructuring so it was difficult to assess how each of the strategies are progressing 
in terms of delivery.  

¶ An overarching implementation plan for each strategy would assist with this and 
provide focus for the various programme boards who oversee the strategies. 

¶ None of the Strategies are costed, and the finance sections of Project Initiation 
Documents, where they exist, have not been consistently completed. It is therefore 
difficult to know if the strategies are affordable or deliverable. 

¶ Programme and project documentation need to be standardised to ensure that there 
is clarity on how the strategies will make a difference in terms of performance and 
outcomes, and so that these can be measured and reported to the programme 
boards and the new Governing Body, or its Sub-Committees. 

¶ Management have acknowledged the need to introduce more robust processes and 
in the case of the Diabetes programme, have set out how this will be done within the 
new organisation structure. 

The CCG received a ólimited assuranceô opinion for the Referral to Treatment (RTT) 
internal audit. 
Structural changes to facilitate a more strategic approach to RTT performance has helped 
to identify common and separate issues across the Norfolk and Waveney CCGs, which are 
preventing the national target being met. However: 

¶ The 2019/20 RTT support plan needs to be detailed to incorporate non QIPP 
projects as well as all Planned Care QIPP related schemes, to ensure that there is a 
co-ordinated approach that can be measured and monitored at STP level as well as 
locally. 

¶ Existing QIPP schemes for planned care are not performing well and have not been 
constructed to a consistently high standard. 

¶ Lines of accountability and management for RTT need to be clarified between the 
Associate Director of Planned Care & Cancer and Locality Directors. 

As part of the internal audit process the CCG responds to audit recommendations and 
findings and agrees the actions it will take to secure improvement in its processes. 

The service audit reports for NHS Shared Business Services with respect to finance and 
accounting and for NHS Digital have a óqualified opinionô.  More detail is provided in the 
above section titled Third Party Assurances. 

Review of economy, efficiency & effectiveness of the use of resources 

The CCG planned the use of its financial allocation based upon its strategy and aligned its 
intentions to its operational plans. Services were procured through robust contract 
negotiations and contract management in-year; and the Quality and Patient Safety 
Assurance Committee monitored the CCGôs effectiveness in delivering continuous 
improvement within its commissioned pathways. The Governing Body received reports of 
the CCGôs performance and financial position and forecasts each month; and the Chief 
Finance Officer was responsible for ensuring that proper procedures were in place for the 
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regular checking of the adequacy and effectiveness of the control environment. The 
Finance and Performance Committee scrutinised the financial reports and held the Chief 
Finance Officer to account for the financial performance. This committee reported to the 
Governing Body itôs assuredness on the accuracy and transparency of the reported 
financial position. 

The CCG is currently awaiting the final quality of leadership indicator rating from NHS 
England for the CCG. This is currently rated as Good for 2018/19 
(https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/07/ccg-annual-assessment-report-
2018-19.pdf).  This is based on the Improvement and Assessment Framework indicators 
which were assessed by NHS England regularly. Further reporting is expected in summer 
2020. 

External Audit provides an independent opinion on the Annual Accounts, which incorporates 
the Value for Money opinion; Internal Audit conducts audits into and gives its opinion on 
various aspects of business as directed by the work plan set by the Audit Committee as part 
of its delegated functions. 

In 2019/20, the CCG has achieved an in-year surplus of £0.8m which takes the cumulative 

surplus to £4.5m. This contributed to achievement of the combined Norfolk and Waveney 

CCGôs Financial Recovery Trajectory set and monitored by NHSEI. To achieve this North 

Norfolk CCG has delivered £7.4m of QIPP savings, together with transfers of £2.7m from 

the other Norfolk and Waveney CCGôs. 

During 2019/20 the Norfolk and Waveney CCGs identified that whilst a balanced position 
was forecast collectively, individual CCGs were expected to incur variances from plan.  In 
order to report a balanced position at a CCG level, an allocation transfer exercise was 
conducted.  Prior to completion of the transfer, authorisation was obtained from NHS 
England and each CCG Governing Body. 

The CCG continues to use the QIPP process to identify opportunities to achieve economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness via the project management office. This has been a key aspect 
of successful delivery of the CCGôs QIPP to ensure timely delivery of projects together with 
the increased capacity within this team to ensure ongoing achievement of CCG targets on a 
systematic planned basis.   

The central management costs for the CCG were £3.67m, this represented 1.27% of the 
total CCG expenditure an increase from £3.41m (1.30% of total expenditure) in the 
previous year due to the initial transition costs associated with the move to a single Norfolk 
and Waveney CCG. 
 
As a result of the COVID-19 outbreak the 2020/21 annual planning process has been put on 
hold, however, following the merger of the five Norfolk and Waveney CCGôs a plan had 
been approved by the organisation pending final submission to NHSEI. This combined 
2020/21 plan contained additional allocation growth money of 4.2%. This together with cost 
pressures, policy changes and demand pressures mean NHS Norfolk and Waveney CCG 
has to deliver QIPP savings of £57.8m (3.4% of allocation) to enable achievement of the 
Financial Recovery Trajectory of £7.1m surplus in 2020/21.  

This represents a lower figure than the combined five CCGôs QIPP delivered in 2019/20 and 
remains a significant challenge, however, the combined CCG has plans in place to deliver 
transformational change, in line with the STP that are anticipated to enable the financial 
plan to be achieved. 

As with all financial plans and due to the impact of the COVID-19 outbreak, the combined 
CCGôs 2020/21 plan has inherent risks such as not fully delivering the savings plan, 

https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/07/ccg-annual-assessment-report-2018-19.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/07/ccg-annual-assessment-report-2018-19.pdf
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unforeseen overspends and further, as yet unknown, cost pressures - all of which have the 
potential for leading the organisation into in-year deficit and therefore breaching the 
statutory break-even duty and Value for Money duty. The combined CCG will review the 
impact on the plan once the emergency response phase of the COVID-19 crisis 
management is over. 

The merger of the five Norfolk and Waveney CCGôs has enabled efficiency savings to be 
made, with the new single team structure now in place, reducing duplication and ensuring 
that expertise and knowledge is shared.  Budgets are set and approved at very senior levels 
in the organisation to maintain a firm grip on the CCGôs financial management. 

 

Delegation of functions 

The CCG delegated functions to the Joint Strategic Commissioning Committee together 
with the other Norfolk & Waveney CCGs. This Committee held its first public meeting in 
June 2018 and as well as representatives from the CCG had representatives from NHS 
South Norfolk CCG, NHS Norwich CCG, NHS West Norfolk CCG and NHS Great 
Yarmouth and Waveney CCG. The functions delegated to the Committee were: 

¶ Approve arrangements for managing new drugs and treatments; 

¶ Approve procurements in areas related to joint commissioning; 

¶ Approve business cases for investments or disinvestments up to £0.5m per CCG 
(anything above this goes back to individual CCGs for approval); and 

¶ Approve strategies for the joint commissioning areas including mental health, and 
acute. 

Feedback from the JSCC was via reports to the CCGôs Governing Body. 

The CCG delegated functions internally.  In particular: 

The Council of Members delegated to the Governing Body decisions and activity such as 
approval of the arrangements to minimise clinical risk, maximise patient safety and secure 
continuous improvement in quality and patient outcomes;  

The Governing Body delegated to committees of the Governing Body responsibility for 
ensuring the CCG exercised its functions effectively, efficiently and economically and 
adheres to generally accepted principles of good governance:  

¶ the Audit Committee assured the Governing Body that effective systems of 
integrated governance, risk management and internal control are in place across the 
whole of the CCGôs activities; both internal and external auditors attended these 
meetings;  

¶ the Finance and Performance Committee monitored delivery of the Medium-Term 
Financial Plan and provided assurance to the Governing Body on the CCGôs 
financial performance;  

¶ the Quality Performance and Patient Safety Assurance Committee assured the 
Governing Body concerning the safety and quality of the CCGôs commissioned 
services;  

¶ the Remuneration Committee scrutinised proposals for the remuneration of 
employees and other people who provide services to the CCG and made 
recommendations to the Governing Body taking into account national and local 
guidance;  

¶ the Conflicts of Interest Committee was established to determine matters where 
the Governing Body was conflicted in commissioning decisions and to ensure the 
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issue would be dealt with in a consistent and transparent way, avoiding conflicts of 
interest; and 

¶ the Primary Care Commissioning Committee was established to carry out the 
functions relating to the commissioning of primary medical services which includes 
approving practice mergers and design of local incentive schemes.   

Each Committeeós Chair reported to the Governing Body on the work of the Committee, 
both generally as part of the meeting and as necessary to provide further detail on 
committee work.  

The CCG contracted with Arden and Greater East Midlands Commissioning Support Unit 
for the delivery of certain functions. These functions were subject to both service auditor 
reporting and internal audit review, the reports concerning which were received by the Audit 
Committee; the CCGôs internal owners of functions were held to account by the Audit 
Committee for the resolution of adverse findings.  

The Chief Finance Officer leads the overall contract and associated performance 
discussions with the CSU, including scrutiny of budgetary performance. 

Counter fraud arrangements 

The CCG was required under the terms of the Standard NHS Contract and in accordance 
with the NHS Counter Fraud Authority (NHSCFA) Standards for Commissioners: Fraud, 
Bribery and Corruption, to ensure that appropriate counter fraud measures are in place.  

There was a robust programme of counter fraud and anti-bribery activity, supported by the 
accredited Local Counter Fraud Specialist (LCFS) whose annual proportionate proactive 
work plan to address identified risks, was monitored by the Chief Finance Officer and the 
Audit Committee. The Chief Finance Officer is the first point of contact for any issues to be 
raised by the Counter Fraud Specialist. Online Fraud, Corruption and Bribery Act 
awareness training, which has been made mandatory for all CCG staff, was rolled out for 
the third year during 2019/20. 

Counter fraud material was disseminated to staff regularly through the intranet, posters and 
leaflets, as well as fraud awareness publicity being provided to staff at training sessions. 
The LCFS inputs to the review of various policies, including the Counter Fraud and 
Corruption Policy, Standards of Business Conduct and Freedom to Speak Up: Raising 
Concerns (Whistleblowing) Policy during 2019/20 to ensure that they were up-to-date and 
accurate. Policies are reviewed in line with current legislation, from a best practice and 
counter fraud perspective. Details of all policies, procedures and key documents reviewed 
are reported to the Audit Committee.  

The LCFS attends CCG Audit Committee meetings regularly to provide progress reports 
and updates, as well as providing an Annual Report against each of the NHSCFA 
Standards for Commissioners. The NHSCFA Self-Review Tool was completed by the LCFS 
and was submitted with an overall score of Green. Appropriate action would be taken 
regarding any NHSCFA quality assurance recommendations. 

The LCFS issued NHSCFA Intelligence Bulletins and various TIAA Fraud Alerts during 
2019/20 relating to subjects such as common subject lines in phishing emails, HR 
departments targeted to steal salaries and vulnerability of email to tampering, which are 
ongoing fraud issues nationally within the NHS and the wider public sector. 

Head of Internal Audit Opinion  

Following completion of the planned audit work for the financial year for the clinical 
commissioning group, the Head of Internal Audit issued an independent and objective 
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opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the clinical commissioning groupôs system of 
risk management, governance and internal control. The Head of Internal Audit concluded 
that: 

1. Reasonable assurance can be given that there is a generally sound system of internal 

control, designed to meet the organisationôs objectives, and that controls are generally 

being applied consistently.  However, some weakness in the design and/or inconsistent 

application of controls, put the achievement of particular objectives at risk.   

2. The basis for forming my opinion is as follows: 

i. An assessment of the design and operation of the underpinning Assurance 

Framework and supporting processes; and 

ii. An assessment of the range of individual opinions arising from risk-based audit 

assignments, contained within internal audit risk-based plans that have been 

reported throughout the year. This assessment has taken account of the relative 

materiality of these areas and managementôs progress in respect of addressing 

control weaknesses. 

Additional areas of work that may support the opinion will be determined locally but are not 

required for Department of Health and Social Care purposes e.g. any reliance that is being 

placed upon Third Party Assurances.  

During the year, Internal Audit issued the following audit reports:  

Area of Audit Level of Assurance Given  

Financial Management Substantial Assurance 

Data Security and Protection Toolkit Substantial Assurance 

Partnerships Governance Reasonable Assurance 

Managing Conflicts of Interest Reasonable Assurance 

QIPP and Financial Recovery Plan Reasonable Assurance 

Key Financial Systems Reasonable Assurance 

Primary Care Delegated Commissioning Reasonable Assurance 

Support for Providers in Special Measures Reasonable Assurance 

Quality ï Safeguarding Adults Reasonable Assurance 

Continuing Healthcare Reasonable Assurance 

Delivery of Strategies Limited Assurance 

Referral to Treatment Limited Assurance 

 

Review of the effectiveness of governance, risk management and internal control 

My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control was informed by the work of 
the internal auditors, executive managers and clinical leads within the CCG who had 
responsibility for the development and maintenance of the internal control framework. I 
have drawn on performance information available to me. My review was also informed by 
comments made by the external auditors in their annual audit letter and other reports.  

Our assurance framework provides me with evidence that the effectiveness of controls that 
manage risks to the CCG achieving its principle objectives have been reviewed.  

I have been advised on the implications of the result of this review by:  
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¶ The Governing Body who reviewed the GBAF at each public meeting and sought 
assurances on the effectiveness of controls from senior managers. This is 
supplemented by regular review at the Executive Managers Team meeting; 

¶ The Audit Committee who scrutinised the underpinning processes behind the GBAF 
and sought assurances on the effectiveness of controls from senior managers;  

¶ Internal Audit who provided an independent, objective opinion on systems of internal 
control as described above; 

¶ The Finance and Performance Committee who provided scrutiny of the annual 
budgets and medium-term financial plans prior to agreement by the Governing Body 
and monitored delivery of the financial standing in-year, including delivery of the 
QIPP plan, to ensure that the CCG met its financial statutory duties; 

¶ The Quality and Patient Safety Assurance Committee who scrutinised processes for 
holding providers to account for the quality and safety of their contracted services 
and utilised reports from regulatory bodies such as Monitor and Care Quality 
Commission (CQC); 

¶ Reliance where possible placed on third party assurance (Service Auditor Reports) 
as described above; 

¶ Performance reviews held with NHS England on a monthly basis and feedback 
given; 

¶ The work of the Health Overview & Scrutiny Committee provides an independent 
view of CCG performance; and 

¶ Patient and public engagement events and feedback through a variety of 
mechanisms including complaints, compliments, Friends and Family Test and 
Quality Issue Reporting, which provided insight into its provider services. 

Conclusion 

With the exception of the internal control issues that I have outlined in the Annual 
Governance Statement, to which appropriate actions have been or are being taken, my 
review confirms that a sound system of internal control was in place in the NHS North 
Norfolk CCG for the year ended 31 March 2020. 

 

 

Melanie Craig  
Accountable Officer 
23 June 2020 
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Remuneration and Staff Report  

 

Remuneration report 

Introduction 

This report gives details of NHS North Norfolk CCGôs Remuneration Committee and its 
policies in relation to the remuneration of its senior managers which the Governing Body 
defined as Executive Directors and members of the Governing Body.  

During 2019, the five CCGs in Norfolk and Waveney created a single team of staff as 
follows: 

¶ Phase 1 - Melanie Craig was appointed joint Accountable Officer (AO) and John 
Ingham was appointed joint Chief Finance Officer (CFO) from 29 April 2019.  

¶ Phase 2 - the process to create a single Executive Management Team (EMT) and 
their direct reports commenced on 29 April 2019. Following an internal consultation, 
interview and external recruitment process for some posts, the EMT structure was 
appointed to. 

¶ Phase 3 - a staff consultation commenced on 9 September 2019 to create a new 
staff structure, to work across all five CCGs, which concluded on 12 November 
2019. Appointments into this structure were confirmed during December 2019 - 
February 2020. 

Staff remained in the employment of their original host CCG throughout 2019/20, prior to 
the formal merger of the five CCGs as at 1 April 2020, and there were no recharges 
between the CCGs in respect of the new structures. Each of the five CCGs has therefore 
included in their 2019/20 Remuneration Reports the details of remuneration relating only to 
the senior managers in their employment. 

Details of remuneration payable to the senior managers of NHS North Norfolk CCG in 
respect of their services during the year ended 31 March 2020 are given in the tables within 
this report. 

This Remuneration and Staff Report is not subject to audit with the exception of those 
sections specifically marked as such. 

This report includes information relating to Norfolk Continuing Care Partnership (NCCP), 
which operated as a business unit to provide continuing healthcare assessment. NCCP 
services hosted by Norwich CCG providing services to three Norfolk CCGôs. The four 
participating CCGôs were Norwich, North Norfolk, South Norfolk and West Norfolk CCGôs.  
NCCP ceased to exist as a separate business unit as at 31 January 2020 as a result of the 
CCGsô management restructure; however the work of NCCP effectively continued to 31 
March 2020 so references in this report to NCCP relate to the full year. 

Remuneration Committee 

The Remuneration Committee was a committee of the Governing Body and held 
responsibility, under its Terms of Reference for making recommendations to the Governing 
Body for the remuneration, terms of service and benefit arrangements for all staff (including 
the Accountable Officer and Executive Directors). The Committee also had responsibility 
for agreeing compensation payable to clinicians that support the work of the CCG.  
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The remuneration committee consisted of Peter Franzen (Lay Member), Doris Jamieson 
(Lay Member), Clive Gardner (Lay member), Tony Belham, (elected practice manager) and 
Dr Robert Mallinson (Secondary Care Doctor) and Kathy Branson (Registered Nurse) on 
the Governing Body. 

Policy on the remuneration of Executive Directors 
 
The salaries for the Chief Officer (CO) and the Chief Finance Officer (CFO) of the CCG are 
determined by the Governing Body and covered by the guidance issued by the NHS 
Commissioning Board which are informed by and consistent with the principles set out in 
the Hutton Fair Pay Review. Further, additional consideration of the pay and employment 
conditions of other employees was taken into account when determining senior managersô 
remuneration. No bonus payments were made to any Director during 2019-20. 

Direction for determining notice periods for the Accountable Officer and the Directors were 
laid out in the NHS Bodies Employment Contracts (Notice Periods) Directions 2008. The 
contractual notice period for the termination of the Chief Officer and all other directors of 
the CCG was six months on either side. 

Executive Directors and GP members of the Governing Body were, subject to eligibility, 
able to participate in the NHS Pension Scheme which provides salary-related pension 
benefits on a defined benefit basis. 

The CCG did not apply any performance conditions or assessment methods associated 
with senior staff/Governing Body member reward. 

All Executive Directors had rolling service contracts, the table below discloses contract start 
dates for the CCG: 

Executive 
Directors in post 
2019-20 

Role 
Executive 

Directors in 
post 2019-20 

Position end 
date 

Frank Sims 
Chief Officer, shared post with South 

Norfolk CCG 23/07/2018 28/04/2019 

Helen Stratton 
Chief Finance Officer, shared post with 

South Norfolk CCG from 1/7/2016 
01/05/2013 28/04/2019 

Mark Burgis 
Locality Director North Norfolk CCG, 

South Norfolk CCG and Norwich CCG 
01/07/2019 

Continues in 

post  

Alison Leather 
Chief Quality Officer, shared post with 

South Norfolk CCG 
01/04/2018 31/8/2019 

 

Non-Executive Directors: Remuneration Policy 

In accordance with ñClinical commissioning group governing body members: Role outlines, 
attributes and skillsò, the CCG was responsible for determining the appointments and 
remuneration of its Governing Body member roles.  

Non-Executive Directors were appointed for a fixed term and their remuneration consisted 
of a fee that reflected the commitment and time required to fulfil their obligations effectively. 
They were also eligible to be reimbursed for out-of-pocket expenses incurred on the CCGôs 
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business. Non-Executive Directors were not eligible to participate in the NHS Pension 
Scheme. 

All Governing Body GPs are paid at the same sessional rate however the contracted 
number of sessions varies according to the portfolio of responsibilities allocated to them. 
The sessional rates paid to other elected Governing Body members are based on the rates 
they are paid in their professional roles. 

The Non-Executive Governing Body members during 2019-20 were as follows 

Governing Body 
members  

Role  Start date  End date  

Dr Anoop Dhesi   Elected GP Member and Governing 
Body Chair  

24/07/2012  31/03/2020 

Dr Penny Ayling  Elected GP Member  24/07/2012 31/03/2020 

Dr James Gair   Elected GP Member  24/07/2012  31/03/2020 

Anthony Belham  Elected Practice Manager   21/07/2015  31/03/2020 

Robert Mallinson  Secondary Care Doctor  01/02/2018  31/03/2020  

Stephen Burke Lay Member  01/06/2015  31/03/2020  

Peter Franzen  Lay Member  01/08/2016  31/03/2020 

Clive Gardner Lay Member  02/11/2015  31/03/2020 

Doris Jameson Lay Member  01/06/2018 31/03/2020 

Kathy Branson Registered Nurse  01/01/2019 31/03/2020 
 

Remuneration of Very Senior Managers 

Details of remuneration payable to the senior managers of NHS North Norfolk CCG in 
respect of their services during the year ended 31 March 2020 are given in the table on the 
following page.  

Norfolk and Waveney Single Management Team  

The five CCGs established a new joint Executive Management Team during 2019/20 prior 
to the merger of N&W CCGs on 1 April 2020. As a result of this the following senior 
managersô posts within the CCG was shared across the five (with no recharge of 
remuneration).  

¶ Mark Burgis - Locality Director Norwich, South Norfolk, North Norfolk from 
01/07/2019  

¶ Frank Sims - Joint Chief Officer for NHS North Norfolk CCG and NHS South Norfolk 
CCG to 28/04/2019 

The following senior manager posts within other CCGs were shared across the 5 CCGs (no 
recharge of remuneration): 

Senior manager Start date End date Employing CCG 

David John Ingham - Chief Finance Officer 29/04/2019 continues  Norwich 

Jocelyn Pike - Director of Special Projects  01/08/2019 continues  South Norfolk 

John Webster ï Director of Strategic 
Commissioning  

01/07/2019 continues West Norfolk 

Cath Byford - Chief Nurse  01/07/2019 continues  GYW 

Melanie Craig - Chief Officer 29/04/2019 continues  GYW 
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Salaries and Allowances 1 April 2019 to 31 March 2020 (subject to audit) 

Name and Title 

2019/20 

(a) 
Salary 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

(b) 
Expense 
payments 
(taxable) 

to nearest 
£100 

(c) 
Performance 

pay and 
bonuses 
(bands of 
£5,000) 

(d) 
Long term 

performance 
pay and 
bonuses 
(bands of 
£5,000) 

(e) 
All pension-

related 
benefits 

(bands of 
£2,500) 

(f) 
TOTAL  
(a to e) 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

£000 £ £000 £000 £000 £000 

Dr Anoop Dhesi -  
CCG Chair and 
Elected GP 

105-110 0 0 0 0 105-110 

Helen Stratton ï 
Chief Finance 
Officer to 
29/04/20191 

160-165 0 0 0 0 160-165 

Mark Burgis ï 
Locality Director 
from 01/07/2019 

80-85 0 0 0 47.5-50 130-135 

Alison Leather ï 
Chief Quality 
Nurse to 
31/8/20192 

15-20 0 0 0 17.5-20 35-40 

Kathy Branson ï 
Registered Nurse  

5-10 0 0 0 0 5-10 

Dr Penelope Ayling 
ï Elected GP  

75-80 0 0 0 0 75-80 

Dr James Gair ï 
Elected GP 

75-80 0 0 0 0 75-80 

Anthony Belham ï 
Elected Practice 
Manager  

20-25 0 0 0 0 20-25 

Dr Robert 
Mallinson ï 
Secondary Care 
Doctor  

10-15 0 0 0 0 10-15 

Stephen Burke - 
Lay Member 

5-10 0 0 0 0 5-10 

Peter Franzen - 
Lay Member -  

5-10 0 0 0 0 5-10 

Clive Gardner ï 
Lay Member  

5-10 0 0 0 0 5-10 

Doris Jameson - 
Lay Member 

5-10 0 0 0 0 5-10 

*1 Although employed to June 2019 Helen Stratton was on in post until 28th April 2019. 
The salary in (a) includes a redundancy payment made in year. This is shown in the 'Exit 
packages tableô within the 150,001-200,000 band later on in the report. 50% of her salary 
excluding redundancy was recharged to NHS South Norfolk CCG. 
*2 Alison Leatherôs remuneration was paid by NHS South Norfolk CCG with 50% recharged 
to NHS North Norfolk CCG for her shared post of Chief Quality Officer. Her total salary for 
2019/20 was 35-40 (£000) and her pensions were in the band of 17.5-20 (£000) .Alison 
Leather's pension benefits and details of exit packages  are disclosed in South Norfolk 
CCG annual report     
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Total in column (a) includes remuneration for multiple roles within the CCG for Dr Anoop 
Dhesi, Dr Penelope Ayling, Dr James Gair, Dr Robert Mallinson, the varying remuneration 
is due to attending a varying number of sessions per month.  

The pension related benefits in the above table are based on the assumed growth of the 
individualôs pension benefits, not an amount paid in-year, less the personal contribution to 
that individualôs benefit. The individual pensions vary significantly in value due to the length 
of service within the NHS and as a result the benefits accrued within the financial year also 
vary significantly in value and are not solely dependent on the annual salary of the 
individual. This does not include benefits relating to the GP Solo pension arrangements, for 
which employer pension contributions are included in the salary column. 

Figures for staff leaving or appointed part way through the year are for that part year only.  

Salaries and Allowances 1 April 2018 to 31 March 2019 (for comparison) 

Name and Title 

2018/19 

(a) 
Salary 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

(b) 
Expense 
payments 
(taxable) 

to nearest 
£100** 

(c) 
Performance 

pay and 
bonuses 
(bands of 
£5,000) 

(d) 
Long term 

performance 
pay and 
bonuses 
(bands of 
£5,000) 

(e) 
All pension-

related 
benefits 

(bands of 
£2,500) 

(f) 
TOTAL  
(a to e) 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

£000 £ £000 £000 £000 £000 

Dr Anoop Dhesi -  
CCG Chair and 
Elected GP 

110-115 0 0 0 0 110-115 

Antek Lejk ï Chief 
Officer to 
30/04/20181 

0-5 0 0 0 0 0-5 

Helen Stratton ï 
Interim Chief Officer  
01/05/2018 to 
23/07/20182 

15-20 0 0 0 2.5-5 20-25 

Frank Sims ï Chief 
Officer from 
23/07/0183 

45-50 4,000 0 0 0 50-55 

Helen Stratton 
Chief Finance 
Officer  

40-45 0 0 0 10-12.5 50-55 

Colin Bright ï 
Interim Chief 
Finance Officer 
01/05/2018 to 
23/07/20184 

10-15 0 0 0 10-12.5 25-30 

Mark Burgis ï Chief 
Operating Officer5  

15-20 0 0 0 2.5-5 20-25 

Alison Leather ï 
Chief Quality 
Officer5 

45-50 0 0 0 15-17.5 60-65 

Jacqueline 
Schneider ï 
Registered Nurse to 
30/04/2018 

5-10 0 0 0 0 5-10 

Kathy Branson ï 
Registered Nurse 
from 01/01/20195 

0-5 0 0 0 0 0-5 
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Name and Title 

2018/19 

(a) 
Salary 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

(b) 
Expense 
payments 
(taxable) 

to nearest 
£100** 

(c) 
Performance 

pay and 
bonuses 
(bands of 
£5,000) 

(d) 
Long term 

performance 
pay and 
bonuses 
(bands of 
£5,000) 

(e) 
All pension-

related 
benefits 

(bands of 
£2,500) 

(f) 
TOTAL  
(a to e) 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

£000 £ £000 £000 £000 £000 

Dr Penelope Ayling 
ï Elected GP  

80-85 0 0 0 0 80-85 

Dr James Gair ï 
Elected GP 

80-85 0 0 0 0 80-85 

Anthony Belham ï 
Elected Practice 
Manager  

25-30 0 0 0 0 25-30 

Teresa Randall 
Elected Practice 
Manager to 
01/05/2018 

0-5 0 0 0 0 0-5 

Dr Robert Mallinson 
ï Secondary Care 
Doctor  

10-15 0 0 0 0 10-15 

John Archibald ï 
Lay Member to 
31/05/2018 

0-5 0 0 0 0 0-5 

Stephen Burke - 
Lay Member 

5-10 0 0 0 0 5-10 

Peter Franzen - Lay 
Member -  

5-10 0 0 0 0 5-10 

Clive Gardner ï Lay 
Member  

5-10 0 0 0 0 5-10 

Doris Jameson - 
Lay Member from 
01/06/2018 

5-10 0 0 0 0 5-10  

 
All senior managers were paid through the CCG payroll for the financial year, apart from those 
outlined below who were paid through the payroll of NHS South Norfolk CCG  
 
1 Antek Lejkôs remuneration was paid by NHS South Norfolk CCG with 0.6WTE recharged to the 
STP for his STP Executive Lead role. The 0.4WTE remaining for his Chief Officer role was 
recharged 50% to NHS North Norfolk CCG. His total remuneration for 2018/19 was 10-15 (£000)  
2 Helen Strattonôs remuneration is paid by NHS North Norfolk CCG with 50% recharged to NHS 
South Norfolk CCG for both the shared post of Chief Officer & Chief Finance Officer. Her total salary 
for 2018/19 was 120-125 (£000) and total pension related benefits of 30-32.5 (£000) 
3 Frank Simsô remuneration was paid by NHS South Norfolk CCG with 50% recharged to NHS North 
Norfolk CCG for his shared post of Chief Officer. His total remuneration for 2018/19 was 95-100 
(£000)  
4 Colin Brightôs remuneration was paid by NHS North Norfolk CCG with 50% recharged to NHS 
South Norfolk CCG. The figures in the table above relate to his position of Interim Chief Finance 
Officer 
5 Mark Burgis was Chief Operating Officer until 31 July 2018, and from 1 August 2018 Mark was 
seconded to the STP. The table shows NHS North Norfolk CCGs costs for his position of COO. His 
total salary for 2018/19 was 95-100 (£000) and total pension related benefits of 17.5-20 (£000)  
6 Alison Leatherôs remuneration was paid by NHS South Norfolk CCG with 50% recharged to NHS 
North Norfolk CCG for her shared post of Chief Quality Officer. Her total salary for 2018/19 was 90-
95 (£000) and total related pension benefits of 32.5-35 (£000) 
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7 Kathy Bransonôs remuneration is paid by NHS North Norfolk CCG with 50% recharged to NHS 
South Norfolk CCG for her position as Registered Nurse of the Governing Bodies of NHS North 
Norfolk CCG & NHS South Norfolk CCG. The total salary paid in 2018/19 was 0-5 (£000)   
The pension related benefits in the above table are based on the assumed growth of the individualôs 
pension benefits, not an amount paid in year, less the personal contribution to that individuals 
benefit.   

 

Pension benefits as at 31 March 2020 (subject to audit)  

Name and Title (a) 

Real 
increase 

in pension 
at pension 

age 

(bands of 
£2,500) 

(b) 

Real 
increase 

in pension 
lump sum 
at pension 

age 

(bands of 
£2,500) 

(c) 

Total 
accrued 

pension at 
pension 
age at 31 

March 
2020 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

(d) 

Lump 
sum at 

pension 
age 

related to 
accrued 

pension at 
31 March 

2020 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

(e) 

Cash 
Equivalen
t Transfer 
Value at 1 
April 2019 

 

 

(f) 

Real 
Increase 
in Cash 

Equivalen
t Transfer 

Value 

(g) 

Cash 
Equivale

nt 
Transfer 
Value at 

31 
March 
2020 

(h) 

Employers 
Contributio

n to 
partnership 

pension 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Mark Burgis ï 
Locality Director 
North, South, 
Norwich from 
01/09/2019 

2.5-5 0-2.5 15-20 0-5 182 34 220 14 

Helen Stratton ï 
Chief Finance 
Officer to 
28/04/2019 

0-2.5 0-2.5 30-35 90-95 743 -761 0 4 

 

The above tables reflect the total pension for each individual including benefits accrued 
through prior employment with other NHS organisations. 

In accordance with the Disclosure of Senior Managersô Remuneration (Greenbury) 2015 
guidance, no CETV will be shown for pensioners, senior managers over 60 (1995 Section) 
0r over 65 (2008 Section). 

The declaration of pension contributions in this report is made in accordance with the 
guidelines issued under the Greenbury Report. 

The details contained in the above tables relate to those members of the Governing Body 
and Senior Management Team for whom pension details were available. Those not 
included were: 

¶ Lay members whose remuneration is not pensionable 

¶ GPôs on the Governing Body who were not members of the normal NHS Pension 
Scheme but did contribute to the NHS GP Solo Pension Scheme. The GP Solo 
Pension Scheme benefits are not included in the above table as we are unable to 
identify which part of that scheme relates to their work as Governing Body 
Members. 

¶ The elected Practice Manager member who holds more than one post within the 
NHS is not entitled to pension benefits for the post that he holds on the Governing 
Body 

Helen Stratton retired June 2019. 
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Cash equivalent transfer values  

A cash equivalent transfer value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of the 
pension scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particular point in time. The benefits 
valued are the memberôs accrued benefits and any contingent spouseôs (or other allowable 
beneficiaryôs) pension payable from the scheme. 

A CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme or arrangement to secure pension 
benefits in another pension scheme or arrangement when the member leaves a scheme 
and chooses to transfer the benefits accrued in their former scheme. The pension figures 
shown relate to the benefits that the individual has accrued as a consequence of their total 
membership of the pension scheme, not just their service in a senior capacity to which 
disclosure applies. 

The CETV figures and the other pension details include the value of any pension benefits in 
another scheme or arrangement which the individual has transferred to the NHS pension 
scheme. They also include any additional pension benefit accrued to the member as a 
result of their purchasing additional years of pension service in the scheme at their own 
cost. CETVs are calculated within the guidelines and framework prescribed by the Institute 
and Faculty of Actuaries.  

During the year, the Government announced that public sector pension schemes will be 
required to provide the same indexation in payment on part of a public service scheme 
pensions known as the Guaranteed Minimum Pension (GMP) as applied to the remainder 
of the pension i.e. the non GMP. Previously the GMP did not receive full indexation. This 
means that with effect from August 2019 the method used by NHS Pensions to calculate 
CETV values was updated. So the method in force at 31 March 2020 is different to the 
method used to calculate the value at 31 March 2019. The real increase in CETV will 
therefore be impacted (and will in effect include any increase in CETV due to the change in 
GMP methodology). 

NHS Pensions are still assessing the impact of the McCloud judgement in relation to 
changes to benefits in the NHS 2015 Scheme. The benefits and related CETVs disclosed 
do not allow for any potential future adjustments that may arise from this judgement. 

Real increase in CETV 

This reflects the increase in CETV that is funded by the employer. It does not include the 
increase in accrued pension due to inflation or contributions paid by the employee 
(including the value of any benefits transferred from another scheme or arrangement). 

Compensation on early retirement of for loss of office (subject to audit) 

No compensation was paid on early retirement of for loss of office.  

Payments to past members (not subject to audit) 

There were no payments to past members.  

Pay multiples ( subject to audit) 

Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration of the 
highest-paid director/Member in their organisation and the median remuneration of the 
organisationôs workforce at the reporting period end date. 

The banded remuneration of the highest paid director/member in NHS North Norfolk CCG 
in the financial year 2019/20 £110,000-£115,000 (2018/19 was £110,000-£115,000). This 
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was 2.6 times (2018/19: 3.32) the median remuneration of the workforce which was 
£43,772 (2018/19: £34,108).  

In 2019/20 none of the employees received remuneration in excess of the highest-paid 
member of the Governing Body (2018-19 none) Remuneration ranged from £21,089 to 
£114,000 (2018-19, £17,787 to £113,100). 

These figures are calculated from the CCGôs employee payroll and do not reflect payments 
made for interim staff who were paid through third party organisations. There were no 
members of the Governing Body who were paid through a third party organisation during 
2019/20. 

Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance-related pay and 
benefits-in-kind. It does not include severance payments, employer pension contributions 
and the cash equivalent transfer value of pensions. 

 

Staff report  

The CCG had a highly skilled, motivated and experienced workforce of commissioning 
managers and support staff, during the year our average workforce was 54.75 WTE (whole 
time equivalent). In addition to employed staff, it engaged with general practitioners and 
nurses from across the North Norfolk area to provide clinical expertise and input into its 
decision making and actively supporting the organisation. 

As an employer it adopted the National Agenda for Change pay framework and following 
shows the breakdown of pay bands and gender. 

Net accounting is used to account for the NCCP costs and staff numbers. This results in 
staff numbers and WTEs being reported across all participating CCGs and being split 
according to financial contributions towards the costs of NCCP. 

Staff numbers and composition (subject to audit)  

 
The headcount values include individuals employed by North Norfolk CCG and NCCP 
(employed by Norwich CCG providing a hosted service for CHC management).  Costs and 
WTEôs are shared equally between the four Norfolk and Waveney CCG of this service. 

 

The average Whole Time Equivalent (WTE) has been calculated as an average for all staff 
employed between 01 April 2019 and 31 March 2020. 

Band Headcount M Headcount F WTE Headcount M Headcount F WTE Headcount M Headcount F WTE

Band 3 2.00 11.00 3.27 0.00 0.00 0 2.00 11.00 3.27

Band 4 1.00 15.00 6.98 0.00 7.00 3.35 1.00 8.00 3.63

Band 5 1.00 12.00 5.21 0.00 2.00 2.52 1.00 10.00 2.69

Band 6 6.00 30.00 11.03 1.00 2.00 3.00 5.00 28.00 8.03

Band 7 5.00 15.00 8.93 3.00 2.00 4.40 2.00 13.00 4.53

Band 8a 4.00 13.00 6.05 2.00 8.00 4.18 2.00 5.00 1.87

Band 8b 5.00 3.00 4.44 4.00 3.00 4.18 1.00 0.00 0.26

Band 8c 1.00 4.00 2.03 1.00 2.00 1.28 0.00 2.00 0.75

Band 8d 2.00 1.00 1.71 2.00 1.00 1.71 0 0 0.00

Band 9 0.00 0.00 0.16 0.00 0.00 0.00 0 0 0.16

VSM 1.00 0.00 0.90 1.00 0.00 0.90 0 0 0.00

Total 28.00 104.00 50.71 14.00 27.00 25.52 14.00 77.00 25.19

Other 8.00 9.00 4.74 7.00 6.00 3.45 1.00 3.00 1.29

Total 36.00 113.00 55.45 21.00 33.00 28.97 15.00 80.00 26.48

NCCPCCGTotal
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The staff headcount has been calculated as all staff employed by the CCG as at 31 March 
2020. 

 

The ñOtherò comprise of staff that are paid ópersonal salaryô amounts in accordance with the 
CCGôs Remuneration Framework as opposed to being on ñAgenda for Changeò 

Employee benefits 

 2019-20 2018-19 

 Total Total 

 £'000 £'000 

Salaries and wages 2,131 2,048 

Social security costs 213 206 

Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme 429 259 

Other pension costs 0 0 

Apprenticeship Levy 4 3 

Termination benefits 166 30 

Gross employee benefits expenditure 2,943 2,546 

 

The employer contribution increased in April 2019 by 6.3%, this underpins the significant 
increase for 2019-20.. 

 

Sickness absence data  

Department of Health & Social Care (DHSC) has taken the decision to not commission the 
data production exercise for NHS bodies this year. The link to the NHS Digital publication 
series is as follows: 

https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/nhs-sickness-absence-
rates  

 

Staff policies    

The CCG contracted with NHS Arden and Greater East Midlands Commissioning Support 
Unit up to 31 March 2020 to provide Human Resources support including the development 
of HR policies.   

This included an Equality and Diversity Policy which the CCG followed. The CCG was 
committed to equality of opportunity for all employees and followed best practice 
employment procedures which ensured that no employee, or potential employee received 
less favourable treatment on the grounds of gender, race, colour, ethnic or national origin, 
sexual orientation, marital status, religion or belief, age, trade union membership, disability, 
offending background, domestic circumstances, social and employment status, HIV status, 
gender reassignment, political affiliation or any other personal characteristic.  Diversity was 
viewed positively with each individualôs unique experience, knowledge and skills 
recognised and valued equally. 

https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/nhs-sickness-absence-rates
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/nhs-sickness-absence-rates


Page 80 of 109 

 

The CCG commissioned services to support employee health including Insight Wellbeing at 
Work and Wrightway Health.  Insight Wellbeing at Work provided a confidential 24-hour 
counselling helpline and support for a range of personal and work-related issues including, 
but not limited to, depression, anxiety, stress, anger, bereavement and relationship 
difficulties. Wrightway Health provided a local, high quality and clinically effective 
Occupational Health service.   

All HR policies were based on Business Services Authority policies and as such were 
agreed by Trade Unions.  Where relevant HR personnel made contact with trade unions for 
advice and assistance.  During 2019 a staff consultation took place that included trade 
union involvement.  The consultation concerned the merging of staff teams in to a single 
team to form the new NHS Norfolk and Waveney CCG. 

Trade union 

There were no employees who were relevant union officials during 2019/20 and therefore 
no percentage of time was spent on facility time, no percentage of the pay bill spent on 
facility time and no paid trade union activities. 

Employee consultation  

NNCCG held a number of consultations in relation to the merging of the staff teams into a 
single team for Norfolk and Waveney CCG. The Chief Officer held staff briefing sessions 
and staff groups met regularly with the Chief Officer to discuss key issues within the CCG.  

Governing Body meetings were held in public and papers published on the website for staff 
and public access. The ñmembersò section of the website held a substantial amount of 
information for staff and members and effectively operated as the CCGôs intranet.  

Staff were consulted in the development of policies and these were available on the CCG 
website within the Members section. 

Equality and diversity    

With support from A&G CSU, the CCG ensured that all recruitment, training and on-going 
staff support was carried out in line with the principles of equal opportunities, as reflected in 
the CCGôs Human Resources policies. The CCG adhered to the óNHS Agenda for Changeô, 
Job Evaluation Scheme to ensure equal pay for work of equal value. The Workforce Race 
Equality Scheme was completed annually and presented to the Governing Body in public. 
This details analysis on the recruitment and fair treatment of the recruitment and retention 
of black and minority ethnic employees.  

The CCG had a Training Needs Analysis in place for each role within the organisation; this 
documented the roles which may require individuals to complete further training to ensure 
they are able to complete their role to the best of their ability for themselves, the 
organisation as a whole and the local population. The CCG supported development within 
the workplace and had a Learning and Development Policy in place for employees.  

A Flexible Working Policy was also in place ensuring flexible working options were made 
available to staff, consistent with the needs of the service and the lifestyles of staff. The 
CCG completed the Equality Delivery System 2 (EDS2), a tool designed to help NHS 
organisations, in partnership with local stakeholders, to review and improve their 
performance for people with characteristics protected by the Equality Act 2010, and to 
support them in meeting the Public Sector Equality Duty.  
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Pension liabilities  

Employees of the CCG are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pension Scheme. 

For information as to how pension liabilities were treated, please refer to accounting policy 
1.6.2. In respect of senior managers in the CCG, pension entitlements are disclosed within 
this Remuneration Report. 

Expenditure on consultancy 

NHS North Norfolk CCG had nil expenditure on consultancy 

Off-payroll engagements  

As at 31 March 2020 the CCG had no off-payroll engagements for more than £245 per day 
and that lasted longer than six months. 

The CCG also had no new off-payroll engagements, or those that reached six months in 
duration, between 1 April 2019 and March 2020 

Details of off-payroll engagements of Governing Body Members and Senior Managers with 
significant financial responsibilities were as follows 

Number of off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or senior officers with 
significant financial responsibility, during the financial year 

0 

Total number of individuals on payroll and off-payroll that have been deemed 
ñboard members, and/or, senior officials with significant financial responsibilityò, 
during the financial year. This figure should include both on payroll and off-payroll 
engagements. 

2 

 
Exit packages ( subject to audit) 

As part of the move to a single Norfolk and Waveney CCG a new single structure was 
established and recruited to in a three stage process.  The new structure resulted in a 
number of compulsory redundancies which are shown in the exit table below relating to 
North Norfolk CCG.  

Exit 
package 
cost band 
(inc. any 
special 

payment 
element 

Number of 
compulsory 

redundancies 

Cost of 
compulsory 

redundancies 

Number of 
other 

departures 
agreed 

Cost of 
other 

departures 
agreed 

Total 
number of 

exit 
packages 

Total 
cost of 

exit 
packages 

Number of 
departures 

where 
special 

payments 
have been 

made 

Cost of 
special 

payment 
element 
included 

in exit 
packages 

 WHOLE 
NUMBERS 

ONLY £s 

WHOLE 
NUMBERS 

ONLY £s 

WHOLE 
NUMBERS 

ONLY £s 

WHOLE 
NUMBERS 

ONLY £s 

£10,000 - 
£25,000 

1 18,149 0 0 1 18,149 0 0 

£150,001-
£200,000 

1 153,333 0 0 1 153,333 0 0 

TOTALS 
 

2 171,483 0 0 1 171,483 0 0 

 
These cost of the restructuring compulsory redundancies were incurred in the first instance 
by the employing organisation which totalled £1,184,692 across the five CCGs within the 
Norfolk and Waveney system (North Norfolk, Norwich, South Norfolk, West Norfolk and 
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Great Yarmouth and Waveney CCG). These costs were shared equally across the five 
Norfolk and Waveney CCGs totalling £236,938 each.  

Additional costs relating to staff anticipated leaving as part of the same process after March 
2020, or relating to other departures have been provided for in the employing CCG; for 
North Norfolk CCG this value amounts to £18,149 

Analysis of Other Departures 

There were none in 2019-20 

 

 

 

Melanie Craig  
Accountable Officer 
23 June 2020 
 

Parliamentary accountability and audit report 

NHS North Norfolk CCG is not required to produce a Parliamentary Accountability and 
Audit Report. Disclosures on remote contingent liabilities, losses and special payments, 
gifts, and fees and charges are included as notes in the Financial Statements of this report 
at page 82.  An audit certificate and report is also included in this Annual Report at page 
109.   
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Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the year ended           

31 March 2020           

            

    2019-20   2018-19   

  Note £'000   £'000   

           

Income from sale of goods and services 2 (1,247)   (3,295)   

Total operating income  (1,247)   (3,295)   

           

Staff costs 3 2,943   2,546   

Purchase of goods and services 4 287,487   267,589   

Depreciation and impairment charges 4 21   20   

Provision expense 4 0   89   

Other operating expenditure 4 530   590   

Total operating expenditure   290,981   270,834   

            

Net operating expenditure   289,734   267,539   

            

Total net expenditure for the financial year   289,734   267,539   

            

Comprehensive expenditure for the year   289,734   267,539   
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Statement of Financial Position as at       

31 March 2020          

  2019-20   2018-19   

          

 Note £'000   £'000   

Non-current assets:          

Property, plant and equipment  51   73   

Total non-current assets  51  73   
       

Current assets:       

Trade and other receivables 6 2,166   9,951   

Cash and cash equivalents 7 102   122   

Total current assets  2,267  10,073   

       

Total assets  2,318  10,145   

       
Current liabilities          
Trade and other payables 8 (23,014)   (22,262)   
Provisions 9 0   (2,109)   
Total current liabilities  (23,014)  (24,371)   

       
Total assets less current liabilities  (20,696)  (14,225)   

       
Financed by taxpayersô equity       

General fund  (20,696)   (14,225)   

Total taxpayers' equity:  (20,696)  (14,225)   

       

       

       

The notes on pages 87 to 108 form part of this statement       

       

   
The financial statements on pages 83 to 86 were approved by the Governing Body on 23 June 
2020 and signed on its behalf by: 
 

 
 
 
     

  

Melanie Craig       
  

Accountable Officer (from April 2019)       
  

NHS North Norfolk Clinical Commissioning Group       
  

23 June 2020       
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Statement of Changes In Taxpayers Equity for the year ended     

31 March 2020     

   2019-20  2018-19 

  General fund  

General 
fund 

  £'000  £'000 

Changes in taxpayersô equity for 2019-20     

     

Balance at 01 April 2019  (14,225)  (11,869) 

     

Changes in CCG taxpayersô equity for 2019-20  
Net operating expenditure for the financial year  (289,734)  (267,539) 

     
Net recognised CCG expenditure for the financial year  (303,959)  (279,408) 

Net funding  283,263  265,183 

Balance at 31 March 2020  (20,696)  (14,225) 

     

     

     

The notes on pages 87 to 108 form part of this statement     
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Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended      
31 March 2020      

  2019-20   2018-19 

 Note £'000   £'000 
Cash flows from operating activities        
Net operating expenditure for the financial year   (289,734)   (267,539) 
Depreciation and amortisation 4 21   20 
Decrease in trade & other receivables 6 7,787   (3,160) 
Increase in trade & other payables 8 752   5,473 
Provisions utilised 9 (2,109)   0 
Decrease in provisions 9 0   89 

Net cash outflow from operating activities  (283,283)   (265,117) 

        

Cash flows from financing activities        
Net funding received  283,263   265,183 

Net cash inflow from financing activities  283,263   265,183 

        

Net decrease in cash & cash equivalents 7 (20)   66 

        

Cash & cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year  122   56 

Cash & cash equivalents (including bank overdrafts) at the end of the 
financial year  102   122 

      
      
      

The notes on pages 87 to 108 form part of this statement      
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Notes to the financial statements 
   
 
   

1. Accounting Policies 

   

 

NHS England has directed that the financial statements of Clinical Commissioning Groups 
(CCGs) shall meet the accounting requirements of the Group Accounting Manual issued by the 
Department of Health and Social Care.  Consequently, the following financial statements have 
been prepared in accordance with the Group Accounting Manual 2019-20 issued by the 
Department of Health and Social Care.  The accounting policies contained in the Group 
Accounting Manual follow International Financial Reporting Standards to the extent that they are 
meaningful and appropriate to CCGs, as determined by HM Treasury, which is advised by the 
Financial Reporting Advisory Board.  Where the Group Accounting Manual permits a choice of 
accounting policy, the accounting policy which is judged to be most appropriate to the particular 
circumstances of the CCG for the purpose of giving a true and fair view has been selected.  The 
particular policies adopted by the CCG are described below.  They have been applied 
consistently in dealing with items considered material in relation to the accounts. 

   

1.1 Going Concern 

   

 These accounts have been prepared on a going concern basis. 

   

 

Public sector bodies are assumed to be going concerns where the continuation of the provision 
of a service in the future is anticipated, as evidenced by inclusion of financial provision for that 
service in published documents. 

   

 

Where a CCG ceases to exist, it considers whether or not its services will continue to be 
provided (using the same assets, by another public sector entity) in determining whether to use 
the concept of going concern for the final set of financial statements.  If services will continue to 
be provided the financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis. 

   

 

The CCG merged with four others on 1st April 2020 to form NHS Norfolk & Waveney CCG. The 
new CCG is planning to make a surplus in 2020/21 and the draft annual plan does not indicate 
any issues regarding cash for the foreseeable future. 

   

1.2 Accounting Convention 

   

 

These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention. 

   

1.3 Joint arrangements  

   

 

Arrangements over which the CCG has joint control with one or more other entities are classified 
as joint arrangements. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an 
arrangement. A joint arrangement is either a joint operation or a joint venture.  

   

 

A joint operation exists where the parties that have joint control have rights to the assets and 
obligations for the liabilities relating to the arrangement. Where the CCG is a joint operator it 
recognises its share of, assets, liabilities, income and expenses in its own accounts. 
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1.4 Pooled Budgets 

   

 

The CCG has entered into a pooled budget arrangement with Norfolk County Council in 
accordance with section 75 of the NHS Act 2006.  Under the arrangement, funds are pooled to 
jointly commission or deliver health and social care.  Note 12 to the accounts provides details of 
the income and expenditure. 

   

 

The pool is hosted by Norfolk County Council.  The CCG accounts for its share of the assets, 
liabilities, income and expenditure arising from the activities of the pooled budget, identified in 
accordance with the pooled budget agreement. 

   

 

The CCG has exercised judgement on the accounting for pooled budgets and further detail is in 
the critical judgements note 1.11.1. 

   

1.5 Revenue 

   

 

The main source of funding for the CCG is from NHS England.  This is drawn down and credited 
to the general fund. Funding is recognised in the period in which it is received. 

 

 

 

Revenue in respect of services provided is recognised when (or as) performance obligations are 
satisfied by transferring promised services to the customer, and is measured at the amount of 
the transaction price allocated to that performance obligation. 

 Payment terms are standard reflecting cross government principles. 

   

1.6 Employee Benefits 

   

1.6.1 Short-term Employee Benefits 

   

 

Salaries, wages and employment-related payments, including payments arising from the 
apprenticeship levy, are recognised in the period in which the service is received from 
employees, including bonuses earned but not yet taken. 

   

 

The cost of leave earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period is recognised in 
the financial statements to the extent that employees are permitted to carry forward leave into 
the following period. 
 

   

1.6.2 Retirement Benefit Costs 

   

 

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Schemes.  
These schemes are unfunded, defined benefit schemes that cover NHS employers, General 
Practices and other bodies allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State in England and 
Wales.  The schemes are not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to 
identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities.  Therefore, the schemes are 
accounted for as though they were defined contribution schemes: the cost to the CCG of 
participating in a scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for the 
accounting period. 
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For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not 
funded by the scheme.  The full amount of the liability for the additional costs is charged to 
expenditure at the time the CCG commits itself to the retirement, regardless of the method of 
payment. 

   

 

The schemes are subject to a full actuarial valuation every four years and an accounting 
valuation every year. 

   

1.7 Other Expenses 

   

 

Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that, the goods or services 
have been received.  They are measured at the fair value of the consideration payable. 

   

1.8 Cash & Cash Equivalents 

   

 

Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on 
notice of not more than 24 hours.  Cash equivalents are investments that mature in 3 months or 
less from the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with 
insignificant risk of change in value. 

   

 

In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts 
that are repayable on demand and that form an integral part of the CCG's cash management. 

   

1.9 Financial Assets 

   

 

Financial assets are recognised when the CCG becomes party to the financial instrument 
contract or, in the case of trade receivables, when the goods or services have been delivered.  
Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights have expired or the asset has 
been transferred. 

   

 

All financial assets are recorded at amortised cost. 
 

   

1.9.1 Financial Assets at Amortised cost 

   

 

Financial assets measured at amortised cost are those held within a business model whose 
objective is achieved by collecting contractual cash flows and where the cash flows are solely 
payments of principal and interest.  This includes most trade receivables and other simple debt 
instruments.  After initial recognition these financial assets are measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method less any impairment. 

   

1.10 Financial Liabilities 

   

 

Financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position when the CCG becomes 
party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument or, in the case of trade payables, 
when the goods or services have been received.  Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the 
liability has been discharged, that is, the liability has been paid or has expired. 

   

 Financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value. 
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After initial recognition, all other financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method.  The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 
future cash payments through the life of the asset, to the net carrying amount of the financial 
liability. Interest is recognised using the effective interest method. 

   

1.11 Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty 

 

 

 

In the application of the CCGôs accounting policies, management is required to make 
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that 
are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are 
based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual 
results may differ from those estimates and the estimates and underlying assumptions are 
continually reviewed. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the 
estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and 
future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. 

 

 

1.11.1 Critical accounting judgements in applying accounting policies 

 

 

 

The following are the judgements, apart from those involving estimations, that management has 
made in the process of applying the CCG's accounting policies and that have the most significant 
effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.  

 

 

 Better Care Fund 

 

The CCG has entered into a partnership agreement and a pooled budget with Norfolk County 
Council in respect of the Better Care Fund. This is a national policy initiative and the funds 
involved are material in the CCG accounts. Having reviewed the terms of the partnership 
agreement, the Department of Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual (DHSC GAM) 
and the appropriate financial reporting standards, the CCG has determined that there are three 
elements to the Better Care Fund and they are accounted for as follows:  

 

(1) the major part is controlled by Norfolk County Council which commissions services from 
various non-NHS providers. Whilst the services are determined in partnership, the risks and 
rewards of the contracts remain wholly with the council. The CCG accounts for this on a lead 
commissioner basis as healthcare expenditure with the local authority. 

  

 

(2) The second part is controlled by the CCG which commissions various services from NHS and 
non-NHS providers. The risks and rewards of these contracts are the responsibility of the CCG, 
which considers itself to be acting as a lead commissioner for those services on behalf of the 
partnership. The CCG accounts for these costs as healthcare purchased from NHS and non-
NHS providers. 

  

 

(3) The final part of the BCF is an integrated community equipment store. Norfolk County Council 
acts as the host body for this service which is provided by a third party. Each partner is however 
wholly responsible for their own share of the expenditure and this is accounted for as a joint 
operation. 

  

 

Otherwise there were no critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (see below) 
that management has made in the process of applying the CCGôs accounting policies that have 
the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements. 

 

 

  



Page 92 of 109 

 

1.11.2 Sources of estimation uncertainty 

 

 

 

The following are assumptions about the future and other major sources of estimation 
uncertainty that have a significant risk of resulting in a material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year. 

   

 Prescribing Liability 

 

NHS England actions monthly cash charges to the CCG for prescribing contracts. These are 
issued approximately 6 weeks in arrears. The CCG uses information provided by the NHS 
Business Authority as part of the estimate for full year expenditure. For 2019-20 an accrual of 
£5,408,793 (2018-19: £4,689,825) was included for February and March anticipated expenditure, 
this figure is not believed to represent a significant level of uncertainty. 

   

 Partially completed spells (PCS): 

 

Expenditure relating to patient care spells that are part-completed at the year-end are 
apportioned across the financial years on the basis of length of stay at the end of the reporting 
period compared to expected total length of stay. Due to the COVID19 pandemic the normal 
PCS exercise has not been possible, so the value included for 2019-20 has remained consistent 
with 2018-19 (£695,461).  

   

1.12 Accounting Standards That Have Been Issued But Have Not Yet Been Adopted 

   

 

The Department of Health and Social Care GAM does not require the following IFRS Standards 
and Interpretations to be applied in 2019-20.  These Standards are still subject to HM Treasury 
FReM adoption, with IFRS 16 being for implementation in 2021-22, and the government 
implementation date for IFRS 17 still subject to HM Treasury consideration. 

 

¶ IFRS 16 Leases ï The Standard is effective 1 April 2021 as adapted and interpreted by 
the FReM. 

 

¶ IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts ï Application required for accounting periods beginning on 
or after 1 January 2023, but not yet adopted by the FReM: early adoption is not therefore 
permitted. 

 

¶ IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments ï Application required for accounting 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. 

  

 

We do not yet know how IFRS 16 will impact on the CCG once it is applied, as this is yet to be 
assessed.  The application of IFRS 17 and IFRIC 23 as revised would not have a material impact 
on the accounts for 2019-20, were they applied in that year. 
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2. Other operating revenue           

      2019-20   2018-19   

      Total   Total   

    Notes £'000   £'000   

              

  Income from sale of goods and services (contracts)           

  Non-patient care services to other bodies   345   509   

  Other contract income i 902   2,786   

  Total income from sale of goods and services   1,247   3,295   

              

  Total operating income   1,247   3,295   

              

              

  

Other operating revenue does not include revenue received from NHS England in respect of 
CCG allocations, which is drawn down directly into the bank account of the CCG and 
credited to the general fund. 
   

              

              

  

i. 2018-19 included the ambulance risk share and the winter pressures funding (North 
Norfolk CCG received this funding as co-ordinator for the Central Norfolk system), 
neither of which were required in 2019-20. 

              

              
 

  



Page 94 of 109 

 

3. Employee benefits and staff numbers     

     

3.1.1 Employee benefits 
2019-

20  

2018-
19  

 Total  Total  

 £'000  £'000  
Employee benefits     

Salaries and wages 2,131  2,048  
Social security costs 213  206  
Employer contributions to NHS Pension 
scheme 429  259  
Apprenticeship levy 4  3  
Termination benefits 166  30  
Gross employee benefits expenditure 2,943  2,546  

     

     

     
Further analysis of employee benefits is shown in the remuneration and staff report on 
pages 69 to 81.  

     
        

     
        

 

3.2 Average number of people employed 

 

      

  

  

2019-20   2018-19 

    

  

Total   Total 

    

  

Number   Number 

    

  

      

    
Total 

 

55   54 

    

  

      

    

  

      

    
In 2019-20 the average number of people above includes 25.68 wte being a share of 

the staff employed in the Norfolk Continuing Care Partnership. 

  

   

  

              

Further information in respect of staff numbers is included from page 77 of the annual report. 
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3.3 Exit packages agreed in the 
financial year                       

            
 

 2019-20  2019-20  2019-20  

 Compulsory redundancies  Other agreed departures  Total  

 Number  £  Number  £  Number  £  

£10,001 to £25,000 1  18,149  0  0  1  18,149  

£150,001 to 
£200,000 1  153,333  0  0  1  153,333 

 

Total 2  171,483  0  0  2  171,483  

            
 

 2018-19  2018-19  2018-19  

 Compulsory redundancies  Other agreed departures  Total  

 Number  £  Number  £  Number  £  

£10,001 to £25,000 0  0  1  10,447  1  10,447  

£25,001 to £50,000 0  0  1  30,000  1  30,000  

Total 0  0  2  40,447  2  40,447  

            
 

                        

                        

                        

                        

                        

 

The previously separate five Norfolk and Waveney CCGs merged on 1st April 2020 becoming NHS 

Norfolk and Waveney CCG.  This included Great Yarmouth and Waveney CCG, North Norfolk CCG, 

Norwich CCG, South Norfolk CCG and West Norfolk CCG.  As part of that merger exercise the 

organisation undertook a staff restructure programme which resulted in a small number of compulsory 

redundancies across all CCGs.  The costs for staff leaving the organisation have been shared equally 

across all five CCGs although a few changes were not concluded for 31st March, as such costs for those 

roles were included in the employing CCG only.       
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3.4 Pension costs 

  
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the two NHS Pension Schemes.  Details of 
the benefits payable and rules of the Schemes can be found on the NHS Pensions website at 
www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions. 

  
These schemes are unfunded, defined benefit schemes that cover NHS employers, General Practices 
and other bodies allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State in England and Wales.  The 
schemes are not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the 
underlying scheme assets and liabilities. 

  
Therefore, the schemes are accounted for as though they were defined contribution schemes: the cost to 
the clinical commissioning group of participating in a scheme is taken as equal to the contributions 
payable to the scheme for the accounting period. 

  
The schemes are subject to a full actuarial valuation every four years and an accounting valuation every 
year. 

  
The employer contribution rate for NHS Pensions increased from 14.3% to 20.6% from 1st April 2019.  
For 2019-20, NHS CCGs continued to pay over contributions at the former rate with the additional 
amount being paid by NHS England on CCGs behalf. The full cost and related funding has been 
recognised in these accounts. 

  

3.4.1 Accounting valuation 

  
A valuation of scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary (currently the Government 
Actuaryôs Department) as at the end of the reporting period. This utilises an actuarial assessment for the 
previous accounting period in conjunction with updated membership and financial data for the current 
reporting period, and is accepted as providing suitably robust figures for financial reporting purposes. The 
valuation of the scheme liability as at 31 March 2020, is based on valuation data as 31 March 2019 
updated to 31 March 2020 with summary global member and accounting data. In undertaking this 
actuarial assessment, the methodology prescribed in IAS 19, relevant FReM interpretations, and the 
discount rate prescribed by HM Treasury have also been used. 

  
The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the report of the scheme actuary, 
which forms part of the annual NHS Pension Scheme Accounts. These accounts can be viewed on the 
NHS Pensions website and are published annually. Copies can also be obtained from The Stationery 
Office. 
 

  

3.4.2 Full actuarial (funding) valuation 

  
The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the 
schemes (taking into account recent demographic experience), and to recommend contribution rates 
payable by employees and employers.  

  
The last published actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was completed for the 
year ending 31 March 2016. The results of this valuation set the employer contribution rate payable from 
April 2019. The Department of Health and Social Care have recently laid Scheme Regulations confirming 
that the employer contribution rate will increase to 20.6% of pensionable pay from this date.   
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The 2016 funding valuation was also expected to test the cost of the Scheme relative to the employer 
cost cap set following the 2012 valuation. Following a judgment from the Court of Appeal in December 
2018 Government announced a pause to that part of the valuation process pending conclusion of the 
continuing legal process.  

  
For 2019-20, employer's contributions of £429,000 were payable to the NHS Pensions Scheme (2018-
19: £259,000) at the rate of 20.6% (2018-19: 14.38%) of pensionable pay. 
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4. Operating expenses               

    2019-20   2018-19       

    Total   Total       

  Note £'000   £'000       

                

Purchase of goods and services               

Services from other CCGs and NHS England   2,482   3,084       

Services from foundation trusts i 146,530   135,877       

Services from other NHS trusts ii 32,337   28,168       

Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies iii 40,099   37,988       

Purchase of social care   1,010   854       

Prescribing costs iv 32,062   29,809       

GPMS/APMS and PCTMS v 30,351   29,224       

Supplies and services ï clinical   82   0       

Supplies and services ï general   1,360   1,388       

Establishment   436   355       

Premises   491   388       

Audit fees vi 52   42       

Other professional fees   156   382       

Legal fees   37   28       

Education, training and conferences   2   2       

 Total Purchase of goods and services   287,487   267,589       

                

Depreciation and impairment charges               

Depreciation   21   20       

Total Depreciation and impairment charges   21   20       

                

Provision expense               

Provisions   0   89       

Total Provision expense   0   89       

                

Other Operating Expenditure               

Chair and Non-Executive Members   377   418       

Clinical negligence   1   1       

Research and development (excluding staff costs)   152   171       

Total Other Operating Expenditure   530   590       

                

Total operating expenditure   288,038   268,288       

  
               
Fees payable to the external auditor, inclusive of VAT, are statutory audit services (net value £35k) 
and non-audit fees relating to the Mental Health Investment Standard (net value £8.5k). The external 
auditor's liability for statutory audit services is limited to £1,000,000. 

               
i. The cost of Services from foundation trusts has increased in 2019-20 due to an increase in 

expenditure with North Norfolk CCG's main Acute (£8.3m) and Mental Health (£1.6m) 
providers.  In addition, there was £1.2m of STP system support to the Queen Elizabeth 
Hospital. 

 i.      
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ii. Services from other NHS trusts has increased in 2019-20 primarily due to growth and 
investment of £1.6m with North Norfolk CCG's main community provider. In addition, there was 
an increase in the Ambulance contract of £1.4m.  
 

iii. Movement is primarily due to £1.4m of additional costs across continuing healthcare for adults 
and children due to increase in numbers and the value of packages of care. Further 
movements include £0.7m of investment with GP provider organisations in the Enhanced Care 
Home project and £0.5m of GP improved access.  
 

iv. Increased prescribing costs, price inflation and No Cheaper Stock Obtainable (NCSO) national 
pressures in 2019-20.  
 

v. Includes expenditure relating to new Primary Care Network (PCN) funding and patient list size 
increases. 
 

vi. Auditor fees payable to the external auditor, inclusive of VAT: 
         * Statutory audit services: net value £35,000 

   * Non-audit fees relating to Mental Health Investment Standard: net value £8,500 
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5. Better Payment Practice Code        

        
Measure of compliance 2019-20  2019-20  2018-19  2018-19 

 Number  £'000  Number  £'000 

Non-NHS payables               

Total Non-NHS trade invoices paid in the year 7,483  81,544            7,132      45,400  

Total Non-NHS trade Invoices paid within target 7,313  76,858            6,753      40,210  
Percentage of Non-NHS trade invoices paid within 
target 97.73%  94.25%   94.69%    88.57% 

             

NHS payables            

Total NHS trade invoices paid in the year 2,728  187,373            2,389      167,943  

Total NHS trade invoices paid within target 2,645  187,136            2,303      166,588  

Percentage of NHS trade invoices paid within target 96.96%   99.87%   96.40%   99.19% 

                

Total            

Total trade invoices paid in the year 10,211  268,916  9,521  213,343 

Total trade invoices paid within target 9,958  263,994  9,056  206,798 

Percentage of total invoices paid within target 97.52%   98.17%   95.12%   96.93% 

        
The Better Payment Practice Code requires the CCG to aim to pay all valid invoices by the due 
date or within 30 days of receipt of a valid invoice, whichever is the later. 
 
The Better Payment Practice Code performance increased in 2019-20 due to an improvement in 
processing and also the inclusion of Delegated Primary Care invoices in the indicators for the first 
time. 
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6.  Trade and other receivables   Current   Current     

    2019-20   2018-19     

  Note £'000   £'000     

              

NHS receivables: revenue i 164   3,721     

NHS prepayments   558   569     

NHS accrued income   324   69     

Non-NHS and other WGA receivables: revenue ii 751   5,404     

Non-NHS and other WGA prepayments   0   23     

Non-NHS and other WGA accrued income   338   165     

VAT   31   0     

Total trade & other receivables   2,166   9,951     

              

             
i. In 2018-19 North Norfolk CCG was the Central Norfolk co-ordinator for the 

Ambulance risks share and winter pressures, these were not required in 2019-
20. 2018-19 also included higher income receivable from NHS England 
Improvement for GP digitalisation and prescribing recharges. 

 
ii. The receivable of £4.5m in 2018-19 relating to contractual levers was settled in 

2019-20 upon the final resolution of the carried forward contractual sanctions. 
 
 
     

7. Cash and cash equivalents             

              

    2019-20   2018-19     

    £'000   £'000     

Balance at 01 April 2019   122   56     

Net change in year   (20)   66     

Balance at 31 March 2020   102   122     

              

Made up of:             

Cash with the Government Banking Service   101   121     

Cash in hand   1   1     

Cash and cash equivalents as in statement of financial position   102   122     

              

Balance at 31 March 2020   102   122     
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8. Trade and other payables 

  Current   Current         

  2019-20   2018-19         

    £'000   £'000         

                  

NHS payables: revenue   1,704   2,694         

NHS accruals   3,370   5,066         

Non-NHS and other WGA payables: revenue   3,913   2,992         

Non-NHS and other WGA accruals   13,690   10,908         

Social security costs   34   36         

VAT   -   8         

Tax   32   39         

Other payables and accruals   271   519         

Total trade & other payables   23,014   22,262         

                  

                  

                  
Other payables include £180,000 outstanding pension contributions at 31 March 2020 
(31 March 2019: £192,000).       
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9.  Provisions           

 Current   Current     

 2019-20   2018-19     

 £'000   £'000     
Redundancy 0   89     
Other 0   2,020     

           

Total current and non-current 0   2,109     

           

 Redundancy   Other   Total 

 £'000   £'000   £'000 

           

Balance at 01 April 2019 89   2,020   2,109 

           

Utilised during the year (89)   (2,020)   (2,109) 

Balance at 31 March 2020 0   0   0 

           

           

Redundancy      

      
The process to establish a single team across all 5 CCGs was completed in 2019-20. The 
2018-19 provision for £89,000 was released in 2019-20 as the estimated carried forward 
liabilities from 2018-19 crystallised in the accounts. 

      

Contractual levers      

      
The provision of £2,020,000 for contractual levers was released in 2019-20 upon the final 
settlement of the carried forward issue.  

Contingent Liabilities           

           

There are no contingent liabilities in 2019-20.           
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10. Financial instruments     

      

10.1 Financial risk management     

      
Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had during 
the period in creating or changing the risks a body faces in undertaking its activities. 

      
Because the CCG is financed through parliamentary funding, it is not exposed to the degree of financial risk 
faced by business entities. Also, financial instruments play a much more limited role in creating or changing 
risk than would be typical of listed companies, to which the financial reporting standards mainly apply. The 
CCG has limited powers to borrow or invest surplus funds and financial assets and liabilities are generated 
by day-to-day operational activities rather than being held to change the risks facing the clinical 
commissioning group in undertaking its activities. 

      

Sir Simon Stevensô letter to the NHS dated 17 March 2020 (ñImportant and Urgent ï Next Steps on NHS 
Response to COVID-19ò) included the following wording in respect of additional funding to support the 
coronavirus emergency response: ñThe Chancellor of the Exchequer committed in Parliament last week that 
ñWhatever extra resources our NHS needs to cope with coronavirus ï it will get.ò So financial constraints 
must not and will not stand in the way of taking immediate and necessary action - whether in terms of 
staffing, facilities adaptation, equipment, patient discharge packages, staff training, elective care, or any 
other relevant category.ò In order to ensure the CCG's providers have the necessary resources, NHS 
England implemented a cost capture and reimbursement process to ensure the impact has a nil net effect 
on CCGs financial performance. Therefore, the risk associated with COVID19 on the CCG's 2019-20 
financial performance is considered low. 

      
Treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within parameters defined 
formally within the NHS clinical commissioning group standing financial instructions and policies agreed by 
the Governing Body. Treasury activity is subject to review by the CCG and internal auditors. 

      

10.1.1 Credit risk     

      
Because the majority of the CCG's revenue comes from parliamentary funding, the CCG has low exposure 
to credit risk. The maximum exposures as at the end of the financial year are in receivables from customers, 
as disclosed in the trade and other receivables note. 

      

10.1.2 Liquidity risk     

      
The CCG is required to operate within revenue and capital resource limits, which are financed from 
resources voted annually by Parliament. The NHS clinical commissioning group draws down cash to cover 
expenditure, as the need arises. The NHS clinical commissioning group is not, therefore, exposed to 
significant liquidity risks. 

      

10.1.3 Financial Instruments     

      
As the cash requirements of NHS England are met through the estimate process, financial instruments play 
a more limited role in creating and managing risk than would apply to a non-public sector body.  The 
majority of financial instruments relate to contracts to buy non-financial items in line with NHS England's 
expected purchase and usage requirements and NHS England is therefore exposed to little credit, liquidity 
or market risk. 
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10. Financial instruments cont'd    

    

10.2 Financial assets    

  

Financial Assets 
measured at 

amortised cost 
    

Financial Assets 
measured at 

amortised cost 

  2019-20     2018-19 

  £'000     £'000 

          

Trade and other receivables with NHSE bodies  276     3,663 

Trade and other receivables with other DHSC group 
bodies  

641     5,003 

Trade and other receivables with external bodies  658     693 

Cash and cash equivalents  102     122 

Total at 31 March 2020  1,677     9,481 
 

  

   

    

    

10.3 Financial liabilities    

  

Financial 
Liabilities 

measured at 
amortised cost 

    

Financial 
Liabilities 

measured at 
amortised cost 

  2019-20     2018-19 

  £'000     £'000 

          

Trade and other payables with NHSE bodies  465     1,198 

Trade and other payables with other DHSC group bodies  10,158     11,683 

Trade and other payables with external bodies  12,325     8,780 

Other financial liabilities  -     517 

Total at 31 March 2020  22,948     22,178 
    

    
 

11. Operating segments   

    

The CCG considers that it has only one operating segment: commissioning of healthcare services.   
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12. Joint arrangements - interests in joint operations                     

                            
Arrangements over which the CCG has joint control with one or more other entities are classified as joint arrangements.  Joint control is the contractually 
agreed sharing of control of an arrangement. 
A joint arrangement is either a joint operation or a joint venture. 

                            
A joint operation exists where the parties that have joint control have rights to the assets and obligations for the liabilities relating to the arrangement.  
Where the clinical commissioning group is a joint operator it recognises its share of, assets, liabilities, income and expenses in its own accounts. 

                           
12.1 Interests in joint operations                         

              

Amounts recognised in 
entity's books ONLY   

Amounts recognised in 
entity's books ONLY 

              2019-20   2018-19 

  

Name of arrangement  Parties to the arrangement   
Description of 

principal activities 
  Income    Expenditure   Income    Expenditure 

              £'000   £'000   £'000   £'000 

  

Norfolk Continuing Care 
Partnership 

  
Norwich CCG, North Norfolk 
CCG, South Norfolk CCG, 
West Norfolk CCG 

  

All continuing care 
services for our 
Norfolk CCGs, 
hosted by Norwich 
CCG, net accounting 
adopted 
 

  0   1,233   0   1,338 

  

Better Care Fund   

Great Yarmouth & Waveney 
CCG, North Norfolk CCG, 
Norwich CCG, South Norfolk 
CCG, West Norfolk CCG and 
Norfolk County Council 

  

Joint Commissioning 
of Care services, 
hosted by Norfolk 
County Council, net 
accounting adopted 

  0   13,523   0   12,821 
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13. Related party transactions     

     
Details of related party transactions with individuals are as follows: 
 

 

2019-20 2019-20 2019-20 2019-20 2018-19 2018-19 2018-19 2018-19

Payments

 to

 Related

 Party

Receipts

 from 

Related 

Party

Amounts 

owed to 

Related 

Party

Amounts

 due from

 Related

 Party

Payments

 to

 Related

 Party

Receipts

 from 

Related 

Party

Amounts 

owed to 

Related 

Party

Amounts

 due from

 Related

 Party

GP Practices Relationship to CCG £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Acle Medical Practice GP Practice Member of CCG; Teresa 

Randall is an employee of Acle 

Medical Partnership and was on the 

Governing Body during 2018-19

4,013 (1,299) 118 - 3,811 (1,204) 127 -

Aldborough Surgery GP Practice Member of CCG 1,340 (412) 53 - 1,339 (442) 55 -

Birchwood Medical Practice GP Practice Member of CCG, Dr 

James Gair is a GP Partner and is on 

the Governing Body. Anthony Belham 

is the Practice Manager and is on the 

Governing Body

2,829 (669) 122 - 2,738 (541) 153 -

Blofield Surgery GP Practice Member of CCG 3,067 (957) 120 - 2,999 (1,019) 113 -

Coltishall Surgery GP Practice Member of CCG 2,313 (615) 92 - 2,321 (583) 96 -

Cromer Group Practice GP Practice Member of CCG 3,135 (599) 134 - 3,313 (611) 127 -

Drayton Surgery GP Practice Member of CCG 3,881 (842) 156 - 3,917 (983) 164 -

Holt Medical Practice GP Practice Member of CCG 5,666 (1,759) 211 - 5,566 (1,728) 206 -

Hoveton & Wroxham Medical 

Practice

GP Practice Member of CCG 3,069 (790) 249 - 2,901 (801) 186 -

Ludham Surgery GP Practice Member of CCG 2,865 (928) 116 - 2,574 (669) 99 -

Mundesley Medical Centre GP Practice Member of CCG 2,321 (665) 135 - 2,191 (669) 106 -

Paston Surgery GP Practice Member of CCG 1,895 (481) 89 - 1,758 (505) 144 -

Reepham & Aylsham Surgery GP Practice Member of CCG,  Dr 

Penelope Ayling is a GP Partner and 

is on the Governing Body

2,525 (587) 102 - 2,373 (597) 119 -

Sheringham Medical Practice GP Practice Member of CCG 2,409 (396) 106 - 2,490 (499) 54 -

The Fakenham Medical Practice GP Practice Member of CCG 4,346 (1,095) 176 - 4,530 (1,072) 265 -

The Market Surgery (Aylsham) GP Practice Member of CCG 2,918 (748) 185 - 2,900 (770) 126 -

The Medical Centre Brundall GP Practice Member of CCG 2,643 (783) 114 - 2,568 (779) 96 -

The Staithe Surgery GP Practice Member of CCG, Dr 

Anoop Dhesi is a GP Partner and is 

Chair of the Governing Body

3,071 (911) 165 - 2,980 (865) 103 -

Wells Health Centre GP Practice Member of CCG 959 (214) 36 - 978 (225) 35 -

Other Relationship to CCG £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Voluntary Norfolk John Archibald was a Lay Member of 

the CCG's Governing Body and Chair 

of Voluntary Norfolk

93 - - - 58 - - -

North Norfolk Primary Care LTD GP alliance consisting of 

membership of all 19 North Norfolk 

GP Practices

2,244 - 263 - 989 (25) - -

LMC Norfolk & Waveney Dr Anoop Dhesi is Chair of the 

Governing Body and a member of 

LMC Norfolk & Waveney.

61 - - - 77 - - -

NHS Confederation Dr Anoop Dhesi is Chair of the 

Governing Body and an elected 

member of the board of NHS Clinical 

Commissioners

7 - - - 9 - - -
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Payments made are predominately for medical services received, practice engagement, and cash 
advances to dispensing practices. Receipts from related parties are the repayment of cash advances 
from dispensing practices. 

          
The Department of Health and Social Care is regarded as a related party. During the year the CCG 
has had a significant number of material transactions with entities for which the Department is 
regarded as the parent Department. 

          
These entities are:          
Norfolk and Norwich University Hospitals Foundation Trust         
Norfolk and Suffolk NHS Foundation Trust         
Queen Elizabeth Hospital King's Lynn NHS Foundation Trust         
James Paget University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust         
NHS Arden & GEM Commissioning Support Unit         
Norfolk Community Health and Care NHS Trust         
East of England Ambulance NHS Trust         
Ipswich Hospital NHS Trust          

          
In addition, the CCG has had a number of material transactions with other government departments 
and other central and local government bodies. Most of these transactions have been with Norfolk 
County Council in respect of joint enterprises. 
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14. Events after the end of the reporting 
period                     

 
    

With effect from 1 April 2020, Great Yarmouth & Waveney CCG, North Norfolk CCG, Norwich CCG, South Norfolk CCG, and West Norfolk CCG merged to 
form a new organisation, NHS Norfolk and Waveney CCG.  All of the assets and liabilities of North Norfolk CCG transferred to NHS Norfolk & Waveney 
CCG. 
 

Due to the national response to Covid-19 the CCG has in line with NHS England guidance moved its payment methodology for NHS healthcare providers 
from an activity based payment arrangement to a block arrangement on national determined values.  Furthermore 2020/21 funding (allocations) have only 
been awarded for the four months to July 2020 whilst we await the national financial impact of the pandemic and updated guidance.  As such the CCG is 
unable to confirm its control total nor forecast full year costs until it receives notification of full year funding and direction on future payment 
methodologies.  The financial approach for the early months is to deliver a break-even position with NHS England funding any shortfalls in delivery.   
There are no other events between the end of the reporting period and 23rd May 2020 which will have a material effect on the financial statements of the 
CCG. 
 

15. Financial performance targets                     

                     
The CCG has a number of financial duties under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended). 
 

The CCG performance against those duties was as follows:   

                     

 2019-20   2019-20   Duty    2018-19   2018-19  Duty  

 Maximum  

Performanc
e  achieved?  Maximum  

Performanc
e  achieved? 

 £'000   £'000       £'000   £'000    

Expenditure not to exceed income 291,796  290,981  Yes   270,918   270,834  Yes 
Revenue resource use does not exceed the 
amount specified in Directions 

290,549 
 

289,734 
 Yes   267,623   267,539  Yes 

Revenue administration resource use does 
not exceed the amount specified in 
Directions 

3,876 

 

3,667 

 Yes   3,794   3,749  Yes 

                     
Note: For the purposes of Section 223H (1), expenditure is defined as the aggregate of gross expenditure on revenue and capital in the financial year, and 
income is defined as the aggregate of the notified maximum revenue resource, notified capital resource and all other amounts accounted as received in 
the financial year (whether under provisions of the Act or from other sources, and included here on a gross basis). 
 

During 2019-20 the Norfolk and Waveney CCGs identified that whilst a balanced position was forecast collectively, individual CCGs were expected to incur 
variances from plan. In order to report a balanced positon at a CCG level, an allocation transfer exercise was conducted.  Prior to completion of the 
transfer, authorisation was obtained from NHS England and each CCG Governing Body. 
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